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NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K includes “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the federal securities
laws, which statements are subject to substantial risks and uncertainties and are based on estimates and assumptions. All
statements, other than statements of historical facts included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including statements
concerning our plans, objectives, goals, strategies, future events, future revenues or performance, financing needs, plans or
intentions relating to product candidates and markets and business trends and other information referred to under the sections
titled “Business,” “Risk Factors,” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” are forward-looking statements. In some cases, you can identify forward looking statements by terms such as
“may,” “might,” “will,” “objective,” “intend,” “should,” “could,” “can,” “would,” “expect,” “believe,”, “design,” “estimate,” “predict,”
“potential,” “plan” or the negative of these terms and similar expressions intended to identify forward-looking statements.
Forward-looking statements are not historical facts and reflect our current views with respect to future events. Given the
significant uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements.

There are a number of risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from
the forward-looking statements expressed or implied in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Such risks, uncertainties and other
factors include, among others, the risks, uncertainties and factors set forth in “Risk Factors,” and the following risks,
uncertainties and factors:

e the ability of our clinical trials to demonstrate safety and efficacy of our product candidates and other positive
results;

e the timing and focus of our ongoing and future preclinical studies and clinical trials and the reporting of data from
those studies and trials;

e our plans relating to commercializing our product candidates, if approved, including the geographic areas of focus
and sales strategy;

e the size of the market opportunity for our product candidates, including our estimates of the number of patients
who suffer from the diseases we are targeting;

e our expectations regarding the approval and use of our product candidates as first, second or subsequent lines of
therapy or in combination with other drugs;

e the success of competing therapies that are or may become available;

e our estimates of the number of patients that we will enroll in our clinical trials;

e the beneficial characteristics, safety, efficacy and therapeutic effects of our product candidates;

e the timing or likelihood of regulatory filings and approvals, including our expectation to seek an accelerated
approval pathway and special designations, such as orphan drug designation, for our product candidates for
various diseases;

e our ability to obtain and maintain regulatory approval of our product candidates;

e our plans relating to the further development of our product candidates, including additional indications we may
pursue;

e existing regulations and regulatory developments in the United States, Europe and other jurisdictions;
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e our plans and ability to obtain or protect intellectual property rights, including extensions of existing patent terms
where available;

e our continued reliance on third parties to conduct additional clinical trials of our product candidates and for the
manufacture of our product candidates for preclinical studies and clinical trials;

e our plans regarding, and our ability to obtain, and negotiate favorable terms of, any collaboration, licensing or
other arrangements that may be necessary or desirable to develop, manufacture or commercialize our product
candidates;

e our plans to develop our product candidates in combination with other therapies;

e the need to hire additional personnel and our ability to attract and retain such personnel;

e our estimates regarding expenses, future revenue, capital requirements and needs for additional financing;
e our financial performance;

e the period over which we estimate our existing cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to fund our future
operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements; and

e our expectations regarding the period during which we will qualify as an emerging growth company under the
JOBS Act.

There may be other factors that may cause our actual results to differ materially from the forward-looking statements,
including factors disclosed in “Risk Factors” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations.” You should evaluate all forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K in the context of
these risks and uncertainties.

We caution you that the risks, uncertainties and other factors referred to above may not contain all of the risks,
uncertainties and other factors that are important to you. In addition, we cannot assure you that we will realize the results,
benefits or developments that we expect or anticipate or, even if substantially realized, that they will result in the
consequences or affect us or our business in the way expected. All forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K apply only as of the date made and are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements included in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements to
reflect subsequent events or circumstances.
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PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS.
Company Overview

We are a late-stage precision oncology company developing therapies that target oncogenic drivers to genetically
select patients we believe will most likely benefit. This approach includes using a tumor-agnostic strategy to select patients
based on their tumors’ underlying genetics rather than histology. We have in-licensed product candidates, each with a
differentiated profile relative to available therapies, and we intend to continue strengthening our pipeline through focused
business development and internal research efforts.

Our lead product candidate, milademetan (also known as RAIN-32) is an oral, small molecule inhibitor of the p53-
mouse double minute 2 (p53-MDM2) complex that reactivates p53. We in-licensed milademetan from Daiichi Sankyo
Company, Limited (Daiichi Sankyo) in September 2020 based on the results of a Phase 1 clinical trial, which demonstrated
meaningful antitumor activity in an MDM2-amplified subtype of liposarcoma (LPS) and other solid tumors. Data from de-
differentiated liposarcoma (DDLPS) patients in the Phase 1 clinical trial of milademetan demonstrated median progression-
free survival (mPFS) of approximately seven to eight months. Importantly, this result was accomplished with a rationally
designed dosing schedule designed to mitigate safety concerns and widen the therapeutic window of MDM2 inhibition
unlocking the potential for milademetan in a broad range of MDM2-dependent cancers. Based on these data, we commenced
a pivotal Phase 3 trial in LPS (MANTRA) in July 2021. We expect to report topline data from our MANTRA trial in the second
quarter of 2023. We also commenced a Phase 2 tumor-agnostic basket trial in certain solid tumors (MANTRA-2) in
November 2021. We anticipate commencing a Phase 1/2 basket trial to evaluate the safety, tolerability and efficacy of
milademetan in combination with atezolizumab in patients with loss of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 2A (CDKN2A) and
wildtype p53 advanced solid tumors (MANTRA-4) in mid-2023.

Our Strategy

Our vision is to be a leading precision oncology company that develops and commercializes small molecule
therapeutics through leveraging both an acquisition-based business model and internal research efforts. Our strategy to
achieve this vision is as follows:

e Rapidly advance our lead product candidate, milademetan, through clinical development toward approval in LPS
and subsequently expand across a multitude of MDM2-dependent tumors. As the trials progress, we plan to
accelerate efforts to engage with the regulatory authorities and, upon potential receipt of the requisite approvals,
will initiate efforts to manufacture and commercially launch milademetan.

e Increase probability of a clinically meaningful benefit for patients for our pipeline programs by utilizing biomarker
driven patient selection. We employ widely available, comprehensive next generation sequencing (NGS)
diagnostic tests and partner with industry-leading assay developers to identify patients for our clinical trials based
on molecular biomarkers indicating oncogene addiction and dependency on specific cellular signaling networks.
This pre-selection of patients is designed to target patients most likely to benefit from our therapies.

e Maximize opportunity of commercial success for our pipeline programs by focusing on tumor-agnostic clinical
trials. Through our MANTRA-2 open-label basket trial for milademetan, we are employing a tumor-agnostic
development approach to the essential biological pathways and molecular machinery of cancer. This strategy
leverages existing comprehensive next generation tumor sequencing in cancer patients and we believe will allow
for rapid patient enrollment and subsequent collection of data and, as a result, the potential acceleration of clinical
trial timelines.
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We believe our continued focus on this approach will maximize our total addressable patient population and the
overall commercial opportunities for our pipeline programs.

e Leverage our business development expertise to expand our pipeline of precision oncology candidates by
identifying genetically or biologically defined subsets across solid tumors and hematologic malignancies in
patients with limited treatment options. Our team has a diversity of backgrounds from academia and drug
research and development to biopharma industry experience. Our expansive networks in the biopharma
landscape coupled with our analytical approach to business development allows us to screen and identify drug
candidates and programs with potentially significant commercial opportunities. We are exploring pipeline
programs in the following three categories: (1) small molecule programs focusing on novel oncogenic drivers, and
with mechanisms of action that are distinct from existing and upcoming therapeutics; (2) programs that improve
upon existing therapies with validated oncology targets and clinical efficacy, but which lack clinical utility due to a
narrow therapeutic window; and (3) programs targeting emerging classes and/or biological targets of precision
oncology, such as synthetic lethality.

e Pursue global clinical and regulatory strategies enabling us to commercialize pipeline programs worldwide. We
will pursue a global regulatory approach and take into consideration the differing requirements and criteria of the
Food and Drug Administration (FDA), European Medicines Agency (EMA) and other regulatory agencies as our
pipeline programs progress in their respective clinical trials. We plan to retain significant economic and
commercial rights to our portfolio in the United States and certain other regions. We will evaluate partnership
opportunities in regions in which we are unlikely to pursue commercialization on our own.

e Pursue collaborations with leading academic clinical investigators to evaluate new therapeutic indications and
combinations of pipeline programs. In addition to building a pipeline of therapies through internal research and
business development efforts, we expect to continue to partner with academic and research institutions to expand
the scope of our data.

Overview of Precision Oncology and Our Approach

Precision oncology broadly refers to the strategy of harnessing tumor biology to design drugs and clinical trial
strategies to treat cancer more effectively in patients. Recent companion diagnostic approvals and reimbursement for multi-
gene NGS assays have made it easier to translate and distil cancer biology into tenable biomarkers that can then be readily
identified in tumor or blood samples from patients. This approach has accelerated over the last decade and has resulted in
numerous targeted therapies for previously difficult to treat cancers such as lung adenocarcinoma, bladder cancer, and
cholangiocarcinoma, among others. A recent development within the precision oncology strategy is the strategy of seeking
regulatory approval of cancer drugs based solely on tumor biology and biomarkers across cancer types, rather than tumor
histology or organ site-specific approvals. Successful examples of this strategy include larotrectinib, developed by Loxo
Oncology, Inc., and entrectinib, developed by Ignyta, Inc., both for tumors harboring NTRK gene fusions, and pembrolizumab,
developed by Merck, for microsatellite instability-high tumors. As a result, a new era of cancer drug development has
emerged, demonstrating an unprecedented degree of insight into the critical drivers of cancer, tumorigenesis and its
associated signaling networks.

With a biology-based approach that views a tumor’s biological driver as more important than tumor type for selecting
treatment modalities, we believe that understanding the molecular machinery employed by a tumor is paramount to
developing cancer therapeutics. We intend to pursue therapeutics that target genetic alterations in cell-signaling pathways that
may be oncogenic, including synthetic lethal interactions. By understanding these biological dependencies in cancer cells, we
hope to identify new therapies to meaningfully extend patients’ lives.
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We seek to build a pipeline of precision oncology therapeutics for genetically-defined patients by discovering or
licensing programs in three categories:

programs focusing on novel oncogenic drivers and small molecules with mechanisms of action that are distinct
from existing and upcoming therapeutics;

programs that improve upon existing therapies with validated oncology targets and clinical efficacy, but which lack
clinical utility due to a narrow therapeutic window; and

programs targeting emerging classes and/or biological targets of precision oncology, such as synthetic lethality.

Programs that capitalize on rational tumor targets are required to exhibit appropriate selectivity with a high degree of
target engagement. We view the three key pillars of any successful program as:

e targeting a tumor with unambiguous oncogenic addiction;
e achieving sufficient exposure of therapeutics in plasma and the tumor; and
e strong target engagement during the dosing window.

Our approach leverages currently available tumor genetic testing strategies to enroll and treat patients with advanced
cancer. We employ companion diagnostics and partnerships with industry-leading assay developers to identify patients based
on molecular biomarkers indicating oncogene addiction and dependency on specific cellular signaling networks. In our
MANTRA-2 basket trial of milademetan, we are enrolling patients with advanced or metastatic cancer based on MDM2 gene
amplification and p53 mutation status, both of which are widely available on existing commercial NGS assays. The significant
expansion of the FDA-approved targeted therapies in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC), breast cancer, bladder cancer,
melanoma, cholangiocarcinoma and tumor-agnostic indications has led to increasing adoption of multi-gene NGS assays to
determine patient eligibility for an ever-expanding number of targeted therapies.

Our Development Pipeline
Our development pipeline is unified by a strategy to target oncogenic drivers through differentiated therapies for which

we are able to genetically select the patients we believe will be most likely to benefit from treatment. We currently retain global
development and commercialization rights to all of our product candidates.

Milademetan (RAIN-32)

INDICATION MANTRA PRECLINICAL PHASE 1 PHASE 2 PHASE 3 PARTNER PLANNED DATA
DD Liposarcoma - Mila monotherapy Enrollment Completed 3 2012023

MDM2-amp Basket 2 Mila monotherapy Enrolling
Adv Solid Tumors : z ma anned: Mid 2023

B Rain anticipated clinical studies.
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Our Lead Product Candidate, Milademetan
Milademetan Overview

Our lead product candidate, milademetan, is a small molecule, oral inhibitor of MDM2 and is being developed in
patients with MDM2-dependent cancers. Historically, MDM2 inhibition has presented treatment challenges due to dose-
limiting, on-target hematologic toxicities. We believe an MDM2-targeted therapy must possess certain pharmacological
characteristics related to potency and pharmacokinetics to allow for the design of an optimized dosing schedule. An optimized
dosing schedule is intended to improve peak drug exposure leading to apoptosis and cell cycle arrest during the dosing period,
while permitting hematopoietic precursor cell recovery during the dosing break, thereby minimizing hematologic toxicity.
Milademetan’s differentiated profile, as a potent MDM2 inhibitor has enabled a rationally designed dosing schedule that we
believe has the potential to reduce toxicities while preserving activity. We anticipate that this dosing schedule may also be
applicable to other MDM2-dependent cancer populations across solid and hematologic tumor types.

Overview of p53 and MDM2

Milademetan reactivates p53, known as the “guardian of the genome,” by inhibiting MDM2. p53 is present in every cell
and acts as a key regulator of a variety of cellular processes including cell cycle, DNA repair and apoptosis. In a normal cell,
the activity of p53 is controlled and regulated by the inhibitory protein MDM2. MDM2 binds to p53, thereby inducing
degradation and allowing normal cells to function properly. In response to cell damage and other stress conditions, p53 is
activated and prevents the formation of cancerous cells by inducing apoptosis.

In contrast to normal cells, in tumor cells, the two primary mechanisms by which p53 can be inactivated in tumor cells
are mutations in p53 and activation or overexpression of MDM2. Approximately half of all tumors are characterized by
mutations of the p53 gene. The remaining cancer patients have a p53 gene that is not mutated, and is otherwise known as WT
p53, but can be functionally suppressed through the activation or overexpression of MDM2. We have identified MDM2
dependence in several solid tumors. This dependence is caused by overexpression of MDM2 through gene amplification or
other mechanisms, loss of a negative regulator of MDM2 or other causes. Overexpression of MDM2 promotes the degradation
of p53 and also eliminates p53’s ability to activate transcription. Milademetan, by binding MDM2 at the p53 interaction site,
prevents the formation of the MDM2-p53 complex, allowing p53 reactivation and subsequent transcription of genes that trigger
cancer cell cycle arrest (e.g., p21) or apoptosis (e.g., PUMA) and can be readily measured by increases in the
pharmacodynamic marker MIC-1 (GDF15) in the blood.

Phase 1 Clinical Data

Milademetan has been evaluated by Daiichi Sankyo in various solid tumors, including DDLPS, in a Phase 1 trial
(U101) for initial assessment of safety, tolerability and preliminary efficacy. The largest population enrolled in the trial were
DDLPS patients (approximately 50% of the total patients enrolled). DDLPS tumors have nearly universal MDM2 gene
amplification and WT p53, and hence are nearly universally MDM2-dependent. Therefore, we believe these LPS patients
represent an appropriate population for MDM2 inhibition therapy. In October 2020, Daiichi Sankyo reported comprehensive
results from this Phase 1 trial covering 107 patients. Milademetan has demonstrated meaningful antitumor activity in an
MDM2-amplified subtype of LPS and other solid tumors in a Phase 1 clinical trial, validating a rationally-designed dosing
schedule to potentially mitigate safety concerns and widen the therapeutic window of MDMZ2 inhibition.

Clinical Observations to Support Pursuing Milademetan as a Treatment in LPS Patients

Historically, LPS treatment rarely produces tumor responses, regardless of therapy and line of treatment. As a result,
efficacy in LPS has been assessed with an endpoint of PFS, and we are using PFS as
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the primary endpoint in our MANTRA Phase 3 LPS trial. Notwithstanding, tumor responses to milademetan were observed in
the Phase 1 trial. Of the 53 patients with DDLPS who received one or more doses of milademetan, two (3.8%) achieved partial
response and 34 (64.2%) achieved stable disease.

The trial also identified the disease control rate (DCR) for the LPS population enrolled in the trial, which consisted
primarily of patients with MDM2-amplified tumors, as compared to an unselected non-LPS population. The DCR in the LPS
population was nearly double the DCR in the non-LPS population, 58.5% versus 32.4%, respectively, supporting our plan to
select patients with MDM2 amplification in future clinical trials.

In July 2021, we provided an update on patients who received milademetan monotherapy from the concluded Phase 1
dose escalation and expansion study. As of July 1, 2021, three DDLPS patients received therapy with milademetan
monotherapy for greater than 51 months. Two of these patients received therapy with durations of 51 and 57 months without
disease progression, and an additional patient received therapy for greater than 59 months before discontinuation in the
second quarter of 2021. We believe this highlights the potential for milademetan to have a favorable long-term tolerability and
safety profile.

Based on the Phase 1 data, we initiated a pivotal Phase 3 trial in DDLPS patients (MANTRA) in July 2021.

Clinical Observations in Non-LPS Patients to Support Pursuing Milademetan as a Tumor-agnostic Treatment for
Patients with MDM2-amplified Tumors

In contrast to LPS patients who rarely have tumor responses to treatment, certain non-LPS patients enrolled in the
Phase 1 trial exhibited tumor responses when treated with milademetan. Of the ten non-LPS patients receiving milademetan
in Schedule D of the completed Phase 1 clinical trial, three patients were characterized for MDM2 gene amplification. Patients
characterized for MDM2 gene amplification included patients with breast cancer, synovial sarcoma and small cell lung cancer
(SCLC). The first patient exhibited a confirmed tumor volume reduction. The latter two patients exhibited partial responses,
one of which was a confirmed partial response.

Based on the available data from patients with non-LPS MDM2-amplified tumors, we initiated a Phase 2 tumor
agnostic basket clinical trial (MANTRA-2) in November 2021.

Clinical Development Plan
Phase 3 Trial in DDLPS Patients (MANTRA)

In July 2021, we initiated a randomized, multicenter, open-label, Phase 3 registrational trial (MANTRA) for patients
with unresectable or metastatic DDLPS component that has progressed on one or more prior systemic therapies, including at
least one anthracycline-based therapy. This trial is an open label, 1:1 randomized trial comparing milademetan to trabectedin,
an SOC therapeutic, in approximately 160 DDLPS patients with at least one prior anthracycline-based therapy. The dosing
schedule for the Phase 3 trial will be identical to the Schedule D dose of 260 mg (qd 3/14x2) employed in the Phase 1 trial.
The primary objective of the trial is to compare PFS evaluated by Response Evaluation Criteria in Solid Tumors (RECIST)
criteria in blinded independent review between the milademetan treatment arm and the trabectedin control arm. Secondary
endpoints include overall survival, PFS by investigator assessment, objective response rate, duration of response, disease
control rate, safety and patient reported outcomes. Our commencement of a Phase 3 trial following the Phase 1 trial
referenced above is based on the data observed in the Phase 1 trial and FDA feedback with respect to our development plan.

The PFS assumptions for statistical powering are based on a PFS assumption for the control arm of 3.0 months and
6.0 months for milademetan. The doubling of PFS corresponds to a hazard ratio of 0.5.
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In August 2022, we announced the completion of enroliment into our MANTRA Phase 3 trial of milademetan, and we
expect to report topline data from our MANTRA trial in the second quarter of 2023. Subject to supportive clinical data, we
anticipate filing regulatory applications in the United States and Europe thereafter.

Phase 2 MDM2-amplified Tumor-agnostic Basket Trial (MANTRA-2)

In November 2021, the first patient was dosed in the multicenter, single arm, open-label, Phase 2 basket trial
evaluating Milademetan for the treatment of MDM2-amplified advanced solid (MANTRA-2). The MANTRA-2 trial is designed to
evaluate the safety and efficacy of milademetan in patients with advanced or metastatic solid tumors refractory or intolerant to
standard-of-care therapy and that exhibit wild-type p53 and a prespecified minimum MDM2 gene copy number. Approximately
65 patients are anticipated to be enrolled to receive milademetan. The primary endpoint of the trial is objective response rate
as measured by RECIST criteria. Secondary endpoints include duration of response, disease control rate progression-free
survival by investigator assessment, overall survival, and growth modulation index.

We are enrolling patients that have received and progressed on standard of care (SOC) therapy and will be unlikely to
tolerate or derive clinically meaningful benefit from SOC therapy. Patients with MDM2 amplification will be selected using local
tumor testing, such as a commercially-available NGS-based diagnostic assay. Milademetan will be administered in doses of
260 mg using the Schedule D dosing schedule from the Phase 1 trial (qd 3/14x2). The primary endpoint of this trial will be
ORR by RECIST, with secondary endpoints of PFS, Duration of Response (DOR), OS and growth-modulation index (GMI).
We believe the basket trial is supported by data in the Phase 1 clinical trial, in which non-LPS patients with MDM2-amplified
tumors exhibited tumor volume reductions and confirmed partial responses under RECIST criteria.

In November 2022, we announced preliminary data in our MANTRA-2 trial. As of the latest data cutoff on October 26,
2022, 17 patients had been enrolled, 15 of whom had been dosed with milademetan. There were 10 efficacy-evaluable
patients with CN greater than or equal to 8 by central testing. We observed two unconfirmed partial responses with tumor
regression of 34% and 30% (pancreatic and lung cancer, respectively). Two patients exhibited promising activity with tumor
regression of 29% and 27% (biliary tract and breast cancer, respectively). In addition, we observed anti-tumor effect of
milademetan in heavily pretreated, refractory patients, with a median of four prior therapies. The safety profile as of the data
cutoff was preliminarily consistent with our prior Phase 1 trial of milademetan.

Phase 2 Trial for Milademetan in Merkel Cell Carcinoma (MANTRA-3)

We are deprioritizing the Phase 2 MANTRA-3 trial in Merkel cell carcinoma as an area of focus due to our continued
effort to rationalize use of capital in the current market environment.

Phase 1/2 Trial for Milademetan in Combination with Atezolizumab in Patients with CDKN2A Loss and Wildtype p53
advanced solid tumors (MANTRA-4)

Cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 2A (CDKN2A) encodes for the tumor suppressor p14ARF, an inhibitor of MDM2,
and the loss of CDKN2A may lead to MDM2-dependent cancers. This concept of MDM2 dependency is supported by
nonclinical data demonstrating in vitro sensitivity to milademetan of cancer cell lines harboring CDKN2A loss and WT p53 as
well as several in vivo models with CDKN2A loss showing anti-tumor activity of milademetan. Loss of p53 activity via MDM2
and/or CDKN2A loss has also been associated with poor clinical outcomes for patients treated with immune checkpoint
inhibitors (ICI). Nonclinical data in an immune competent mouse model of colorectal cancer with CDKN2A loss demonstrated
enhanced combinatorial activity of milademetan plus an anti-PD1 antibody compared to either agent alone.

In January 2022, we announced a clinical supply agreement with Roche for the supply of the anti-Programmed Death
Ligand-1 (PD-L1) monoclonal antibody, atezolizumab. Clinical trials are planned to
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evaluate milademetan in combination with atezolizumab for the treatment of patients in genetically selected populations.
Under this agreement, we are the sponsor of the anticipated clinical trials, and Roche will supply atezolizumab.

An initial Phase 1/2 basket trial is planned to evaluate the safety, tolerability and efficacy of milademetan in
combination with atezolizumab in patients with loss of CDKN2A and wildtype p53 advanced solid tumors who have previously
progressed on ICI. We anticipate the start of the Phase 1/2 basket trial in mid-2023. Subsequent Phase 2 clinical trials
evaluating the combination of milademetan and atezolizumab may span various additional tumor types.

Preclinical RAD52 Program

In February 2023, we decided to discontinue further development of our preclinical program focused on targeting
RAD52 in the DNA damage repair pathway.

Collaboration and License Agreements
Daiichi Sankyo License Agreement

On September 2, 2020, we entered into a license agreement with Daiichi Sankyo, a Japanese corporation (the
Daiichi Sankyo License Agreement). Pursuant to the Daiichi Sankyo License Agreement, we obtained a worldwide,
sublicensable (through multiple tiers), royalty-bearing, exclusive right and license under Daiichi Sankyo’s know how and seven
families of patents and patent applications to make, have made, use, import and export milademetan (also known as RAIN-32)
(the Licensed Compound) for all human prophylactic or therapeutic uses that derive therapeutic effect by binding to MDM2 for
the prevention and treatment of any indication for the purpose of making, having made, using, offering for sale, selling,
marketing, distributing, importing, and exporting products containing milademetan as an active pharmaceutical ingredient (the
Products). See the section titled “Intellectual Property.”

While we are solely responsible under the Daiichi Sankyo License Agreement for the research, development and
registration of the Licensed Compound and Products, Daiichi Sankyo will continue to conduct three ongoing clinical trials and
prepare final reports with respect to these clinical trials. We have agreed to reimburse Daiichi Sankyo certain third-party
expenses incurred by Daiichi Sankyo while conducting such trials.

We are obligated to use commercially reasonable efforts to develop, commercialize and manufacture the Products
and to commercially launch the Products as soon as reasonably practicable after receiving the requisite marketing approvals
from the authorities in any given country. We are also obligated to use commercially reasonable efforts to receive at least
three full approvals for use in each of the following countries: France, Germany, Italy, Spain, the United Kingdom, the United
States and one country outside of the United States and the European Union.

In accordance with the terms of the Daiichi Sankyo License Agreement, we paid Daiichi Sankyo an initial upfront
payment of $5.0 million in September 2020. We are required to make aggregate future milestone payments of up to $223.5
million, contingent on the attainment of certain development, regulatory and sales milestones. On July 20, 2021, we
announced that the first patient has been randomized in the multicenter, open-label, Phase 3 registrational trial (MANTRA)
evaluating milademetan for the treatment of de-differentiated liposarcoma. Accordingly, pursuant to the Daiichi Sankyo License
Agreement, we recorded $5.5 million in milestone fees as research and development expense in the consolidated statement
of operations and comprehensive loss during the year ended December 31, 2021. Of the $5.5 million milestone fees, $2.5
million was paid in the third quarter of 2021 and $3.0 million was accrued as part of accrued research and development in the
consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2021. On June 29, 2022, we entered into an amendment to the Daiichi
Sankyo License Agreement with Daiichi Sankyo. The amendment reduced the $3.0 million milestone fee liability associated
with previously achieved milestone to
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$2.0 million and accordingly reduced research and development expense on the consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive loss by $1.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. The amendment also extended the due date of

the milestone fee payment to June 30, 2023. During the year ended December 31, 2022, we incurred no milestone research
and development expense under the Daiichi Sankyo License Agreement.

On March 3, 2022, we entered into a Memorandum of Understanding with Daiichi Sankyo (the “Memorandum of
Understanding”), which provides that Daiichi Sankyo will terminate its U105 study, and we will reimburse a total of $2.0 million
to Daiichi Sankyo for expenses related to such study in four installments of $0.5 million each until December 31, 2022. As of
December 31, 2022, we paid total installments of $1.5 million and the remaining $0.5 million installment as of December 31,
2022 has been paid in full in the first quarter of 2023. Under the Daiichi Sankyo License Agreement, we made other clinical
trials payments of $0.1 million and $0.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Pursuant to the Daiichi Sankyo License Agreement, Daiichi Sankyo had the right to continue to conduct three clinical
trials and prepare final reports with respect to these clinical trials, and such right expires upon all subjects completing the study
treatment. We have agreed to reimburse Daiichi Sankyo certain third-party expenses incurred while conducting such trials.

Additionally, we are required to pay Daiichi Sankyo a high single digit royalty based on the annual net sales of
products containing milademetan as an active pharmaceutical ingredient (the “Products”), subject to reduction at an agreed
rate upon expiration of the licensed patent in the particular country where the Products are sold. To date, no royalty payments
have been made to Daiichi Sankyo under the Daiichi Sankyo License Agreement. The royalty obligation terminates on a
country-by-country and Product-by-Product basis on the later of: (i) loss of all market exclusivity for such Product in such
country, (ii) the last-to-expire patent that covers the Licensed Compound or the Product in such country and (iii) twelve years
from launch of the first Product sold by us in such country.

Unless sooner terminated, the Daiichi Sankyo License Agreement will remain in full force and effect until we, our
affiliates and our sublicensees cease all development and commercial activity related to the Licensed Compound and
Products. Either party may terminate the Daiichi Sankyo License Agreement for cause in the event of the other party’s
uncured material breach after a certain cure period. With respect to Daiichi Sankyo’s uncured material breach, however, we
may only terminate the Daiichi Sankyo License Agreement with respect to the countries affected by such uncured material
breach. Daiichi Sankyo may also terminate the Daiichi Sankyo License Agreement in the event of our bankruptcy or
insolvency. Additionally, Daiichi Sankyo may terminate the Daiichi Sankyo License Agreement immediately upon written notice
if we, our affiliates or our sublicensors initiate or join any challenge to the validity or enforceability of a licensed patent, subject
to certain exclusions. Furthermore, we may terminate the Daiichi Sankyo License Agreement in its entirety or on a country-by-
country basis for bona fide material concerns regarding the (i) lack of safety for human use arising from toxicity of the
Licensed Compound or Product(s), (ii) lack of efficacy of the Licensed Compound or Product(s) or (iii) adverse economic
impact to us in connection with our continued development of the Products, in each case, upon six months’ prior written notice
to Daiichi Sankyo. In addition, if we are acquired by a third party that is developing and commercializing a competing
compound and the acquiring party decides not to discontinue the development or commercialization of such competing
compound, such third party must terminate the Daiichi Sankyo License Agreement within 30 days of such acquisition if it does
not discontinue such development or commercialization. Upon termination of the Daiichi Sankyo License Agreement by Daiichi
Sankyo for our uncured material breach or by us for our bona fide material concerns regarding the safety, efficacy or adverse
economic impacts relating to the Licensed Compound or Products, or our development thereof, we are required to, among
other actions, if requested by Daiichi Sankyo (i) transfer to Daiichi Sankyo ongoing clinical trials, data, reports, records and
materials, (i) grant to Daiichi Sankyo an exclusive, irrevocable, sublicensable, fully paid-up license under any patents and
know-how that are controlled and actually used by us at the time of termination in connection with the Products to allow Daiichi
Sankyo exploit the Licensed Compound or Products in countries that are affected by
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the termination, (iii) grant to Daiichi Sankyo an exclusive, irrevocable, sublicensable, fully paid up license to use trademarks
that are specific to the Products and (iv) assign any applicable sublicenses.

Drexel License Agreement and Sponsored Research Agreement

On July 30, 2020, we entered into an intellectual property license agreement (the “Drexel License Agreement”) with
Drexel University (“Drexel”). Pursuant to the Drexel License Agreement, Drexel granted to us a license under Drexel’s patent
rights relating to RAD52 inhibitors for the treatment of cancer. We made payments of $53,118 and $34,387 under the Drexel
License Agreement for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

In February 2023, we decided to discontinue further development of our preclinical program focused on targeting
RAD5?2 in the DNA damage repair pathway, and we notified Drexel of the termination of the Drexel License Agreement
pursuant to its terms to focus use of financial and personnel resources on the milademetan clinical program.

Roche Clinical Supply Agreement

In December 2021, we entered into a clinical supply agreement with Roche for the supply of the anti-Programmed
Death Ligand-1 (PD-L1) monoclonal antibody, atezolizumab. Clinical trials are planned to evaluate milademetan, in
combination with atezolizumab for the treatment of patients in genetically selected populations. Under this agreement, we are
the sponsor of the anticipated clinical trials, and Roche will supply atezolizumab. We do not have any financial commitments
to Roche under this agreement.

Manufacturing and Supply

We do not own or operate, and currently have no plans to establish any manufacturing facilities. We currently rely and
expect to continue to rely for the foreseeable future, on third parties for the manufacture of our drug candidates for preclinical
and clinical testing, as well as for commercial manufacture of any drugs that we may commercialize.

Clinical drug product supplies and active pharmaceutical ingredients (API) for the milademetan program were
produced and supplied to us by Daiichi Sankyo. Clinical drug product manufactured in Daiichi Sankyo’s GMP production
facilities was supplied to us as brite stock and is being used in our ongoing LPS trial and basket trial. For the milademetan
program, we have selected and transferred Daiichi Sankyo processes to suitable commercial contract manufacturing
organizations to supply API and clinical drug product for our clinical trials and in preparation for submission of marketing
applications and potential future commercial supplies.

We obtain our supplies from contract manufacturers on a purchase order basis. We do not currently have
arrangements in place for redundant supply for APIs and drug product. We intend to identify and qualify additional
manufacturers to provide the APIs and drug product for our future development plan for milademetan. All our drug candidates
are compounds of low molecular weight, generally called small molecules. We expect to continue to develop drug candidates
that can be produced cost-effectively at contract manufacturing facilities.

Manufacturing clinical products is subject to extensive regulations that impose various procedural and documentation
requirements, which govern record keeping, manufacturing processes and controls, personnel, quality control and quality
assurance. Our contract manufacturers and their subcontractors are required to register their establishments with the FDA and
certain state agencies and are subject to periodic unannounced inspections by the FDA and certain state agencies for
compliance with Current Good Manufacturing Practice (cGMP) requirements which impose certain production, manufacturing,
procedural and documentation requirements upon us and our third-party manufacturers. Changes to the manufacturing
process are strictly regulated, and, depending on the significance of the change, may require prior FDA
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approval before being implemented. FDA regulations also require investigation and correction of any deviations from cGMP
requirements and impose reporting requirements upon us and any third-party manufacturers that we may decide to use.
Accordingly, manufacturers must continue to expend time, money and effort in the area of production and quality control to
maintain compliance with cGMP requirements and other aspects of regulatory compliance.

Intellectual Property

We strive to protect the proprietary technologies, inventions and improvements that we believe are important to our
business, including pursuing, obtaining, maintaining, defending and enforcing patent rights, whether developed internally or
licensed from third parties, intended to cover the composition of matter of our product candidates, including milademetan, their
methods of use, related technologies, such as biomarkers, solid state forms, formulations, etc. and other inventions that are
important to our business. In addition to patent protection, we also rely on trade secrets, know-how, continuing technological
innovation and in-licensing opportunities to develop, strengthen and maintain our proprietary position in our field.

Our future commercial success depends in part upon our ability to obtain and maintain patent and other proprietary
protection for our drug candidates and other commercially important technologies, inventions and know-how related to our
business; defend and enforce our intellectual property, in particular, our patent rights; preserve the confidentiality of our trade
secrets; and operate without infringing, misappropriating or violating the valid and enforceable intellectual property and
proprietary rights of third parties. Our ability to stop third parties from making, using, selling, offering to sell or importing our
products may depend on the extent to which we have rights under valid and enforceable patents or trade secrets that cover
these activities.

The patent positions for biotechnology companies like us are generally uncertain and can involve complex legal,
scientific and factual issues. We cannot predict whether the patent applications we are currently pursuing will issue as patents
in any particular jurisdiction or whether the claims of any issued patents will provide sufficient proprietary protection from
competitors. We also cannot ensure that patents will be issued with respect to any patent applications that we or our licensors
may file in the future, nor can we ensure that any of our owned or licensed patents or future patents will be commercially useful
in protecting our product candidates and methods of manufacturing the same. In addition, the coverage claimed in a patent
application can be significantly reduced before a patent is issued, and its scope can be reinterpreted and even challenged
after issuance. Moreover, many jurisdictions permit third parties to challenge issued patents in administrative proceedings,
which may result in further narrowing or even cancellation of patent claims. As a result, we cannot guarantee that any of our
drug candidates will be protected or remain protectable by enforceable patents. Moreover, any patents that we hold may be
challenged, circumvented or invalidated by third parties. For more information regarding the risks related to our intellectual
property, please see “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property.”

We generally file patent applications directed to our key programs in an effort to secure our intellectual property
positions vis-a-vis these programs. As of December 31, 2022, we owned or in-licensed eighteen U.S. patents, five pending
U.S. patent applications, one hundred and twenty foreign patents, two allowed foreign patent applications, five U.S. pending
non-provisional patent applications, and thirty-four foreign pending patent applications.

The intellectual property portfolio for our most advanced programs as of December 31, 2022, is summarized below.
Prosecution is a lengthy process, during which the scope of the claims initially submitted for examination by the U.S. Patent
and Trademark Office and foreign patent offices may be significantly narrowed before issuance, if issued at all. We expect this
may be the case with respect to some of our pending patent applications referred to below.
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Milademetan

With regard to milademetan, as of December 31, 2022, our patent portfolio contained fourteen issued U.S. patents,
three pending U.S. non-provisional patent applications, over one hundred issued and allowed foreign patents, and twenty
pending foreign patent applications, all exclusively licensed from Daiichi Sankyo. One patent family in the milademetan
portfolio is directed to the composition of matter of milademetan where we have issued patents in various jurisdictions
including the United States, Japan, thirty-seven countries in Europe, Australia, Canada, China, Colombia, Indonesia, India,
Israel, Korea, Malaysia, Mexico, New Zealand, Philippines, Russia, South Africa, Taiwan, Singapore, and Vietham and
pending patent applications in various jurisdictions including the United States, Brazil, Egypt, and Thailand, all of which are
expected to expire in March 2032, excluding potential patent term adjustments or patent term extensions, where applicable.
Another patent family supporting milademetan pertains to crystal-forms of milademetan. Under this patent family, we have
eight issued U.S. patents and fifteen issued foreign patents in various jurisdictions including Japan, certain countries in
Europe, Canada, China, Brazil, Hong Kong, Korea, Russia and Taiwan, and pending patent applications in Brazil and India, all
of which are expected to expire in 2033, excluding potential patent term adjustments or patent term extensions, where
applicable.

Furthermore, we exclusively licensed from Daiichi Sankyo three patent families directed to combination therapies with
milademetan, methods of synthesis of milademetan, and dosing regimens of Milademetan within these three patent families,
we have four issued U.S. patents, two pending U.S. patent applications, twenty-one issued foreign patents and sixteen
pending foreign patent applications, including in Japan, Europe, Canada, China, Hong Kong, Korea, India, Brazil and Taiwan,
all of which are expected to expire between September 2034 and October 2037, excluding potential patent term adjustments
or patent term extensions, where applicable. These combination therapy, method of synthesis, and method of use (dosing
regimen) patents and patent applications will not present barriers to our competitors with respect to any unclaimed therapies
or methods of synthesis or use involving milademetan.

We intend to pursue additional patent protection for milademetan and other development candidates relating to
milademetan, its methods of use and related technologies that we consider important to our business.

Patent Terms

The term of individual patents depends upon the legal term of the patents in the countries in which they are obtained.
In most countries in which we file, the patent term is 20 years from the earliest date of filing a non-provisional patent
application.

In the United States, the term of a patent covering an FDA-approved drug may, in certain cases, be eligible for a
patent term extension under the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984 (Hatch-Waxman Act) as
compensation for the loss of patent term during the FDA regulatory review process. The period of extension may be up to
five years but cannot extend the remaining term of a patent beyond a total of 14 years from the date of product approval. Only
one patent applicable to an approved drug is eligible for extension and only those claims covering the approved drug, a
method for using it, or a method for manufacturing it may be extended. Similar provisions are available in Europe and in
certain other jurisdictions to extend the term of a patent that covers an approved drug. It is possible that issued U.S. patents
covering milademetan or our preclinical programs, if issued, and products from our intellectual property may or will be entitled
to patent term extensions. If our drug candidates receive FDA approval, we intend to apply for patent term extensions, if
available, to extend the term of patents that cover the approved use or the drug candidates. We also intend to seek patent
term extensions in any jurisdictions where they are available; however, there is no guarantee that the applicable authorities,
including the FDA, will agree with our assessment of whether such extensions should be granted, and even if granted, the
length of such extensions.
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Protection of Proprietary Information

In addition to patent protection, we also rely on trade secret protection and confidential know-how for our proprietary
information that is not amenable to, or that we do not consider appropriate for, patent protection, including certain aspects of
our manufacturing processes. However, trade secrets can be difficult to protect. Although we take steps to protect our
proprietary information, including restricting access to our confidential information, as well as entering into non-disclosure and
confidentiality agreements with our employees, consultants, independent contractors, advisors, contract manufacturers,
contract research organizations (CROs), hospitals, independent treatment centers, suppliers, collaborators and other third
parties, such parties may breach such agreements and disclose our proprietary information including our trade secrets, and
we may not be able to obtain adequate remedies for such breaches. Furthermore, these agreements may not provide
meaningful protection. Third parties may also independently develop the same or similar proprietary information or may
otherwise gain access to our proprietary information. Despite any measures taken to protect our intellectual property,
unauthorized parties may attempt to copy aspects of our products or to obtain or use information that we regard as proprietary.
As a result, we may be unable to meaningfully protect our trade secrets and proprietary information. For more information
regarding the risks related to our intellectual property please see “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property.”

Government Regulations

Government authorities in the United States, at the federal, state, local levels, and in other countries and jurisdictions,
including the European Union, extensively regulate, among other things, the research, development, testing, product approval,
manufacture, quality control, manufacturing changes, packaging, storage, recordkeeping, labeling, promotion, advertising,
sales, distribution, marketing, and import and export of drugs and biologic products. All of our foreseeable product candidates
are expected to be regulated as drugs. The processes for obtaining regulatory approval in the United States and in foreign
countries and jurisdictions, along with compliance with applicable statutes and regulations and other regulatory authorities both
pre- and post-commercialization, are a significant factor in the production and marketing of our products and our research and
development activities and require the expenditure of substantial time and financial resources.

Review and Approval of Drugs in the United States

In the United States, the FDA and other government entities regulate drugs under the Federal Food, Drug, and
Cosmetic Act (FDCA) and its implementing regulations, as well as other federal and state statutes and regulations. Failure to
comply with applicable legal and regulatory requirements in the United States at any time during the product development
process, approval process, or after approval, may subject us to a variety of administrative or judicial sanctions, such as a delay
in approving or refusal by the FDA to approve pending applications, withdrawal of approvals, delay or suspension of clinical
trials, issuance of warning letters and other types of regulatory letters, product recalls, product seizures, total or partial
suspension of production or distribution, injunctions, fines, civil monetary penalties, refusals of or debarment from government
contracts, exclusion from the federal healthcare programs, restitution, disgorgement of profits, civil or criminal investigations by
the FDA, U.S. Department of Justice, State Attorneys General, and/or other agencies, False Claims Act suits and/or other
litigation, and/or criminal prosecutions.

An applicant seeking approval to market and distribute a new drug in the United States must typically undertake the
following:

(1) completion of pre-clinical laboratory tests, animal studies, and formulation studies in compliance with the FDA's
good laboratory practice (GLP) regulations or other applicable regulations;

(2) submission to the FDA of an IND Application for human clinical testing, which must become effective without FDA
objection before human clinical trials may begin;
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(3) approval by an independent institutional review board (IRB) or ethics committee representing each clinical site
before each clinical trial may be initiated,;

(4) performance of adequate and well-controlled human clinical trials in accordance with good clinical practice (GCP)
regulations, to establish the safety and effectiveness of the proposed drug product for each indication for which
approval is sought;

(5) preparation and submission to the FDA of a New Drug Application (NDA);

(6) satisfactory review of the NDA by an FDA advisory committee, where appropriate or if applicable,

7

-~

satisfactory completion of one or more FDA inspections of the manufacturing facility or facilities at which the drug
is produced to assess compliance with current good manufacturing practice (cGMP) regulations and to assure that
the facilities, methods, and controls are adequate to ensure the product’s identity, strength, quality, and purity, and
of selected clinical investigation sites to assess compliance with GCP; and

(8) payment of user fees, as applicable, and securing FDA review approval of the NDA.
Preclinical Studies and an IND

Preclinical studies can include in vitro and animal studies to assess the potential for adverse events and, in some
cases, to establish a rationale for therapeutic use. The conduct of preclinical studies is subject to federal regulations and
requirements, including GLP regulations. Other studies include laboratory evaluation of the purity, stability and physical form
of the manufactured drug substance or active pharmaceutical ingredient and the physical properties, stability and
reproducibility of the formulated drug or drug product. An IND sponsor must submit the results of the preclinical tests, together
with manufacturing information, analytical data, any available clinical data or literature and plans for clinical trials, among other
things, to the FDA as part of an IND. An IND is a request for authorization from the FDA to administer an investigational new
drug product to humans. Some preclinical testing, such as longer-term toxicity testing, animal tests of reproductive adverse
events and carcinogenicity, may continue after the IND is submitted. An IND automatically becomes effective 30 days after
receipt by the FDA, unless before that time the FDA raises concerns or questions related to a proposed clinical trial and places
the trial on clinical hold. In such a case, the IND sponsor and the FDA must resolve any outstanding concerns before the
clinical trial can begin. As a result, submission of an IND may not result in the FDA allowing clinical trials to commence.

Following commencement of a clinical trial under an IND, the FDA may place a clinical hold on that trial. A clinical
hold is an order issued by the FDA to the sponsor to delay a proposed clinical investigation or to suspend an ongoing
investigation. A partial clinical hold is a delay or suspension of only part of the clinical work requested under the IND, such as
restrictions on dosing or patient enrollment. No more than 30 days after imposition of a clinical hold or partial clinical hold, the
FDA will provide the sponsor a written explanation of the basis for the hold. Following issuance of a clinical hold or partial
clinical hold, an investigation may only resume in full or in part, as applicable, after the FDA has notified the sponsor that the
investigation may proceed. The FDA will base that determination on information provided by the sponsor correcting the
deficiencies previously cited or otherwise satisfying the FDA that the investigation can proceed.

Human Clinical Trials in Support of an NDA

Clinical trials involve the administration of the investigational product to human subjects under the supervision of
qualified investigators in accordance with Current Good Clinical Practices (cGCP) requirements, which include, among other
things, the requirement that all research subjects provide their informed consent in writing before their participation in any
clinical trial. Clinical trials are conducted under written study protocols detailing, among other things, the objectives of the
study, the parameters to be used in monitoring safety and the effectiveness criteria to be evaluated. A protocol for each
clinical trial and any
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subsequent protocol amendments must be submitted to the FDA as part of the IND. In addition, an IRB or ethics committee
representing each institution participating in the clinical trial must review and approve the plan for any clinical trial before it
commences at that institution, and the IRB must conduct continuing review and reapprove the study at least annually. The IRB
must review and approve, among other things, the study protocol and informed consent information to be provided to study
subjects. An IRB must operate in compliance with FDA regulations. Some studies also include oversight by an independent
group of qualified experts organized by the clinical trial sponsor, known as a data safety monitoring board, which provides
authorization for whether or not a study may move forward at designated check points based on access to certain data from
the study and may halt the clinical trial if it determines that there is an unacceptable safety risk for subjects or other grounds,
such as no demonstration of efficacy. Information about certain clinical trials must be submitted within specific timeframes to
the NIH for public dissemination on its ClinicalTrials.gov website.

Human clinical trials are typically conducted in three sequential phases, which may overlap or be combined:

e Phase 1: The product candidate is initially introduced into healthy human subjects or patients with the target
disease or condition and tested for safety, dosage tolerance, absorption, metabolism, distribution, excretion and,
if possible, to gain an early indication of its effectiveness.

e Phase 2: The product candidate is administered to a limited patient population to identify possible adverse effects
and safety risks, to preliminarily evaluate the efficacy of the product for specific targeted diseases and to
determine dosage tolerance and optimal dosage.

e Phase 3: The product candidate is administered to an expanded patient population, generally at geographically
dispersed clinical trial sites, in well-controlled clinical trials to generate enough data to statistically evaluate the
efficacy and safety of the product for approval, to establish the overall risk-benefit profile of the product, and to
provide adequate information for the labeling of the product.

Post-approval trials, sometimes referred to as Phase 4 studies, may be conducted after initial marketing approval.
These trials are used to gain additional experience from the treatment of patients in the intended therapeutic indication. In
certain instances, the FDA may mandate the performance of Phase 4 clinical trials as a condition of approval of an NDA.

Progress reports detailing the results of the clinical trials must be submitted at least annually to the FDA and more
frequently if serious adverse events occur. Furthermore, the FDA or the sponsor may suspend or terminate a clinical trial at
any time on various grounds, including a finding that the research subjects are being exposed to an unacceptable health risk.
Similarly, an IRB can suspend or terminate approval of a clinical trial at its institution, or an institution it represents, if the
clinical trial is not being conducted in accordance with the IRB’s requirements or if the drug has been associated with
unexpected serious harm to patients.

During the development of a new drug, sponsors are given opportunities to meet with the FDA at certain points. These
points may be prior to submission of an IND, at the end of Phase 2, and before an NDA is submitted. Meetings at other times
may be requested. These meetings can provide an opportunity for the sponsor to share information about the data gathered to
date, for the FDA to provide advice, and for the sponsor and the FDA to reach agreement on the next phase of development.
Sponsors typically use the meetings at the end of the Phase 2 trial to discuss Phase 2 clinical results and present plans for the
pivotal Phase 3 clinical trials that they believe will support approval of the new drug.

Concurrent with clinical trials, companies usually complete additional animal studies and must also develop additional

information about the chemistry and physical characteristics of the drug and finalize a process for manufacturing the product
in commercial quantities in accordance with cGMP requirements. The
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manufacturing process must be capable of consistently producing quality batches of the product candidate and, among other
things, the manufacturer must develop methods for testing the identity, strength, quality and purity of the final drug. In addition,
appropriate packaging must be selected and tested, and stability studies must be conducted to demonstrate that the product
candidate does not undergo unacceptable deterioration over its shelf life.

While the IND is active and before approval, progress reports summarizing the results of the clinical trials and
nonclinical studies performed since the last progress report must be submitted at least annually to the FDA, and written IND
safety reports must be submitted to the FDA and investigators for serious and unexpected suspected adverse events, findings
from other studies suggesting a significant risk to humans exposed to the same or similar drugs, findings from animal or in
vitro testing suggesting a significant risk to humans, and any clinically important increased incidence of a serious suspected
adverse reaction compared to that listed in the protocol or investigator brochure.

Submission of an NDA to the FDA

Assuming successful completion of required clinical testing and other requirements, the results of the preclinical
studies and clinical trials, together with detailed information relating to the product’s chemistry, manufacture, controls and
proposed labeling, among other things, are submitted to the FDA as part of an NDA requesting approval to market the drug
product for one or more indications. Under federal law, the submission of most NDAs is additionally subject to an application
user fee, currently $3,117,218 for fiscal year 2022, for applications requiring clinical data, and the sponsor of an approved
NDA is also subject to an annual program fee, currently $369,413 for fiscal year 2022. These fees are adjusted annually.

Under certain circumstances, the FDA will waive the application fee for the first human drug application that a small
business, defined as a company with less than 500 employees, including employees of affiliates, submits for review. An
affiliate is defined as a business entity that has a relationship with a second business entity if one business entity controls, or
has the power to control, the other business entity, or a third-party controls, or has the power to control, both entities. In
addition, an application to market a prescription drug product that has received orphan designation is not subject to a
prescription drug user fee unless the application includes an indication for other than the rare disease or condition for which
the drug was designated.

The FDA conducts a preliminary review of an NDA within 60 days of its receipt and informs the sponsor by the 74th
day after the FDA's receipt of the submission to determine whether the application is sufficiently complete to permit
substantive review. The FDA may request additional information rather than accept an NDA for filing. In this event, the
application must be resubmitted with the additional information. The resubmitted application is also subject to review before
the FDA accepts it for filing. Once the submission is accepted for filing, the FDA begins an in-depth substantive review. The
FDA reviews an NDA to determine, among other things, whether a product is safe and effective for its intended use and
whether its manufacturing is cGMP-compliant to assure and preserve the product’s identity, strength, quality and purity. Under
the Prescription Drug User Fee Act (PDUFA), the FDA has agreed to specified performance goals in the review process of
NDAs. Specifically, the FDA has a goal of reviewing most NDAs for new molecular entities within ten months from the date of
filing, and of reviewing most “priority review” NDAs within six months of the filing date. The review process may be extended by
the FDA for three additional months to consider new information or clarification provided by the applicant.

The FDA is required to refer an application for a novel drug to an advisory committee or explain why such referral was
not made. Typically, an advisory committee is a panel of independent experts, including clinicians and other scientific experts,
that reviews, evaluates and provides a recommendation as to whether the application should be approved and under what
conditions. The FDA is not bound by the recommendations of an advisory committee, but it considers such recommendations
carefully when making decisions.
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Before approving an NDA, the FDA typically will inspect the facility or facilities where the product is manufactured.
The FDA will not approve an application unless it determines that the manufacturing processes and facilities are in compliance
with cGMP requirements and adequate to assure consistent production of the product within required specifications.
Additionally, before approving an NDA, the FDA will typically inspect one or more clinical sites to assure compliance with
cGCP. If the FDA determines that the application, manufacturing process or manufacturing facilities are not acceptable, it will
outline the deficiencies in the submission and often will request additional testing or information. Notwithstanding the
submission of any requested additional information, the FDA ultimately may decide that the application does not satisfy the
regulatory criteria for approval.

The FDA also may require submission of a risk evaluation and mitigation strategy (REMS) plan to mitigate any
identified or suspected serious risks. The REMS plan could include medication guides, physician communication plans,
assessment plans, and elements to assure safe use, such as restricted distribution methods, patient registries, or other risk
minimization tools.

The FDA’s Decision on an NDA

On the basis of the FDA's evaluation of the NDA and accompanying information, including the results of the inspection
of the manufacturing facilities and clinical sites, the FDA may issue an approval letter or a complete response letter. An
approval letter authorizes commercial marketing of the product with specific prescribing information for specific indications. A
complete response letter indicates that the review cycle is complete, and the application will not be approved in its present
form. A complete response letter generally outlines the deficiencies in the submission and may require substantial additional
clinical or nonclinical testing or other information in order for the FDA to reconsider the application. If and when those
deficiencies have been addressed to the FDA's satisfaction in a resubmission of the NDA, the FDA will issue an approval
letter. The FDA has committed to reviewing such resubmissions in two or six months of receipt depending on the type of
information included. Even with submission of this additional information, the FDA ultimately may decide that the application
does not satisfy the regulatory criteria for approval.

If the FDA approves a product, it may limit the approved indications for use for the product, require that
contraindications, warnings or precautions be included in the product labeling, require that post-approval studies be conducted
to further assess the drug’s safety after approval, require testing and surveillance programs to monitor the product after
commercialization, or impose other conditions, including distribution restrictions or other risk management mechanisms,
including REMS, which can materially affect the potential market and profitability of the product. After approval, the FDA may
seek to prevent or limit further marketing of a product based on the results of post-market studies or surveillance programs.
Some types of changes to the approved product, such as adding new indications, manufacturing changes and additional
labeling claims, are subject to further testing requirements and FDA review and approval.

Orphan Drug Designation

Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may grant orphan drug designation to a drug intended to treat a rare disease or
condition, which is generally a disease or condition that affects fewer than 200,000 individuals in the United States, or more
than 200,000 individuals in the United States and for which there is no reasonable expectation that the cost of developing and
making available in the United States a drug for this type of disease or condition will be recovered from sales in the United
States for that drug. Orphan drug designation entitles the applicant to incentives such as grant funding towards clinical trial
costs, tax advantages, and waivers of FDA user fees. Orphan drug designation must be requested before submitting an NDA,
and both the drug and the disease or condition must meet certain criteria specified in the Orphan Drug Act and FDA's
implementing regulations at 21 C.F.R. Part 316. The granting of an orphan drug designation does not alter the standard
regulatory requirements and process for obtaining marketing approval.

After the FDA grants orphan drug designation, the identity of the therapeutic agent and its potential orphan use are
disclosed publicly by the FDA. If a product that has orphan drug designation subsequently
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receives the first FDA approval for the disease for which it has such designation, the product is entitled to orphan product
exclusivity, which means that the FDA may not approve any other application to market the same drug for the same indication
for seven years, except in very limited circumstances, such as a showing of clinical superiority to the product with orphan drug
exclusivity or if the FDA finds that the holder of the orphan drug exclusivity has not shown that it can assure the availability of
sufficient quantities of the orphan drug to meet the needs of patients with the disease or condition for which the drug was
designated. Orphan drug exclusivity does not prevent the FDA from approving a different drug for the same disease or
condition, or the same drug for a different disease or condition.

A designated orphan drug may not receive orphan drug exclusivity if it is approved for a use that is broader than the
indication for which it received orphan designation. In addition, orphan drug exclusive marketing rights in the United States
may be lost if the FDA later determines that the request for designation was materially defective or, as noted above, if a
second applicant demonstrates that its product is clinically superior to the approved product with orphan exclusivity or the
manufacturer of the approved product is unable to assure sufficient quantities of the product to meet the needs of patients with
the rare disease or condition.

The scope of the Orphan Drug Act and implementing regulations could be subject to future litigation, which may
impact the orphan drug process for future therapeutics. In January 2023, the FDA published notice that it intends to follow its
longstanding practice in assessing orphan drug candidates, rather than a federal appellate court’s interpretation of the Orphan
Drug Act. The appellate court’s decision broadened the scope of orphan drug exclusivity to the entire disease or condition for
which a therapeutic receives orphan drug designation, even if the drug is only approved for certain uses within that disease or
condition. By contrast, the FDA's traditional interpretation is that exclusivity is specific to the orphan indication for which the
drug was actually approved. As a result, the scope of exclusivity has been narrow and protected only against competition from
the same “use or indication” rather than the broader “disease or condition.” Future litigation could challenge FDA’'s
interpretation of the law.

Expedited Review and Accelerated Approval Programs

A sponsor may seek approval of its product candidate under programs designed to accelerate the FDA's review and
approval of NDAs. For example, Fast Track Designation may be granted to a drug intended for treatment of a serious or life-
threatening disease or condition and data demonstrate its potential to address unmet medical needs for the disease or
condition. Fast Track Designation applies to the combination of the product candidate and the specific indication for which it is
being studied. The sponsor of a Fast Track product candidate has opportunities for more frequent interactions with the
applicable FDA review team during product development and, once an NDA is submitted, the product candidate may be
eligible for priority review. A Fast Track product may also be eligible for rolling review, where the FDA may consider for review
sections of the NDA on a rolling basis before the complete application is submitted, if the sponsor provides a schedule for the
submission of the sections of the NDA, the FDA agrees to accept sections of the NDA and determines that the schedule is
acceptable, and the sponsor pays any required user fees upon submission of the first section of the NDA. .

In addition, the Food and Drug Administration Safety and Innovation Act of 2012 established the Breakthrough
Therapy Designation. A sponsor may seek FDA designation of its product candidate as a breakthrough therapy if the drug is
intended, alone or in combination with one or more other drugs, to treat a serious or life-threatening disease or condition and
preliminary clinical evidence indicates that the drug may demonstrate substantial improvement over existing therapies on one
or more clinically significant endpoints, such as substantial treatment effects observed early in clinical development. The
designation includes all of the Fast Track program features, as well as more intensive FDA interaction and guidance beginning
as early as Phase 1 and an organizational commitment to expedite the development and review of the product candidate,
including involvement of senior managers.
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Any marketing application for a drug submitted to the FDA for approval, including a product candidate with a Fast
Track Designation and/or Breakthrough Therapy Designation, may be eligible for other types of FDA programs intended to
expedite the FDA review and approval process, such as priority review and accelerated approval. NDAs for drugs intended to
treat serious or life-threatening conditions may be eligible for priority review where there is evidence that the product
candidate, if approved, would provide a significant improvement in the safety or effectiveness of the treatment, diagnosis, or
prevention of a serious condition.

The FDA may grant accelerated approval for an NDA if the drug treats a serious or life-threatening condition, provides
a meaningful advantage over available therapies, and demonstrates an effect on either (1) a surrogate endpoint that is
reasonably likely to predict clinical benefit, or (2) on a clinical endpoint that can be measured earlier than irreversible morbidity
or mortality, that is reasonably likely to predict an effect on irreversible morbidity or mortality or other clinical benefit, taking into
account the severity, rarity, or prevalence of the condition and the availability or lack of alternative treatments. Post-marketing
studies or completion of ongoing studies after marketing approval are generally required to verify the drug'’s clinical benefit in
relationship to the surrogate endpoint or ultimate outcome in relationship to the clinical benefit. Products receiving accelerated
approval may be subject to expedited withdrawal procedures if the sponsor fails to conduct the required post-marketing
studies or if such studies fail to verify the predicted clinical benefit. In addition, the FDA currently requires as a condition for
accelerated approval pre-approval of promotional materials, which could adversely impact the timing of the commercial launch
of the product.

Post-approval Requirements

Drugs manufactured or distributed pursuant to FDA approvals are subject to pervasive and continuing regulation by
the FDA, including, among other things, requirements relating to recordkeeping, periodic reporting, product sampling and
distribution, advertising and promotion and reporting of adverse experiences with the product. After approval, most changes to
the approved product, such as adding new indications or other labeling claims, are subject to prior FDA review and approval.
There also are continuing, annual program fee requirements for any marketed products.

In addition, drug manufacturers and other entities involved in the manufacture and distribution of approved drugs are
required to register their establishments with the FDA and state agencies and are subject to periodic unannounced inspections
by the FDA and these state agencies for compliance with cGMP requirements. Changes to the manufacturing process are
strictly regulated and often require prior FDA approval before being implemented. FDA regulations also require investigation
and correction of any deviations from cGMP and impose reporting and documentation requirements upon the sponsor and any
third-party manufacturers that the sponsor may decide to use. Accordingly, manufacturers must continue to expend time,
money, and effort in the area of production and quality control to maintain cGMP compliance.

Once an approval is granted, the FDA may withdraw the approval if compliance with regulatory requirements and
standards is not maintained or if problems occur after the product reaches the market. Later discovery of previously unknown
problems with a product, including adverse events or problems with manufacturing processes of unanticipated severity or
frequency, or failure to comply with regulatory requirements, may result in revisions to the approved labeling to add new safety
information; imposition of post-market studies or clinical trials to assess new safety risks; or imposition of distribution or other
restrictions under a REMS program. Other potential consequences include, among other things:

e restrictions on the marketing or manufacturing of the product, complete withdrawal of the product from the market
or product recalls;

e fines, warning letters or holds on post-approval clinical trials;
e refusal of the FDA to approve pending NDAs or supplements to approved NDAs, or suspension or revocation of

product license approvals;
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e clinical holds on ongoing or planned clinical trials;

e product seizure or detention, or refusal to permit the import or export of products; or

e consent decrees, corporate integrity agreements, debarment or exclusion from federal healthcare programs
e mandated modification of promotional materials and labeling and the issuance of corrective information;

e injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties.

The FDA strictly regulates marketing, labeling, advertising and promotion of products that are placed on the market.
Drugs may be promoted only for the approved indications and in accordance with the provisions of the approved label. The
FDA and other agencies actively enforce the laws and regulations prohibiting the promotion of off-label uses, and a company
that is found to have improperly promoted off-label uses may be subject to significant liability.

In addition, the distribution of prescription pharmaceutical products is subject to the Prescription Drug Marketing Act
(PDMA), which regulates the distribution of drugs and drug samples at the federal level and sets minimum standards for the
registration and regulation of drug distributors by the states. Both the PDMA and state laws limit the distribution of prescription
pharmaceutical product samples and impose requirements to ensure accountability in distribution.

Marketing Exclusivity

Market exclusivity provisions authorized under the FDCA can delay the submission or the approval of certain
marketing applications. The FDCA provides a five-year period of non-patent marketing exclusivity within the United States to
the first applicant to obtain approval of an NDA for a new chemical entity. A drug is a new chemical entity if the FDA has not
previously approved any other new drug containing the same active moiety, which is the molecule or ion responsible for the
action of the drug substance. During the exclusivity period, the FDA may not approve or even accept for review an
abbreviated new drug application (ANDA), or an NDA submitted under Section 505(b)(2) (505(b)(2) NDA), submitted by
another company for another drug based on the same active moiety, regardless of whether the drug is intended for the same
indication as the original innovative drug or for another indication, where the applicant does not own or have a legal right of
reference to all the data required for approval. However, an application may be submitted after four years if it contains a
certification of patent invalidity or non-infringement to one of the patents listed with the FDA by the innovator NDA holder.

The FDCA alternatively provides three years of marketing exclusivity for an NDA, or supplement to an existing NDA if
new clinical investigations, other than bioavailability studies, that were conducted or sponsored by the applicant are deemed
by the FDA to be essential to the approval of the application, for example new indications, dosages or strengths of an existing
drug. This three-year exclusivity covers only the modification for which the drug received approval on the basis of the new
clinical investigations and does not prohibit the FDA from approving ANDAs or 505(b)(2) NDAs for drugs containing the active
agent for the original indication or condition of use. Five-year and three-year exclusivity will not delay the submission or
approval of a full NDA. However, an applicant submitting a full NDA would be required to conduct or obtain a right of reference
to any preclinical studies and adequate and well-controlled clinical trials necessary to demonstrate safety and effectiveness.

Pediatric exclusivity is another type of marketing exclusivity available in the United States. Pediatric exclusivity
provides for an additional six months of marketing exclusivity attached to another period of exclusivity if a sponsor conducts
clinical trials in children in response to a written request from the FDA. The issuance of a written request does not require the
sponsor to undertake the described clinical trials. In
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addition, orphan drug exclusivity, as described above, may offer a seven-year period of marketing exclusivity, except in certain
circumstances.

FDA Approval and Regulation of Companion Diagnostics

If safe and effective use of a drug candidate depends on an in vitro diagnostic, then the FDA generally will require
approval or clearance of that diagnostic, known as a companion diagnostic, at the same time that the FDA approves the
therapeutic product. In prior final guidance, FDA clarified the requirements that will apply to approval of therapeutic products
and in vitro companion diagnostics. If FDA determines that a companion diagnostic device is essential to the safe and
effective use of a novel therapeutic product or indication, FDA generally will not approve the drug or new indication if the
companion diagnostic device is not approved or cleared for that indication. Approval or clearance of the companion diagnostic
device will ensure that the device has been adequately evaluated and has adequate performance characteristics in the
intended population. The review of in vitro companion diagnostics in conjunction with the review of our product candidates will,
therefore, likely involve coordination of review by the FDA’s Center for Drug Evaluation and Research and the FDA’s Center
for Devices and Radiological Health Office of In Vitro Diagnostics and Radiological Health.

Under the FDCA, in vitro diagnostics, including companion diagnostics, are regulated as medical devices. In the
United States, the FDCA and its implementing regulations, and other federal and state statutes and regulations govern, among
other things, medical device design and development, preclinical and clinical testing, premarket clearance or approval,
registration and listing, manufacturing, labeling, storage, advertising and promotion, sales and distribution, export and import,
and post-market surveillance. Unless an exemption applies, diagnostic tests require marketing clearance or approval from the
FDA prior to commercial distribution. The two primary types of FDA marketing authorization applicable to a medical device are
premarket notification, also called 510(k) clearance, and premarket approval (PMA).

The PMA process, including the gathering of clinical and preclinical data and the submission to and review by the
FDA, can take several years or longer. It involves a rigorous premarket review during which the applicant must prepare and
provide the FDA with reasonable assurance of the device’s safety and effectiveness and information about the device and its
components regarding, among other things, device design, manufacturing, and labeling. PMA applications are subject to an
application fee. In addition, PMAs for certain devices must generally include the results from extensive preclinical and
adequate and well-controlled clinical trials to establish the safety and effectiveness of the device for each indication for which
FDA approval is sought. In particular, for a diagnostic, a PMA application typically requires data regarding analytical and
clinical validation studies. As part of the PMA review, the FDA will typically inspect the manufacturer’s facilities for compliance
with the Quality System Regulation (QSR), which imposes elaborate testing, control, documentation, and other quality
assurance requirements.

PMA approval is not guaranteed, and the FDA may ultimately respond to a PMA submission with a not approvable
determination based on deficiencies in the application and require additional clinical trial or other data that may be expensive
and time -consuming to generate and that can substantially delay approval. If the FDA’s evaluation of the PMA application is
favorable, the FDA typically issues an approvable letter requiring the applicant's agreement to specific conditions, such as
changes in labeling, or specific additional information, such as submission of final labeling, in order to secure final approval of
the PMA. If the FDA's evaluation of the PMA or manufacturing facilities is not favorable, the FDA will deny approval of the
PMA or issue a not approvable letter. A not approvable letter will outline the deficiencies in the application and, where
practical, will identify what is necessary to make the PMA approvable. The FDA may also determine that additional clinical
trials are necessary, in which case the PMA approval may be delayed for several months or years while the trials are
conducted and then the data submitted in an amendment to the PMA. If the FDA concludes that the applicable criteria have
been met, the FDA will issue a PMA for the approved indications, which can be more limited than those originally sought by
the applicant. The PMA can include post-approval conditions that the FDA believes necessary to ensure the safety and
effectiveness of the device, including, among other things, restrictions on labeling, promotion, sale and distribution. Once
granted, PMA approval
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may be withdrawn by the FDA if compliance with post approval requirements, conditions of approval or other regulatory
standards are not maintained or problems are identified following initial marketing.

After a device is placed on the market, it remains subject to significant regulatory requirements. Medical devices may
be marketed only for the uses and indications for which they are cleared or approved. Device manufacturers must also
establish registration and device listings with the FDA. A medical device manufacturer's manufacturing processes and those of
its suppliers are required to comply with the applicable portions of the QSR, which cover the methods and documentation of
the design, testing, production, processes, controls, quality assurance, labeling, packaging and shipping of medical devices.
Domestic facility records and manufacturing processes are subject to periodic unscheduled inspections by the FDA. The FDA
also may inspect foreign facilities that export products to the United States.

Review and Approval of Drug Products in the European Union

In order to market any pharmaceutical product outside of the United States, a company must also comply with
numerous and varying regulatory requirements of other countries and jurisdictions governing, among other things, research
and development, testing, manufacturing, quality control, safety, efficacy, clinical trials, marketing authorization, packaging,
storage, record keeping, reporting, export and import, advertising and other promotional practices involving pharmaceutical
products, as well as commercial sales, distribution and post-approval monitoring and reporting of our products. Whether or not
it obtains FDA approval for a pharmaceutical product, the company would need to obtain the necessary approvals by the
comparable foreign regulatory authorities before it can commence clinical trials or marketing of the pharmaceutical product in
those countries or jurisdictions. The approval process ultimately varies between countries and jurisdictions and can involve
additional product testing and additional administrative review periods, as evidenced by the preliminary feedback from the
EMA on the design of our planned Phase 3 liposarcoma trial. The time required to obtain approval in other countries and
jurisdictions might differ from and be longer and far more difficult than that required to obtain FDA approval. Regulatory
approval in one country or jurisdiction does not ensure regulatory approval in another, but a failure or delay in obtaining
regulatory approval in one country or jurisdiction may negatively impact the regulatory process in others.

The United Kingdom (UK) formally left the European Union (EU) on January 31, 2020 and the transition period, during
which EU laws continued to apply to the UK, expired on December 31, 2020. This means EU laws now only apply to the UK in
respect of Northern Ireland as laid out in the Protocol on Ireland and Northern Ireland. Following the end of the transition
period, the EU and the UK concluded a trade and cooperation agreement (TCA), which applied provisionally from January 1,
2021 and entered into force on May 1, 2021.

The TCA includes provisions affecting the life sciences sector (including on customs and tariffs) but areas for further
discussion between the EU and the UK remain. In addition, there are some specific provisions concerning pharmaceuticals.
These include the mutual recognition of Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP) and issued GMP documents. The TCA does not,
however, contain wholesale mutual recognition of UK and EU pharmaceutical regulations and product standards.

Since January 1, 2021, the EU laws which have been transposed into UK law through secondary legislation continue
to be applicable in the UK as “retained EU law.” As there is no general power to amend these regulations, the UK government
has enacted the Medicines and Medical Devices Act 2021. The purpose of the act is to enable the existing regulatory
frameworks in relation to human medicines, clinical trials of human medicines, veterinary medicines and medical devices to be
updated. The powers under the act may only be exercised in relation to specified matters and must safeguard public health.

Specified provisions of the Medicines and Medical Devices Act 2021 entered into force on February 11, 2021. The
remaining provisions came into effect within two months of February 11, 2021 or will otherwise come into effect as stipulated in
subsequent statutory instruments. The Medicines and Medical Devices Act 2021 supplements the UK Medical Devices
Regulations 2002 (UK Regulations), which are based
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on the EU Medical Devices Directive as amended to reflect the UK’s post-Brexit regulatory regime. Notably, the UK
Regulations do not include any of the revisions that have been made by the EU Medical Devices Regulation (EU) 2017/745,
which, since May 26, 2021, now applies in all EU Member States.

The UK’s Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency (MHRA) conducted a comprehensive consultation
between September and November 2021 on proposals to develop a new UK regime for medical devices in the UK. The
proposals include more closely aligning definitions for medical devices and in vitro medical devices with internationally
recognized definitions and changing the classification of medical devices according to levels or risk. The proposals are
intended to improve patient and public safety and increase the appeal of the UK market. The new regime is planned to come
into force on July 1, 2023, which will align with the date from which the UK is due to stop accepting CE marked medical
devices and require UKCA (UK Conformity Assessed) marking. It is envisaged that, in Northern Ireland, the amended regime
could run in parallel with any existing or future EU rules in accordance with the Protocol on Ireland and Northern Ireland.

Drug Development Process

Clinical trials are studies intended to discover or verify the effects of one or more investigational medicines. The
regulation of clinical trials aims to ensure that the rights, safety and well-being of trial participants are protected and the results
of clinical trials are credible. Regardless of where they are conducted, all clinical trials included in applications for marketing
authorization for human medicines in the EU and Iceland, Norway, and Liechtenstein (together, the European Economic Area
or EEA) must have been carried out in accordance with EU regulations. This means that clinical trials conducted in the EU /
EEA have to comply with EU clinical trial legislation but also that clinical trials conducted outside the EU / EEA have to comply
with ethical principles equivalent to those set out in the EEA, including adhering to international good clinical practice and the
Declaration of Helsinki. The conduct of clinical trials in the EU is governed by the EU Clinical Trials Regulation (EU)

No. 536/2014 (CTR) which entered into force on January 31, 2022. The CTR replaced the Clinical Trials Directive 2001/20/EC
(Clinical Trials Directive) and introduced a complete overhaul of the existing regulation of clinical trials for medicinal products in
the EU.

Under the former regime, which will expire after a transition period of one or three years, respectively, as outlined
below in more detail, before a clinical trial can be initiated it must be approved in each EU Member State in which the clinical
trial is to be conducted. The approval must be obtained from two separate entities: the National Competent Authority (NCA)
and one or more Ethics Committees. The NCA of the EU Member States in which the clinical trial will be conducted must
authorize the conduct of the trial, and the independent Ethics Committee must grant a positive opinion in relation to the
conduct of the clinical trial in the relevant EU Member State before the commencement of the trial. Any substantial changes to
the trial protocol or other information submitted with the clinical trial applications must be submitted to or approved by the
relevant NCA and Ethics Committees. Under the current regime all suspected unexpected serious adverse reactions to the
investigated drug that occur during the clinical trial must be reported to the NCA and to the Ethics Committees of the EU
Member State where they occur.

A more unified procedure applies under the new CTR. A sponsor is able to submit a single application for approval of
a clinical trial through a centralized EU clinical trials portal. One national regulatory authority (the reporting EU Member State
proposed by the applicant) takes the lead in validating and evaluating the application consult and coordinate with the other
concerned Member States. If an application is rejected, it may be amended and resubmitted through the EU clinical trials
portal. If an approval is issued, the sponsor may start the clinical trial in all concerned Member States. However, a concerned
EU Member State may in limited circumstances declare an “opt-out” from an approval and prevent the clinical trial from being
conducted in such Member State. The CTR also aims to streamline and simplify the rules on safety reporting, and introduces
enhanced transparency requirements such as mandatory submission of a summary of the clinical trial results to the EU
Database. The “go live” of these systems and, accordingly, the coming into force of the regulation, took place on January 31,
2022. The CTR foresees a three-year transition period. Member States will work in CTIS immediately after the system has
gone live. Since 31 January 2023, submission of
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initial clinical trial applications via CTIS are mandatory, and by 31 January 2025, all ongoing trials approved under the former
Clinical Trials Directive will need to comply with the CTR and have to be transitioned to CTIS.

Under both the former regime and the new CTR, national laws, regulations, and the applicable Good Clinical Practice
(GCP) and Good Laboratory Practice standards must also be respected during the conduct of the trials, including the
International Council for Harmonization of Technical Requirements for Pharmaceuticals for Human Use (ICH) guidelines on
Good Clinical Practice and the ethical principles that have their origin in the Declaration of Helsinki.

During the development of a medicinal product, the European Medicines Agency (EMA) and national regulators within
the EU provide the opportunity for dialogue and guidance on the development program. At the EMA level, this is usually done
in the form of scientific advice, which is given by the Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use (CHMP) on the
recommendation of the Scientific Advice Working Party (SAWP). A fee is incurred with each scientific advice procedure, but is
significantly reduced for designated orphan medicines. Advice from the EMA is typically provided based on questions
concerning, for example, quality (chemistry, manufacturing and controls testing), nonclinical testing and clinical studies, and
pharmacovigilance plans and risk-management programs. Advice is not legally binding with regard to any future Marketing
Authorization Application (MAA) of the product concerned.

Marketing Authorization Procedures

In the EU and EEA, pharmaceutical products may only be placed on the market after obtaining a Marketing
Authorization (MA).

Marketing Authorizations have an initial duration of five years. After these five years, the authorization may be
renewed on the basis of a reevaluation of the risk-benefit balance. Once renewed, the MA is valid for an unlimited period
unless the EC or the national competent authority decides on justified grounds relating to pharmacovigilance, to proceed with
one additional five-year renewal. Applications for renewal must be made to the EMA at least nine months before the five-year
period expires.

Data and Market Exclusivity in the European Union

As in the United States, it may be possible to obtain a period of market and/or data exclusivity in the European Union
that would have the effect of postponing the entry into the marketplace of a competitor’s generic, hybrid or biosimilar product
(even if the pharmaceutical product has already received an MA) and prohibiting another applicant from relying on the MA
holder’s pharmacological, toxicological and clinical data in support of another MA for the purposes of submitting an application,
obtaining MA or placing the product on the market.

New Chemical Entities (NCE) approved in the EU qualify for eight years of data exclusivity upon marketing
authorization and an additional two years of market exclusivity.

An additional non-cumulative one-year period of market exclusivity is possible if during the data exclusivity period (the
first eight years of the 10-year market exclusivity period), the MA holder obtains an authorization for one or more new
therapeutic indications that are deemed to bring a significant clinical benefit compared to existing therapies.

The data exclusivity period begins on the date of the product’s first MA in the EU. After eight years, a generic product
application may be submitted and generic companies may rely on the MA holder’s data. However, a generic product cannot
launch until two years later (or a total of 10 years after the first MA in the EU of the innovator product), or three years later (or a
total of 11 years after the first MA in the EU of the innovator product) if the MA holder obtains MA for a new indication with
significant clinical benefit within the eight-year data exclusivity period. Additionally, another noncumulative one-year period of
data exclusivity can
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be added to the eight years of data exclusivity where an application is made for a new indication for a well-established
substance, provided that significant pre-clinical or clinical studies were carried out in relation to the new indication. Another
year of data exclusivity may be added to the eight years, where a change of classification of a pharmaceutical product has
been authorized on the basis of significant pre-trial tests or clinical trials (when examining an application by another applicant
for or holder of market authorization for a change of classification of the same substance the competent authority will not refer
to the results of those tests or trials for one year after the initial chance was authorized).

Products may not be granted data exclusivity since there is no guarantee that a product will be considered by the
European Union’s regulatory authorities to include a NCE. Even if a compound is considered to be a NCE and the MA
applicant is able to gain the prescribed period of data exclusivity, another company nevertheless could also market another
version of the medicinal product if such company can complete a full MAA with their own complete database of pharmaceutical
tests, preclinical studies and clinical trials and obtain MA of its product.

Orphan Drug Designation and Exclusivity

The criteria for designating an orphan medicinal product in the European Union are similar in principle to those in the
United States. The EMA grants Orphan Drug Designation if the medicinal product is intended for the treatment, prevention or
diagnosis of a disease that is life-threatening or chronically debilitating, affecting not more than five in 10,000 people in the
European Union and for which no satisfactory method of diagnosis, prevention or treatment of the condition concerned can be
authorized, or, if such a method exists, the medicine must be of significant benefit to those affected by the condition
(prevalence criterion). In addition, Orphan Drug Designation can be granted if, for economic reasons, the medicinal product
would be unlikely to be developed without incentives and if there is no other satisfactory method approved in the European
Union of diagnosing, preventing, or treating the condition, or if such a method exists, the proposed medicinal product is a
significant benefit to patients affected by the condition. An application for orphan drug designation (which is not a marketing
authorization, as not all orphan-designated medicines reach the authorization application stage) must be submitted first before
an application for marketing authorization of the medicinal product is submitted. The applicant will receive a fee reduction for
the marketing authorization application if the orphan drug designation has been granted, but not if the designation is still
pending at the time the marketing authorization is submitted, and sponsors must submit an annual report to EMA summarizing
the status of development of the medicine. Orphan drug designation does not convey any advantage in, or shorten the
duration of, the regulatory review and approval process. Designated orphan medicines are eligible for conditional marketing
authorization.

The EMA’s Committee for Orphan Medicinal Products (COMP) reassesses the Orphan Drug Designation of a product
in parallel with the review for a marketing authorization; for a product to benefit from market exclusivity it must maintain its
Orphan Drug Designation at the time of marketing authorization review by the EMA and approval by the EC. Additionally, any
marketing authorization granted for an orphan medicinal product must only cover the therapeutic indication(s) that are covered
by the Orphan Drug Designation. Upon the grant of a marketing authorization, Orphan Drug Designation provides up to
ten years of market exclusivity in the orphan indication.

During this ten-year period, with a limited number of exceptions, the regulatory authorities of the EU Member States
and the EMA may not accept applications for marketing authorization, accept an application to extend an existing marketing
authorization or grant marketing authorization for other similar medicinal products for the same therapeutic indication. A similar
medicinal product is defined as a medicinal product containing a similar active substance or substances as contained in a
currently authorized orphan medicinal product, and which is intended for the same therapeutic indication. An orphan medicinal
product can also obtain an additional two years of market exclusivity for an orphan-designated condition when the results of
specific studies are reflected in the Summary of Product Characteristics (SmPC), addressing the pediatric population and
completed in accordance with a fully compliant Pediatric Investigation Plan (PIP). No
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extension to any supplementary protection certificate can be granted on the basis of pediatric studies for orphan indications.

The 10-year market exclusivity may be reduced to six years if, at the end of the fifth year, it is established that the
product no longer fulfils the criteria for an Orphan Drug Designation, i.e. the condition prevalence or financial returns criteria
under Article 3 of Regulation (EC) No. 141/2000 on orphan medicinal products. When the period of orphan market exclusivity
for an indication ends, the orphan drug designation for that indication expires as well. Orphan exclusivity runs in parallel with
normal rules on data exclusivity and market protection. Additionally, a marketing authorization may be granted to a similar
medicinal product (orphan or not) for the same or overlapping indication subject to certain requirements.

Pediatric Development

In the EU, companies developing a new medicinal product are obligated to study their product in children and must
therefore submit a Pediatric Investigation Plan (PIP) together with a request for agreement to the EMA. The EMA issues a
decision on the PIP based on an opinion of the EMA’s Pediatric Committee (PDCO). Companies must conduct pediatric
clinical trials in accordance with the PIP approved by the EMA, unless a deferral (e.g. until enough information to demonstrate
its effectiveness and safety in adults is available) or waiver (e.g. because the relevant disease or condition occurs only in
adults) has been granted by the EMA. The MAA for the medicinal product must include the results of all pediatric clinical trials
performed and details of all information collected in compliance with the approved PIP, unless a waiver or a deferral has been
granted, in which case the pediatric clinical trials may be completed at a later date. Medicinal products that are granted a
marketing authorization (MA) on the basis of the pediatric clinical trials conducted in accordance with the approved PIP are
eligible for a six month extension of the protection under a supplementary protection certificate (if any is in effect at the time of
approval) or, in the case of orphan medicinal products, a two year extension of the orphan market exclusivity is granted. This
pediatric reward is subject to specific conditions and is not automatically available when data in compliance with the approved
PIP are developed and submitted. An approved PIP is also required when a marketing authorization holder wants to add a
new indication, medicinal form or route of administration for a medicine that is already authorized and covered by intellectual
property rights.

Approval and Regulation of Companion Diagnostics

In Europe, in vitro diagnostic medical devices are currently regulated by Regulation (EU) 2017/746 on In-Vitro
Diagnostic Devices (IVDR) which replaced Directive 98/79/EC as of 26 May 2022, following a staggered transition period until
May 2028, depending on the respective product. It regulates the placing on the market, putting into service, the CE-marking,
the essential requirements, the conformity assessment procedures, the registration obligations for manufactures and devices
as well as the vigilance procedure. In vitro diagnostic medical devices must comply with the requirements provided for in the
IVDR, and with further requirements implemented at national level (as the case may be). During the transition period,
manufacturers can opt to place in-vitro diagnostic devices on the market under Directive 98/79/EC or under the new
Regulation if they fully comply with it.

Companion diagnostics can also be considered “combination products” which are governed by a different regulatory
pathway depending on the mode of action of the products. A combination medicine/device product could either be regulated
as a medicinal product or a medical device based on its primary mode of action. In principle, if a medical device incorporates a
substance which, if used separately, is likely to be considered as a medicinal product and act on the human body by an action
ancillary to that of the device, the device must be evaluated and authorized in accordance with the medical device regulations.
However, if the medicinal substance constitutes the main function of the product, then the product is considered as a
medicinal product. Currently, for such combination products, the manufacturer will have to consult, prior to obtaining the CE
marking of the device, the EMA or NCA to obtain scientific advice on the quality and safety of the medicinal substance,
including the benefit/risk profile of its incorporation into the device.
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The regulation of companion diagnostics is subject to further requirements as of the entry into force of the IVDR which
introduced a new classification system for companion diagnostics which are now specifically defined as diagnostic tests that
support the safe and effective use of a specific medicinal product, by identifying patients that are suitable or unsuitable for
treatment. Companion diagnostics have to undergo a conformity assessment by a notified body. Before it can issue a CE
certificate, the notified body must seek a scientific opinion from the EMA on the suitability of the companion diagnostic to the
medicinal product concerned if the medicinal product falls exclusively within the scope of the centralized procedure for the
authorization of medicines, or the medicinal product is already authorized through the centralized procedure, or a marketing
authorization application for the medicinal product has been submitted through the centralized procedure. For other
substances, the notified body can seek the opinion from a NCA or the EMA.

Post-approval Regulation

Similar to the United States, both marketing authorization holders and manufacturers of medicinal products are
subject to comprehensive regulatory oversight by the EMA, the EC and/or the competent regulatory authorities of the EU
Member States. This oversight applies both before and after grant of manufacturing licenses and marketing authorizations. It
includes control of compliance with EU good manufacturing practices rules, manufacturing authorizations, pharmacovigilance
rules and requirements governing advertising, promotion, sale, and distribution, recordkeeping, importing and exporting of
medicinal products.

The holder of an EU marketing authorization for a pharmaceutical product must also comply with EU
pharmacovigilance legislation and its related regulations and guidelines, which entail many requirements for conducting
pharmacovigilance, or the assessment and monitoring of the safety of pharmaceutical products.

Failure by us or by any of our third-party partners, including suppliers, manufacturers and distributors to comply with
EU laws and the related national laws of individual EU Member States governing the conduct of clinical trials, manufacturing
approval, marketing authorization of medicinal products and marketing of such products, both before and after grant of
marketing authorization, manufacturing of pharmaceutical products, statutory health insurance, bribery and anti-corruption or
other applicable regulatory requirements may result in administrative, civil or criminal penalties. These penalties could include
delays or refusal to authorize the conduct of clinical trials or to grant marketing authorization, product withdrawals and recalls,
product seizures, suspension, withdrawal or variation of the marketing authorization, total or partial suspension of production,
distribution, manufacturing or clinical trials, operating restrictions, injunctions, suspension of licenses, fines and criminal
penalties.
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Advertising and Promotion

In the EU, the advertising and promotion of our products is also subject to EU laws concerning promotion of medicinal
products, interactions with physicians, misleading and comparative advertising and unfair commercial practices. In addition,
other national legislation of individual EU Member States may apply to the advertising and promotion of medicinal products and
may differ from one country to another. These laws require that promotional materials and advertising in relation to medicinal
products comply with the product's Summary of Product Characteristics (SmPC) as approved by the competent regulatory
authorities. The SmPC is the document that provides information to physicians concerning the safe and effective use of the
medicinal product. It forms an intrinsic and integral part of the marketing authorization granted for the medicinal product.
Promotion of a medicinal product that does not comply with the SmPC is considered to constitute off-label promotion. All
advertising and promotional activities for the product must be consistent with the approved SmPC and therefore all off-label
promotion is prohibited. Direct-to-consumer advertising of prescription-only medicines is also prohibited in the EU. Violations of
the rules governing the promotion of medicinal products in the European Union could be penalized by administrative
measures, fines and imprisonment. These laws may further limit or restrict the advertising and promotion of our products to the
general public and may also impose limitations on its promotional activities with healthcare professionals. For instance, the
provision of benefits or advantages to physicians to induce or encourage the prescription, recommendation, endorsement,
purchase, supply, order or use of pharmaceutical products is prohibited in the EU. Relationships with healthcare professionals
and associations are subject to stringent anti-gift statutes and anti-bribery laws, the scope of which differs across the EU. In
addition, payments made to physicians in certain EU Member States must be publicly disclosed. Moreover, agreements with
physicians must often be the subject of prior notification and approval by the physician’s employer, his/her regulatory
professional organization, and/or the authorities of the individual EU Member States. Failure to comply with these
requirements could result in reputational risk, public reprimands, administrative penalties, fines or imprisonment.

Pricing and Reimbursement Environment

Even if a pharmaceutical product obtains a marketing authorization in the European Union, there can be no
assurance that reimbursement for such product will be secured on a timely basis or at all. The EU Member States are free to
restrict the range of pharmaceutical products for which their national health insurance systems provide reimbursement, and to
control the prices and reimbursement levels of pharmaceutical products for human use. An EU Member State may approve a
specific price or level of reimbursement for the pharmaceutical product, or alternatively adopt a system of direct or indirect
controls on the profitability of the company responsible for placing the pharmaceutical product on the market, including
volume-based arrangements, caps and reference pricing mechanisms.

Reference pricing used by various EU Member States and parallel distribution, or arbitrage between low-priced and
high-priced Member States, can further reduce prices. In some countries, we may be required to conduct a clinical study or
other studies that compare the cost-effectiveness of our product candidates, if any, to other available therapies in order to
obtain or maintain reimbursement or pricing approval. There can be no assurance that any country that has price controls or
reimbursement limitations for pharmaceutical products will allow favorable reimbursement and pricing arrangements for any of
our products. Historically, pharmaceutical products launched in the European Union do not follow price structures of the
United States and generally published and actual prices tend to be significantly lower. Publication of discounts by third party
payers or authorities and public tenders may lead to further pressure on the prices or reimbursement levels within the country
of publication and other countries.

The so-called health technology assessment (HTA) of pharmaceutical products is becoming an increasingly common
part of the pricing and reimbursement procedures in some EU Member States, including France, Germany, Ireland, Italy and
Sweden. The HTA process, which is governed by the national laws of these countries, is the procedure according to which the
assessment of the public health impact, therapeutic impact, and the economic and societal impact of use of a given
pharmaceutical product in the
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national healthcare systems of the individual country is conducted. HTA generally focuses on the clinical efficacy and
effectiveness, safety, cost, and cost-effectiveness of individual pharmaceutical products as well as their potential implications
for the healthcare system. Those elements of pharmaceutical products are compared with other treatment options available on
the market. The outcome of HTA regarding specific pharmaceutical products will often influence the pricing and
reimbursement status granted to pharmaceutical products by the regulatory authorities of individual EU Member States. A
negative HTA of one of our products by a leading and recognized HTA body could not only undermine our ability to obtain
reimbursement for such product in the EU Member State in which such negative assessment was issued, but also in other EU
Member States. For example, EU Member States that have not yet developed HTA mechanisms could rely to some extent on
the HTA performed in other countries with a developed HTA framework, when adopting decisions concerning the pricing and
reimbursement of a specific pharmaceutical product.

On January 31, 2018, the European Commission adopted a proposal for a regulation on health technology
assessment. This legislative proposal is intended to boost EU level cooperation among EU Member States in assessing health
technologies, including new pharmaceutical products, and providing the basis for cooperation at the EU level for joint clinical
assessments in these areas. The proposal provides that EU Member States will be able to use common HTA tools,
methodologies and procedures across the European Union, working together in four main areas, including joint clinical
assessment of the innovative health technologies with the most potential impact for patients, joint scientific consultations
whereby developers can seek advice from HTA authorities, identification of emerging health technologies to identify promising
technologies early, and continuing voluntary cooperation in other areas. Individual EU Member States will continue to be
responsible for assessing non-clinical (e.g., economic, social, ethical) aspects of health technology, and making decisions on
pricing and reimbursement. While EU Member States could choose to delay participation in the joint work until three years
after the rules enter into force, it will become mandatory after six years. The European Commission has stated that the role of
the HTA regulation is not to influence pricing and reimbursement decisions, but there can be no assurance that the HTA
regulation will not affect such decisions. The HTA entered into force on January 11, 2022 and applies as of January 2025
followed by a further three-year transitional period during which EU Member States must fully adapt to the new system.

To obtain reimbursement or pricing approval in some countries, including the EU Member States, we may be required
to conduct studies that compare the cost-effectiveness of our product candidates to other therapies that are considered the
local standard of care (SOC). There can be no assurance that any country will allow favorable pricing, reimbursement and
market access conditions for any of our products, or that we will be feasible to conduct additional cost-effectiveness studies, if
required.

In certain of the EU Member States, pharmaceutical products that are designated as orphan pharmaceutical products
may be exempted or waived from having to provide certain clinical, cost-effectiveness and other economic data in connection
with their filings for pricing/reimbursement approval.

European Union Data Laws

The collection and use of personal health data and other personal data in the European Union is governed by the
provisions of the European General Data Protection Regulation (EU) 2016/679 (GDPR), which came into force in May 2018,
and related data protection laws in individual EU Member States.

The GDPR imposes a number of strict obligations and restrictions on the ability to process (processing includes
collecting, analyzing and transferring) personal data of individuals, in particular with respect to health data from clinical trials
and adverse event reporting. The GDPR includes requirements relating to the legal basis of the processing (such as consent of
the individuals to whom the personal data relates), the information provided to the individuals prior to processing their personal
data, the notification obligations to the national data protection authorities, and the security and confidentiality of the personal
data. EU Member States may also impose additional requirements in relation to health, genetic and biometric data through
their national legislation.
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In addition, the GDPR imposes specific restrictions on the transfer of personal data to countries outside of the
European Union /EEA that are not considered by the European Commission to provide an adequate level of data protection
(including the United States). Appropriate safeguards are required to enable such transfers. Among the appropriate
safeguards that can be used, the data exporter may use the standard contractual clauses (SCCs), issued by the European
Commission. In this respect, recent legal developments in Europe have created complexity and compliance uncertainty
regarding certain transfers of personal data from the EU/EEA. For example, following the Schrems Il decision of the Court of
Justice of the European Union on July 16, 2020, in which the Court invalidated the Privacy Shield under which personal data
could be transferred from the EU/EEA to United States entities who had self-certified under the Privacy Shield scheme, there
is uncertainty as to the general permissibility of international data transfers under the GDPR. The Court did not invalidate the
then-current SCCs, but ruled that data exporters relying on these SCCs are required to verify, on a case-by-case basis, if the
law of the third country ensures an adequate level of data protection that is essentially equivalent to that guaranteed in the
EU/EEA. In light of the implications of this decision, we may face difficulties regarding the transfer of personal data from the
European Union/EEA to third countries. In 2021 the EU Commission issued a new set of SCCs. Since December 27, 2022,
only the incorporation of the new set of SCCs ensures that the transfer is subject to appropriate safeguards. When relying on
SCCs, the data exporters are also required to conduct a transfer risk assessment to verify if anything in the law and/or
practices of the third country may impinge on the effectiveness of the SCCs in the context of the transfer at stake and, if so, to
identify and adopt supplementary measures that are necessary to bring the level of protection of the data transferred to the EU
standard of essential equivalence. Where no supplementary measure is suitable, the data exporter should avoid, suspend or
terminate the transfer. On June 18, 2021, the European Data Protection Board adopted recommendations to assist data
exporters with such assessment and their duty to identify and implement supplementary measures where they are needed to
ensure compliance with the EU level of protection to the personal data they transfer to third countries. On March 25, 2022, the
EC and the United States announced that they have agreed in principle on a new Trans-Atlantic Data Privacy Framework.
Following this statement, President Biden signed an Executive Order on ‘Enhancing Safeguards for United States Signals
Intelligence Activities’ on October 7, 2022. Along with the regulations issued by the Attorney General, the Executive Order
implements into U.S. law the agreement in principle announced in March 2022. On that basis, the EC prepared a draft
adequacy decision and launched its adoption procedure. While this new EU-US privacy framework is expected to enter into
force in 2023, there is still some uncertainty around the new framework.

In the event of a personal data breach, the GDPR also requires us, as a controller, to notify the competent supervisory
authorities and/or the affected data subjects. Such notification must be issued without undue delay, where feasible, not later
than 72 hours after having become aware of the data breach. The notification obligation exists regardless of whether the
processing is carried out on our or our vendors’ systems. The only exception where such notification may be omitted is if the
personal data breach is unlikely to result in a risk to the rights and freedoms of natural persons. In addition to the disruptions to
our business and impact to our reputation that any such breach of security could cause, we may be subject to regulatory fines,
class actions, or other costly measures if there is a personal data breach on our or our vendors’ systems. Furthermore, under
the GDPR, when we act as a processor, we must notify the relevant controller without undue delay after become aware of a
personal data breach.

Failure to comply with the requirements of the GDPR and the related national data protection laws of the EU Member
States may result in significant monetary fines for noncompliance of up to €20 million or 4% of the annual global revenues of
the noncompliant company, whichever is greater, other administrative penalties and a number of criminal offenses (punishable
by uncapped fines) for organizations and, in certain cases, their directors and officers, as well as civil liability claims from
individuals whose personal data was processed. Data protection authorities from the different EU Member States may still
implement certain variations, enforce the GDPR and national data protection laws differently, and introduce additional national
regulations and guidelines, which adds to the complexity of processing personal data in the European Union. Guidance
developed at both EU level and at the national level in individual EU Member States concerning implementation and
compliance practices are often updated or otherwise revised.
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There is, moreover, a growing trend towards required public disclosure of clinical trial data in the European Union
which adds to the complexity of obligations relating to processing health data from clinical trials. Such public disclosure
obligations are provided in the new EU Clinical Trials Regulation, EMA disclosure initiatives and voluntary commitments by
industry. Failing to comply with these obligations could lead to government enforcement actions and significant penalties
against us, harm to our reputation, and adversely impact our business and operating results. The uncertainty regarding the
interplay between different regulatory frameworks, such as the Clinical Trials Regulation and the GDPR, further adds to the
complexity that we face with regard to data protection regulation.

With regard to the transfer of data from the European Union to the United Kingdom on June 28, 2021, the European
Commission adopted two adequacy decisions for the United Kingdom — one under the GDPR and the other for the Law
Enforcement Directive. Personal data may now freely flow from the European Union to the United Kingdom since the United
Kingdom is deemed to have an adequate data protection level. Additionally, following the UK’s withdrawal from the European
Union and the EEA, companies also have to comply with the UK’s data protection laws (including the UK GDPR, which is
based on the EU GDPR), the latter regime having the ability to separately fine up to the greater of £17.5 million or 4% of global
turnover. The adequacy decisions include a ‘sunset clause’ which entails that the decisions will automatically expire four years
after their entry into force. Furthermore, transfers from the UK to other countries, including the EEA, are subject to specific
transfer rules under the UK regime. These UK transfer rules broadly mirror the EU GDPR rules. On March 25, 2022, the
international data transfer agreement, (IDTA), the international data transfer addendum to the EC’s standard contractual
clauses for international data transfers (Addendum), and a document setting out transitional provisions came into force and
replaced the old EU SCCs. However, the transitional provisions, adopted with the IDTA and the Addendum, allow the
continued use, until March 21, 2024, of any EU SCCs, valid as at December 31, 2020, so long as the contract was entered
into before September 21, 2022.

New Legislation and Regulations

From time to time, legislation is drafted, introduced and passed in the European Union, its Member States and other
states of Europe that could significantly change the statutory provisions governing the testing, approval, manufacturing,
marketing, coverage and reimbursement of pharmaceutical products. In addition to new legislation, pharmaceutical regulations
and policies are often revised or interpreted by the EMA and national agencies in ways that may significantly affect our
business and our products.

U.S. Pharmaceutical Coverage, Pricing and Reimbursement

Significant uncertainty exists as to the coverage and reimbursement status of products approved by the FDA and
other government authorities. Sales of products will depend, in part, on the extent to which the costs of the products will be
covered by third-party payors, including government health programs such as, in the United States, Medicare and Medicaid,
commercial health insurers and managed care organizations. The process for determining whether a payor will provide
coverage for a product may be separate from the process for setting the price or reimbursement rate that the payor will pay for
the product once coverage is approved. Third-party payors may limit coverage to specific products on an approved list, or
formulary, which might not include all of the approved products for a particular indication.

In order to secure coverage and reimbursement for any product that might be approved for sale, a company may need
to conduct expensive pharmacoeconomic studies in order to demonstrate the medical necessity and cost-effectiveness of the
product, in addition to the costs required to obtain FDA or other comparable regulatory approvals. A payor's decision to provide
coverage for a drug product does not necessarily imply that an adequate reimbursement rate will be approved. Third-party
reimbursement may not be sufficient to maintain price levels high enough to realize an appropriate return on our investment in
product development.
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The containment of healthcare costs has become a priority of federal, state and foreign governments, and the prices
of drugs have been a focus in this effort. Third-party payors are increasingly challenging the prices charged for medical
products and services and examining the medical necessity and cost-effectiveness of medical products and services, in
addition to their safety and efficacy. If these third-party payors do not consider a product to be cost effective compared to other
available therapies, they may not cover the product after approval as a benefit under their plans or, if they do, the level of
payment may not be sufficient to allow a company to sell its products at a profit. Even if favorable coverage and
reimbursement status is attained for one or more products that receive regulatory approval, less favorable coverage policies
and reimbursement rates may be implemented in the future.

The U.S. government and state legislatures have shown significant interest in implementing cost containment
programs to limit the growth of government-paid health care costs, including price controls, risk sharing, restrictions on
reimbursement and requirements for substitution of generic products for branded prescription drugs. Adoption of such controls
and measures and tightening of restrictive policies in jurisdictions with existing controls and measures, could limit payments
for pharmaceuticals. As a result, the marketability of any product which receives regulatory approval for commercial sale may
suffer if the government and third-party payors fail to provide adequate coverage and reimbursement.

U.S. Healthcare Reform

In the United States, there have been, and we expect there will continue to be, a number of legislative and regulatory
changes to the healthcare system. In addition, an increasing emphasis on managed care in the United States has increased
and will continue to increase the pressure on drug pricing. Coverage policies, third-party reimbursement rates and drug pricing
regulation may change at any time.

In particular, the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 (IRA) contains provisions intended to lower beneficiary drug
spending. Beginning in 2023, the IRA enables Medicare to negotiate prescription drug prices with manufacturers of certain
high-cost drugs for the first time. A separate provision requires drug manufacturers to pay rebates to Medicare if their drug
prices increase faster than the rate of inflation (the so-called inflation rebate provision). Additionally, effective in 2024, IRA will
eliminate 5% coinsurance for catastrophic coverage under Medicare Part D; in 2025, the IRA will cap beneficiary annual out-
of-pocket expenditure at $2,000. These efforts to reduce aggregate beneficiary spending are expected to shift some costs to
drug manufacturers.

States have also become increasingly active in implementing regulations designed to control pharmaceutical product
pricing, including price or patient reimbursement constraints, discounts, restrictions on certain product access and marketing
cost disclosure and transparency measures and, in some cases, mechanisms to encourage importation from other countries
and bulk purchasing. Furthermore, there has been increased interest by third party payors and governmental authorities in
reference pricing systems and publication of discounts and list prices.

Healthcare Laws and Regulations

Healthcare providers, physicians and third-party payors will play a primary role in the recommendation and
prescription of drug products that are granted marketing approval. Arrangements with healthcare providers, physicians, third-
party payors and customers are subject to broadly applicable fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and regulations that
may constrain the business or financial arrangements and relationships through which we market, sell and distribute products
for which we obtain marketing approval. Restrictions under applicable federal and state healthcare laws and regulations,
include the following:

o the federal healthcare Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits, among other things, persons from soliciting, offering,

receiving or providing any remuneration (in cash or in kind), directly or indirectly, to induce or reward either the
referral of an individual for, or the purchase, lease, order
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or recommendation of, any item, facility or service for which payment may be made in whole or in part under a
federal healthcare program such as Medicare and Medicaid;

e the federal Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or FCPA, prohibits, among other things, U.S. corporations and persons
acting on their behalf from offering, promising, authorizing or making payments to any foreign government official
(including certain healthcare professionals in many countries), political party, or political candidate in an attempt to
obtain or retain business or otherwise seek preferential treatment abroad;

e the federal False Claims Act, which may be enforced by the U.S. Department of Justice or private whistleblowers
to bring civil actions (qui tam actions) on behalf of the federal government, imposes civil penalties, as well as
liability for treble damages and for attorneys’ fees and costs, on individuals or entities for knowingly presenting, or
causing to be presented, to the federal government, claims for payment that are false or fraudulent, making a false
statement material to a false or fraudulent claim, or improperly avoiding, decreasing, or concealing an obligation
to pay money to the federal government. In addition, the government may assert that a claim including items or
services resulting from a violation of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for
purposes of the civil False Claims Act;

e the Department of Health and Human Services’ Civil Monetary Penalties authorities, which imposes administrative
sanctions for, among other things, presenting or causing to be presented false claims for government payment
and providing remuneration to government health program beneficiaries to influence them to order or receive
healthcare items or services;

e the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, imposes criminal and civil
liability for, among other conduct, executing a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program and making
false statements relating to healthcare matters;

e HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act and its
implementing regulations, also imposes criminal and civil liability and penalties on those who violate requirements,
including mandatory contractual terms, intended to safeguard the privacy, security, transmission and use of
individually identifiable health information;

e the federal false statements statute relating to healthcare matters prohibits falsifying, concealing or covering up a
material fact or making any materially false statement in connection with the delivery of or payment for healthcare
benefits, items or services;

e the federal Physician Payment Sunshine Act requires manufacturers of drugs (among other products) to report to
the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services within the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, or
HHS, information related to payments and other transfers of value to various healthcare professionals, including
physicians, physician assistants, nurse practitioners, clinical nurse specialists, certified nurse anesthetists,
certified nurse-midwives, and teaching hospitals; as well as physician ownership and investment interests in the
reporting manufacturers;

e similar state and foreign laws and regulations, such as state anti-kickback and false claims laws, may apply to
sales or marketing arrangements and claims involving healthcare items or services reimbursed by
nongovernmental third-party payors, including private insurers;

e certain state laws require pharmaceutical companies to comply with voluntary compliance guidelines promulgated

by a pharmaceutical industry association and relevant compliance guidance issues by HHS Office of Inspector
General; bar drug manufacturers from offering or
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providing certain types of payments or gifts to physicians and other health care providers; and/or require
disclosure of gifts or payments to physicians and other healthcare providers; and

e Various state and foreign laws also govern the privacy and security of health information in some circumstances;
many of these laws differ from each other in significant ways and often are not preempted by HIPAA, thus
complicating compliance efforts.

Violation of any of such laws or any other governmental regulations that apply may result in penalties, including,
without limitation, civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines, additional reporting obligations, the curtailment or restructuring
of operations, exclusion from participation in governmental healthcare programs and imprisonment.

Competition

The biotechnology industry is characterized by rapidly advancing technologies, intense competition and a strong
emphasis on proprietary products. While we believe that our technology and scientific knowledge provide us with competitive
advantages, we face potential competition from many different sources, including pharmaceutical and biotechnology
companies, ranging in size from early stage to major global companies, academic institutions, government agencies and other
public and private research organizations that conduct research, seek patent protection and establish collaborative
arrangements for the research, development, manufacturing and commercialization of cancer therapies. Any product
candidates that we successfully develop and commercialize will compete with existing therapies and new therapies that may
become available in the future.

We compete in the segments of the pharmaceutical, biotechnology and other related markets that develop cancer
therapies. We focus on the development of precision small molecule therapies for patients with cancers where there is a high
unmet medical need. There are numerous other companies that have commercialized or are developing cancer therapies for
the same or similar targets.

With respect to our lead product candidate, milademetan, there are no approved drugs targeting MDM2. There are
multiple companies testing MDM2 inhibitors and degraders in various stages of development and various indications,
including, Kartos Therapeutics (navtemadlin), Ascentage Pharma (alrizomadlin), Boehringer Ingelheim (BI-907828), Kymera
(KT-253), and others.

Many of the companies against which we are competing or against which we may compete in the future have
significantly greater financial resources and expertise in research and development, manufacturing, preclinical testing,
conducting clinical trials, obtaining regulatory approvals and commercializing and marketing approved drugs than we do.
Mergers and acquisitions in the pharmaceutical, biotechnology and diagnostic industries may result in even more resources
being concentrated among a smaller number of our competitors. Smaller or early-stage companies may also prove to be
significant competitors, particularly through collaborative arrangements with large and established companies. These
competitors also compete with us in recruiting and retaining qualified scientific and management personnel and establishing
clinical trial sites and enrolling subjects for our clinical trials, as well as in acquiring technologies complementary to, or
necessary for, our programs.

We could see a reduction or elimination of our commercial opportunities if our competitors develop and commercialize
products that are safer, more effective, have fewer or less severe side effects, are more convenient to administer, are less
expensive or obtain more favorable reimbursement than any products that we or our collaborators may develop. Our
competitors also may obtain FDA or foreign regulatory approval for their products more rapidly than we may obtain approval
for ours, which could result in our competitors establishing a strong market position before we or our collaborators are able to
enter the market. The key competitive factors affecting the success of all our product candidates, if approved, are likely to be
their efficacy, safety, convenience, price, the effectiveness of companion diagnostics, if required, the level of
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biosimilar or generic competition, and the availability of reimbursement from government and other third-party payors.
Employees and Human Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2022, we had 63 full-time employees, of whom 47 were engaged in research and development
activities and 16 were engaged in general and administrative activities. None of our employees are represented by labor
unions or covered by collective bargaining agreements. We consider our relationship with our employees to be good.
Recruiting and retaining experienced and qualified scientific personnel to perform research and development work now and in
the future will be critical to our business success. We may not be able to attract and retain personnel on acceptable terms
given the competition among pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, academic and research institutions and
government agencies for experienced scientists.

Our values—relentless, energetic, and committed to excellence—guide how we make decisions, and treat each other.
All employees are responsible for upholding these values, the Rain Code of Conduct, and Employee Handbook form the
foundation of our policies and practices and ethical business culture.

Our human capital resources objectives include, as applicable, identifying, recruiting, retaining, incentivizing and
integrating our existing and additional employees.

Inclusion

Diversity and inclusion are instrumental in driving innovation and delivering stronger business growth. Among our 63
full-time employees, 56% are women. Over 20 languages are spoken by our employees and they hail from many countries
around the world.
Compensation and Benefits

We strive to provide pay, benefits, and services that help meet the varying needs of our employees. Our total rewards
package includes market-competitive pay, broad-based stock grants and bonuses, an employee stock purchase plan,
healthcare and retirement benefits, paid time off and family leave, and flexible work schedules.

Growth and Development

We are dedicated to helping each employee take charge to lead, and to grow professionally and personally. Through
our regular self-evaluation, goal setting and performance review, employees can voice learning and development experiences.

Health and Safety

We are committed to providing a safe and healthy work environment for our employees, and all other individuals
working on our behalf.

Environmental Matters
We are committed to operating our business in a manner that protects the environment as much as possible, and are

further committed to compliance with all applicable environmental laws, regulations, and industry best practices, such as those
that affect hazardous waste disposal, emissions, and water purity.
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Name Change

On December 30, 2022, we changed our name from Rain Therapeutics Inc. to Rain Oncology Inc. to better reflect our
focus on addressing unmet needs for cancer patients through precision oncology.

Corporate Information

We were incorporated in the State of Delaware on April 6, 2017. Our corporate offices are located at 8000 Jarvis
Avenue, Suite 204, Newark, California 94560 and our telephone number is (510) 953-5559. Our website address is
www.rainoncology.com. Information contained on or accessible through our website is not a part of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K, and the inclusion of our website address in this Annual Report on Form 10-K is an inactive textual reference only.

We file electronically with the SEC our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current
Reports on Form 8-K, proxy statements and any amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act). We make available on our website at
www.rainoncology.com, under “Investors,” free of charge, copies of these reports as soon as reasonably practicable after filing
or furnishing these reports with the SEC. The reports that we file or furnished to SEC can be obtained electronically by means
of the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov.

Implications of Being an Emerging Growth Company and a Smaller Reporting Company

We are an emerging growth company, as defined in Section 2(a) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
Securities Act), as modified by the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the JOBS Act), and we may take advantage
of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging
growth companies, including relief from the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
as amended, less extensive disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our registration statements, periodic
reports and proxy statements, exemptions from the requirements to hold a nonbinding advisory vote on executive
compensation, and exemptions from stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. We
may also elect to take advantage of other reduced reporting requirements in future filings. As a result, our stockholders may
not have access to certain information that they may deem important and the information that we provide to our stockholders
may be different than, and not comparable to, information presented by other public reporting companies. We could remain an
emerging growth company until the earlier of (1) the last day of the year following the fifth anniversary of the completion of our
initial public offering (IPO), (2) the last day of the year in which we have total annual gross revenue of at least $1.235 billion,
(3) the last day of the year in which we are deemed to be a “large accelerated filer” as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the
Exchange Act, which would occur if the market value of our common stock held by non-affiliates exceeded $700.0 million as of
the last business day of the second fiscal quarter of such year or (4) the date on which we have issued more than $1.0 billion
in non-convertible debt securities during the prior three-year period.

In addition, the JOBS Act also provides that an emerging growth company may take advantage of the extended
transition period provided in the Securities Act for complying with new or revised accounting standards. An emerging growth
company may therefore delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to
private companies. We have elected to avail ourselves of this exemption and, as a result, will not be subject to the same
implementation timing for new or revised accounting standards as are required of other public companies that are not
emerging growth companies, which may make comparison of our financial information to those of other public companies more
difficult.

We are also a smaller reporting company, as defined in the Exchange Act. We may continue to be a smaller reporting

company even after we are no longer an emerging growth company. We may take advantage of certain of the scaled
disclosures available to smaller reporting companies and will be able to
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take advantage of these scaled disclosures for so long as (i) our voting and non-voting common stock held by non-affiliates is
less than $250.0 million measured on the last business day of our second fiscal quarter or (i) our annual revenue is less than
$100.0 million during the most recently completed fiscal year and our voting and non-voting common stock held by non-
affiliates is less than $700.0 million measured on the last business day of our second fiscal quarter.

Item 1A. RISK FACTORS.

Investing in our common stock involves significant risks. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties
described below, together with all of the other information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our audited financial statements and related
notes, and other filings we have made and make in the future with the Securities and Exchange Commission. If any of the
following risks are realized, our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects could be materially and
adversely affected. In such case, the trading price of our common stock would likely decline, and you may lose all or part of
your investment. Below is a summary of some of the risks we face. We caution you that the risks, uncertainties and other
factors referred to below and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K may not contain all of the risks, uncertainties and
other factors that may affect our future results and operations. Moreover, new risks will emerge from time to time. It is not
possible for our management to predict all risks.

Risk Factor Summary

An investment in our common stock involves significant risks. You should carefully consider the risks and
uncertainties described below before making a decision to invest in our common stock. If we are unable to successfully
address these risks and uncertainties, our business, financial condition, results of operations, or prospects could be materially
adversely affected. In such case, the trading price of our common stock would likely decline, and you may lose all or part of
your investment. Below is a summary of some of the risks we face.

e We have a limited operating history, and have no products approved for commercial sale, which may make it
difficult for you to evaluate our current business and likelihood of success and viability.

e We have incurred significant losses since inception, and we expect to incur significant losses for the foreseeable
future and may not be able to achieve or sustain profitability in the future. We have not generated any revenue
from our product candidates and may never generate revenue or become profitable.

e If we are unable to raise such capital when needed, or on acceptable terms, we may be forced to delay, reduce
and/or eliminate one or more of development programs or future commercialization efforts.

e Our future growth depends on our ability to identify and acquire or in-license products.

e \We are substantially dependent on the success of our lead product candidate, milademetan, and our anticipated
clinical trials of milademetan may not be successful.

e We may find it difficult to enroll patients in our clinical trials given the relatively small patient populations with the
indications for which our product candidates are being developed.

e The results of our preclinical testing and early clinical trials may not be predictive of the success of our later

clinical trials, and the results of our clinical trials may not satisfy the requirements of the FDA or other comparable
foreign regulatory authorities.
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e \We face substantial competition, which may result in others discovering, developing, licensing or commercializing
products before or more successfully than we do.

e The regulatory approval processes of the FDA and other comparable foreign regulatory authorities are lengthy,
time-consuming and inherently unpredictable.

e We currently rely, and plan to rely in the future, on third parties to conduct and support our preclinical studies and
clinical trials.

e We currently rely and expect to rely in the future on the use of manufacturing suites in third-party facilities or on
third parties to manufacture our product candidates, and we may rely on third parties to produce and process our
products, if approved.

e We may, in the future, form or seek collaborations or strategic alliances or enter into licensing arrangements, and
we may not realize the benefits of such collaborations, alliances or licensing arrangements.

e Our ability to protect our patents and other proprietary rights is uncertain, exposing us to the possible loss of
competitive advantage.

e \We may be subject to patent infringement claims or may need to file claims to protect our intellectual property,
which could result in substantial costs and liability and prevent us from commercializing our potential products.

e \We license patent rights from third-party owners and we rely on such owners to obtain, maintain and enforce the
patents underlying such licenses.

Risks Related to Our Limited Operating History, Business, Financial Condition, Results of Operations and Need for
Additional Capital

We have a limited operating history, and have no products approved for commercial sale, which may make it difficult
for you to evaluate our current business and likelihood of success and viability.

We are a clinical-stage company with limited operating history. Since our inception in 2017, we have incurred
significant operating losses and have utilized substantially all of our resources to date in-licensing and developing our product
candidates, organizing and staffing our company and providing other general and administrative support for our operations.
We have no significant experience as a company in initiating, conducting or completing clinical trials, including global late-
stage clinical trials. In particular, Daiichi Sankyo conducted the Phase 1 trial for our lead product candidate, RAIN-32, prior to
our in-license of milademetan in September 2020. In part because of this lack of significant experience, we cannot be certain
that our planned clinical trials will begin or be completed on time, if at all. In addition, we have not yet demonstrated an ability
to obtain marketing approvals, manufacture a commercial-scale product or arrange for a third party to do so on our behalf, or
conduct sales, marketing and distribution activities necessary for successful product commercialization. Consequently, any
predictions you make about our future success or viability may not be as accurate as they could be if we had a longer
operating history. Further, we may encounter unexpected expenses, challenges and complications from known and unknown
factors.
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We have incurred significant losses since inception, and we expect to incur significant losses for the foreseeable
future and may not be able to achieve or sustain profitability in the future. We have not generated any revenue from
our product candidates and may never generate revenue or become profitable.

Investment in biopharmaceutical product development is a highly speculative undertaking and entails substantial
upfront capital expenditures and significant risks that any product candidate will fail to demonstrate adequate efficacy or an
acceptable safety profile, gain regulatory approval and become commercially viable. We have no products approved for
commercial sale, we have not generated any revenue from product sales to date, and we continue to incur significant research
and development and other expenses related to our ongoing operations. We do not expect to generate product revenue
unless or until we successfully complete preclinical and clinical development and obtain regulatory approval of, and then
successfully commercialize, at least one product candidate. We may never succeed in these activities and, even if we do, may
never generate revenues that are significant or large enough to achieve profitability. If we are unable to generate sufficient
revenue through the sale of our current product candidates or any future product candidates, we may be unable to continue
operations without additional funding.

We have incurred significant net losses in each period since we commenced operations in April 2017. Our net losses
were $75.7 million and $51.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. We expect to continue to
incur significant losses for the foreseeable future. Our failure to become profitable would decrease the value of our company
and could impair our ability to raise capital, maintain our research and development efforts, expand our business and/or
continue our operations. A decline in the value of our company could also cause you to lose all or part of your investment.

We will require substantial additional capital to finance our operations in the future. If we are unable to raise such
capital when needed, or on acceptable terms, we may be forced to delay, reduce and/or eliminate one or more of
development programs or future commercialization efforts.

Developing biopharmaceutical products is a very long, time-consuming, expensive and uncertain process that
takes years to complete. We expect our expenses to increase in connection with our ongoing activities, particularly as we
conduct clinical trials of, and seek marketing approval for milademetan, and advance our other product candidates and future
product candidates. Even if one or more of the product candidates that we develop is approved for commercial sale, we
anticipate incurring significant costs associated with sales, marketing, manufacturing and distribution activities to launch any
such product. Our expenses could increase beyond expectations if we are required by the FDA or other regulatory agencies to
perform preclinical studies or clinical trials in addition to those that we currently anticipate or if our clinical trials take longer
than expected to complete. Because the design and outcome of our planned and anticipated clinical trials are highly uncertain,
we cannot reasonably estimate the actual amount of funding that will be necessary to successfully complete the development
and commercialization of any product candidate we develop. Our future capital requirements depend on many factors,
including factors that are not within our control. We will also incur additional costs associated with operating as a public
company. Accordingly, we will require substantial additional funding to continue our operations. Based on our current operating
plan, we believe that our existing cash, cash equivalents and short-term marketable securities, will be sufficient to fund our
operations for at least the next twelve months following the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This estimate is based
on assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and we could use our available capital resources sooner than we currently
expect.

We do not have any committed external sources of funds other than as a result of any sales that we may make
pursuant to the Sales Agreement for our ATM Facility and adequate additional financing may not be available to us on
acceptable terms, or at all. We may be required to seek additional funds sooner than planned through public or private equity
offerings, debt financings, collaborations and licensing arrangements or other sources. Such financing may dilute our
stockholders or the failure to obtain such financing may restrict our operating activities. To the extent that we raise additional
capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, your ownership interest will be diluted, and the terms may
include liquidation or
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other preferences and anti-dilution protections that adversely affect your rights as a stockholder. Debt financing may result in
imposition of debt covenants, increased fixed payment obligations or other restrictions that may affect our business. If we raise
additional funds through upfront payments or milestone payments pursuant to future collaborations with third parties, we may
have to relinquish valuable rights to our product candidates or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to us. Our ability
to raise additional capital may be adversely impacted by potential worsening global macroeconomic conditions and the
disruptions to and volatility in the credit and financial markets in the United States and worldwide. Our failure to raise capital as
and when needed or on acceptable terms would have a negative impact on our financial condition and our ability to pursue our
business strategy, and we may have to delay, reduce the scope of, suspend or eliminate one or more of our research-stage
programs, clinical trials or future commercialization efforts.

Our future growth depends on our ability to identify and acquire or in-license products.

We have in-licensed the rights to all of our current product candidates from third parties who conducted the initial
development of each product candidate. An important part of our business strategy is to continue to develop a pipeline of
product candidates by acquiring or in-licensing products, businesses or technologies. Future in-licenses or acquisitions,
however, may entail numerous operational and financial risks. In addition, we may compete with competitors in pursuing these
in-licensing opportunities and such competitors may have access to greater financial resources than us and may have greater
experience in identifying and evaluating new opportunities.

If we breach any of the agreements under which we license rights to our product candidates from others, we could
lose the ability to develop and commercialize our product candidates.

In September 2020, we entered into a worldwide, exclusive license agreement with Daiichi Sankyo relating to
milademetan for all human prophylactic or therapeutic uses. Because we have in-licensed the rights to milademetan from
Daiichi Sankyo, if there is any dispute between us and Daiichi Sankyo regarding our rights under the license agreement, our
ability to develop and commercialize our product candidate may be adversely affected. Any uncured, material breach under
the license agreement could result in our loss of exclusive rights to the product candidate and may lead to a complete
termination of our product development efforts for such product candidate.

Due to the significant resources required for the development of our product candidates, we must prioritize
development of certain product candidates and/or the pursuit of treatments for certain indications. We may expend
our limited resources to pursue a particular product candidate or indication and fail to capitalize on product
candidates or indications that may be more profitable or for which there is a greater likelihood of success.

We are developing therapies for patients with genetically defined cancers with unmet needs. We apply a tumor-
agnostic development approach to the essential biological pathways and molecular machinery of cancer. Our lead product
candidate, milademetan, is a small molecule, oral inhibitor of MDM2, may be oncogenic in numerous cancers. Our decisions
concerning the allocation of research, development, collaboration, management and financial resources toward particular
product candidates or indications may not lead to the development of any viable commercial product and may divert resources
away from better opportunities with other product candidates or for other indications that later prove to have greater
commercial potential or a greater likelihood of success. For example, we are deprioritizing the Phase 2 MANTRA-3 trial in
Merkel cell carcinoma as an area of focus due to our continued effort to rationalize use of capital in the current market
environment.

In addition, even if milademetan receives marketing approval, it may not achieve commercial success, including as a
result of the gravity of the patients’ illnesses in our target market. The primary endpoint for the pivotal Phase 3 trial for
milademetan that we commenced in DDLPS (MANTRA) is progression-free survival (PFS) evaluated by Response Evaluation
Criteria in Solid Tumors. Even if the primary endpoint of such trial is met and milademetan demonstrates meaningful increases
in PFS, there is no
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guarantee that such increases in PFS will lead to the market acceptance or commercial success of milademetan, if approved.
If we do not accurately evaluate the commercial potential or target market for a particular product candidate, we may
relinquish valuable rights to that product candidate through future collaboration, licensing or other royalty arrangements in
cases in which it would have been more advantageous for us to retain sole development and commercialization rights. We
may make incorrect determinations regarding the viability or market potential of any of our programs or product candidates or
misread trends in our industry.

Risks Related to Product Development

We are substantially dependent on the success of our lead product candidate, milademetan, and our anticipated
clinical trials of milademetan may not be successful.

Our future success is substantially dependent on our ability to timely obtain marketing approval for, and then
successfully commercialize, milademetan, our lead product candidate. We are investing a majority of our efforts and financial
resources into the research and development of milademetan. We announced the completion of enroliment into our MANTRA
Phase 3 randomized, global, registrational trial of our lead product candidate, milademetan, an oral, small molecule inhibitor of
the MDM2-p53 complex that reactivates p53 in August 2022. We anticipate topline data from our MANTRA Phase 3 trial in the
second quarter of 2023. We announced preliminary data in the multicenter, single arm, open-label, Phase 2 basket trial
evaluating milademetan, an MDM2 inhibitor, for the treatment of MDM2-amplified advanced solid tumors (our MANTRA-2 trial)
in November 2022, We also expect to commence a Phase 1/2 MANTRA-4 clinical trial to evaluate the safety, tolerability and
efficacy of milademetan in combination with atezolizumab in patients with loss of CDKN2A and wildtype p53 advanced solid
tumors in mid-2023.

Milademetan will require additional clinical development, evaluation of clinical, preclinical and manufacturing activities,
marketing approval in multiple jurisdictions, substantial investment and significant marketing efforts before we generate any
revenues from product sales. We are not permitted to market or promote milademetan, or any other product candidates,
before we receive marketing approval from the FDA and comparable foreign regulatory authorities, and we may never receive
such marketing approvals.

The success of milademetan will depend on a variety of factors. We do not have complete control over many of these
factors, including certain aspects of clinical development and the regulatory submission process, potential threats to our
intellectual property rights and the manufacturing, marketing, distribution and sales efforts of any future collaborator.
Accordingly, we cannot assure you that we will ever be able to generate revenue through the sale of milademetan, even if
approved. If we are not successful in commercializing milademetan, or are significantly delayed in doing so, our business will
be materially harmed.

We may find it difficult to enroll patients in our clinical trials given the relatively small patient populations with the
indications for which our product candidates are being developed. If we experience delays or difficulties in the
enrollment of patients in clinical trials, including failure to develop or use existing companion diagnostic tests, our
successful completion of clinical trials or receipt of marketing approvals could be delayed or prevented.

We may not be able to initiate or continue clinical trials for our product candidates if we are unable to locate and enroll
a sufficient number of eligible patients to participate in these trials. Because our product candidates are focused on indications
with relatively small patient populations, our ability to enroll eligible patients in our clinical trials may be limited or may result in
slower enroliment than we anticipate. Moreover, because specific genetic mutations will be used to identify the appropriate
patients for our programs and our current or future product candidates, successful enroliment of eligible patients to these trials
may depend, in part, on our ability to use existing companion diagnostic tests and genetic sequencing, or to develop novel
companion diagnostics in collaboration with partners. Patient enroliment may be affected by various factors, including if our
competitors have ongoing clinical trials for product candidates that are under development for the same indications as our
product candidates, and patients instead enroll in such other clinical trials. In
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addition, we have clinical trial sites in Russia, Georgia and surrounding countries, which may be impacted by the current
situation with Ukraine and Russia and could result in difficulties enrolling or completing our clinical trials on schedule. Our
inability to enroll a sufficient number of patients or a delay in enrolling such patients, could result in significant delays in
completing clinical trials, increased development costs, or a delay or inability to receive marketing approvals and may require
us to abandon one or more clinical trials altogether.

The results of our preclinical testing and early clinical trials may not be predictive of the success of our later clinical
trials, and the results of any of our clinical trials may not satisfy the requirements of the FDA or other comparable
foreign regulatory authorities.

We will be required to demonstrate with substantial evidence through well-controlled clinical trials that our product
candidates are safe and effective before we can seek marketing approvals for their commercial sale. Demonstrations of
efficacy or an acceptable safety profile in our prior preclinical studies does not mean that future clinical trials will yield the
same results. For instance, we do not know whether milademetan will perform in future clinical trials as milademetan has
performed in preclinical studies and early clinical trials conducted by Daiichi Sankyo, and, despite decades of research on p53
as a target for precision medicines, prior product development efforts have been unsuccessful. Product candidates, including
milademetan, may fail to demonstrate in later-stage clinical trials sufficient safety and efficacy to the satisfaction of the FDA
and other comparable foreign regulatory authorities despite having progressed through preclinical studies and earlier stage
clinical trials. Regulatory authorities may also limit the scope of later-stage trials until we have demonstrated satisfactory safety
or efficacy results in preclinical studies or earlier-stage trials, which could prevent us from conducting the clinical trials we
currently anticipate. For example, our open-label Phase 2 basket trial evaluating milademetan across solid tumors in patients
with pre-specified MDM2 amplification levels may not meet the primary endpoint of an objective response rate as measured by
RECIST criteria. We may not meet the secondary endpoints, including duration of response, disease control rate progression-
free survival by investigator assessment, overall survival, and growth modulation index. Even if we are able to initiate our
planned clinical trials on schedule, there is no guarantee that we will be able to complete such trials on the timelines we
anticipate, that such trials will produce positive results, or that positive results will result in FDA approval or the commercial
sale of any product candidate. Any limitation on our ability to conduct clinical trials could delay or prevent regulatory approval
or limit the size of the patient population to which we may market our product candidates, if approved.

Preclinical and clinical development involves a lengthy and expensive process with uncertain outcomes, and results
of earlier studies and trials may not be predictive of future clinical trial results. If our preclinical studies and clinical
trials are not sufficient to support regulatory approval of any of our product candidates, we may incur additional
costs or experience delays in completing, or ultimately be unable to complete, the development of such product
candidates.

Before obtaining marketing approval from regulatory authorities for the sale of any product candidate, we must
complete preclinical studies and then conduct extensive clinical trials to demonstrate the safety and efficacy of our product
candidates in humans. Our clinical trials may not be conducted as planned or completed on schedule, if at all, and a failure of
one or more clinical trials can occur at any stage of testing. The outcome of preclinical studies and early-stage clinical trials
may not be predictive of the success of later clinical trials. In particular, we initiated a pivotal Phase 3 trial for milademetan in
DDLPS patients (MANTRA) in July 2021. Although data from DDLPS patients in our Phase 1 clinical trial demonstrated
median PFS approximately three to four times greater than the current SOC, the efficacy of the SOC in prior preclinical
studies does not mean that future clinical trials will yield the same results. Unexpectedly favorable results of the SOC in our
MANTRA trial could lead to unfavorable comparisons to milademetan. Moreover, preclinical and clinical data are often
susceptible to varying interpretations and analyses, and many companies that have believed their product candidates
performed satisfactorily in preclinical studies and clinical trials have nonetheless failed to obtain marketing approval of their
product candidates.

We cannot guarantee that any clinical trials will be initiated or conducted as planned or completed on schedule, if at
all. We also cannot be sure that submission of an investigational new drug application (IND) or
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similar application will result in the FDA or other regulatory authority, as applicable, allowing clinical trials to begin in a timely
manner, if at all. Moreover, even if these trials begin, issues may arise that could cause regulatory authorities to suspend or
terminate such clinical trials. Events that may prevent successful or timely initiation or completion of clinical trials include:
inability to generate sufficient preclinical, toxicology or other in vivo or in vitro data to support the initiation or continuation of
clinical trials; delays in reaching a consensus with regulatory authorities on study design or implementation of the clinical
trials; delays or failure in obtaining regulatory authorization to commence a trial; delays in reaching agreement on acceptable
terms with prospective CROs and clinical trial sites, the terms of which can be subject to extensive negotiation and may vary
significantly among different CROs and clinical trial sites; delays in identifying, recruiting and training suitable clinical
investigators; delays in obtaining required institutional review board (IRB) approval at each clinical trial site; delays in
manufacturing, testing, releasing, validating or importing/exporting sufficient stable quantities of our product candidates for use
in clinical trials or the inability to do any of the foregoing; failure by our CROs, other third parties or us to adhere to clinical trial
protocols; failure to perform in accordance with the FDA's or any other regulatory authority’s good clinical practice
requirements (GCPs) or applicable regulatory guidelines in other countries; changes to the clinical trial protocols; clinical sites
deviating from trial protocol or dropping out of a trial; changes in regulatory requirements and guidance that require amending
or submitting new clinical protocols; selection of clinical endpoints that require prolonged periods of observation or analyses of
resulting data; transfer of manufacturing processes to larger-scale facilities operated by a contract manufacturing organization
(CMO) and delays or failure by our CMOs or us to make any necessary changes to such manufacturing process; and third
parties being unwilling or unable to satisfy their contractual obligations to us.

We could also encounter delays if a clinical trial is suspended or terminated by us, by the IRBs of the institutions in
which such clinical trials are being conducted, by the Data Safety Monitoring Board, if any, for such clinical trial or by the FDA
or other regulatory authorities. Such authorities may suspend or terminate a clinical trial due to a number of factors, including
failure to conduct the clinical trial in accordance with regulatory requirements or our clinical trial protocols, inspection of the
clinical trial operations or trial site by the FDA or other regulatory authorities resulting in the imposition of a clinical hold,
unforeseen safety issues or adverse side effects, failure to demonstrate a benefit from the product candidates, changes in
governmental regulations or administrative actions or lack of adequate funding to continue the clinical trial. If we are required
to conduct additional clinical trials or other testing of our product candidates beyond those that we currently contemplate, if we
are unable to successfully complete clinical trials of our product candidates, if the results of these trials are not positive or are
only moderately positive or if there are safety concerns, our business and results of operations may be adversely affected, and
we may incur significant additional costs.

Preliminary, “topline” or interim data from our clinical trials that we announce or publish from time to time may
change as more patient data become available and are subject to audit and verification procedures.

From time to time, we may publicly disclose preliminary or topline data from our preclinical studies and clinical trials,
which are based on a preliminary analysis of then-available data, and the results and related findings and conclusions are
subject to change following a more comprehensive review of the data. We also make assumptions, estimations, calculations
and conclusions as part of our analyses of these data without the opportunity to fully and carefully evaluate complete data. As
a result, the preliminary or top-line results that we report may differ from future results of the same studies, or different
conclusions or considerations may qualify such results once additional data have been received and fully evaluated or
subsequently made subject to audit and verification procedures. Any preliminary or top-line data should be viewed with caution
until the final data are available. From time to time, we may also disclose interim data from our preclinical studies and clinical
trials. Interim data are subject to the risk that one or more of the clinical outcomes may materially change as patient enroliment
continues and more patient data become available or as patients from our clinical trials continue other treatments. Further,
others, including regulatory agencies, may not accept or agree with our assumptions, estimates, calculations, conclusions or
analyses or may interpret or weigh the importance of data differently, which could impact the value of the particular
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program, the approvability or commercialization of the particular product candidate and our company in general. In addition,
the information we choose to publicly disclose regarding a particular preclinical study or clinical trial is based on what is
typically extensive information, and you or others may not agree with what we determine is material or otherwise appropriate
information to include in our disclosure. If the preliminary, top-line or interim data that we report differ from actual results, or if
others, including regulatory authorities, disagree with the conclusions reached, our ability to obtain approval for, and
commercialize, our product candidates may be harmed, which could harm our business, operating results, prospects or
financial condition.

We plan to pursue the development of milademetan in combination with other approved therapeutics. If the FDA
revokes approval of any such therapeutic, or if safety, efficacy, manufacturing, or supply issues arise with any
therapeutic that we use in combination with milademetan in the future, we may be unable to further develop and/or
market our product candidate or we may experience significant regulatory delays or supply shortages, and our
business could be materially and adversely affected.

We plan to pursue the development of our product candidate in combination with other approved therapeutics.
Specifically, we anticipate commencing a Phase 1/2 basket trial to evaluate milademetan in combination with atezolizumab
(MANTRA-4). We have not developed or obtained regulatory approval for, nor will we manufacture or sell, atezolizumab or any
other approved therapeutics. In addition, this combinations has not been previously tested and may, among other things, fail to
demonstrate synergistic activity, may fail to achieve superior outcomes relative to the use of single agents or other
combination therapies, may exacerbate adverse events associated with milademetan when used as monotherapy, or may fail
to demonstrate sufficient safety or efficacy traits in clinical trials to enable us to complete those clinical trials or obtain
marketing approval for the combination therapy.

If the FDA revokes its approval of any combination therapeutic, we would not be able to continue clinical development of
or market any product candidate in combination with such revoked therapeutic. If safety or efficacy issues were to arise with
any therapeutics that we seek to combine with, we could experience significant regulatory delays, and the FDA could require
us to redesign or terminate the applicable clinical trials. In addition, we may need, for supply, data referencing, or other
purposes, to collaborate or otherwise engage with the companies who market these approved therapeutics. If we are unable to
do so on a timely basis, on acceptable terms, or at all, we may have to curtail the development of a product candidate or
indication, reduce or delay its development program, delay its potential commercialization or reduce the scope of any sales or
marketing activities.

A variety of risks associated with marketing our product candidates internationally may materially adversely affect
our business.

We plan to eventually seek regulatory approval of our product candidates outside of the United States and,
accordingly, we expect that we will be subject to additional risks related to operating in foreign countries and meeting differing
regulatory requirements in foreign countries. Risks associated with international operations may materially adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

We face substantial competition, which may result in others discovering, developing, licensing or commercializing
products before or more successfully than we do.

We face substantial competition from major pharmaceutical companies and biotechnology companies worldwide.
Many of our competitors have significantly greater financial, technical and human resources. Smaller and early-stage
companies may also prove to be significant competitors, particularly through collaborative arrangements with large and
established companies. As a result, our competitors may discover, develop, license or commercialize products before or more
successfully than we do.

In particular, we are aware of molecules that are being explored for p53 upregulation and activation of mutant p53 in
various stages of clinical development by Actavalon, Aprea Therapeutics, CDG Therapeutics,
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Cotinga Pharmaceuticals, Innovation Pharmaceuticals, PMV Pharmaceuticals and Senhwa Biosciences, among others. We
are also aware of selective small molecule inhibitors that are designed to target WT p53 containing tumors through the p53-
MDM2 interaction, which are in various stages of clinical development by Ascentage Pharma, Boehringer Ingelheim, Kartos
Therapeutics, Novartis, and Roche, including testing MDMZ2 inhibitors in combination with a variety of other anti-cancer
agents.

We face competition with respect to our current product candidates and will face competition with respect to any future
product candidates from segments of the pharmaceutical, biotechnology and other related industries that pursue targeted
therapies for patients with genetically defined cancers. If milademetan or our future product candidates do not offer
sustainable advantages over competing products, we may otherwise not be able to successfully compete against current and
future competitors.

Our competitors may obtain regulatory approval of their products more rapidly than we may or may obtain patent
protection or other intellectual property rights that limit our ability to develop or commercialize our product candidates. Our
competitors may also develop drugs that are more effective, more convenient, more widely used and less costly or have a
better safety profile than our products and these competitors may also be more successful than us in manufacturing and
marketing their products. In addition, we will likely need to develop our product candidates in collaboration with companion
diagnostic companies, and we will face competition from other companies in establishing these future collaborations.

Furthermore, we also face competition more broadly across the market for existing cost-effective and reimbursable
cancer treatments. Our product candidates, if any are approved, may compete with these existing drug and other therapies but
may not be competitive with them in price. We expect that if our product candidates are approved, they will be priced at a
significant premium over competitive generic, including branded generic, products. As a result, obtaining market acceptance
of, and gaining significant share of the market for, any of our product candidates that we successfully introduce to the market
will pose challenges.

Our product candidates may cause significant adverse events, toxicities or other undesirable side effects that may
result in a safety profile that could prevent regulatory approval, marketing approval or market acceptance, or limit
their commercial potential.

If our product candidates are associated with undesirable side effects or have unexpected characteristics in preclinical
studies or clinical trials when used alone or in combination with other approved products or INDs, we may need to interrupt,
delay or abandon their development or limit development to more narrow uses or subpopulations in which the undesirable side
effects or other characteristics are less prevalent, less severe or more acceptable from a risk-benefit perspective. Treatment-
related side effects could also affect patient recruitment or the ability of enrolled patients to complete the trial or result in
potential product liability claims. Any of these occurrences may prevent us from achieving or maintaining market acceptance of
the affected product candidate and may adversely affect our business, financial condition and prospects significantly.

In general, the anticipated clinical trials of milademetan will include cancer patients who are very sick and whose
health is deteriorating, and we expect that additional clinical trials of milademetan and our other product candidates will include
similar patients with deteriorating health. A number of patients in milademetan trials have experienced adverse events,
including blood and lymphatic disorders and gastrointestinal disorders.

The inclusion of critically ill patients in our clinical trials may result in deaths or other adverse medical events due to
other therapies or medications that such patients may be using or due to the gravity of such patients’ illnesses. For example, it
is expected that many of the patients enrolled in our milademetan clinical trials will die or experience major clinical events
either during the course of our clinical trials or after participating in such trials. Such outcomes may make it more difficult for us
to identify a clinical benefit in our targeted patient populations, and could ultimately prevent us from obtaining regulatory
approval for milademetan in such critically ill populations, including DDLPS. Additionally, such adverse events or deaths in
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clinical trials involving our product candidates, even if not ultimately attributable to our product or product candidates, could
result in increased government regulation, unfavorable public perception and publicity, potential regulatory delays in the
testing or licensing of our product candidates, stricter labeling requirements for those product candidates that are licensed and
a decrease in demand for any such product candidates.

Additionally, if one or more of our product candidates receives marketing approval and we or others later identify
undesirable side effects or adverse events caused by such products, a number of potentially significant negative
consequences could result. For example, regulatory authorities may suspend, limit or withdraw approvals of such product or
seek an injunction against its manufacture or distribution, require additional warnings on the label, including “boxed” warnings,
or issue safety alerts, require press releases or other communications containing warnings or other safety information about
the product, require us to change the way the product is administered or conduct additional clinical trials or post-approval
studies, require us to create a risk evaluation and mitigation strategy (REMS) which could include a medication guide outlining
the risks of such side effects for distribution to patients, impose fines, injunctions or criminal penalties. We could also be sued
and held liable for harm caused to patients, and our reputation may suffer. Any of these events could prevent us from
achieving or maintaining market acceptance of the particular product candidate, if approved, and could seriously harm our
business.

Risks Related to Regulatory Process and Other Legal Compliance Matters

The regulatory approval processes of the FDA and other comparable foreign regulatory authorities are lengthy, time-
consuming and inherently unpredictable. If we are not able to obtain, or if there are delays in obtaining, required
regulatory approvals for our product candidates, we will not be able to commercialize, or will be delayed in
commercializing, our product candidates, and our ability to generate revenue will be materially impaired.

The process of obtaining regulatory approvals, both in the United States and abroad, is unpredictable, expensive and
typically takes many years following commencement of clinical trials, if approval is obtained at all, and can vary substantially
based upon a variety of factors, including the type, complexity and novelty of the product candidates involved. We cannot
commercialize product candidates in the United States without first obtaining regulatory approval from the FDA. Similarly, we
cannot commercialize product candidates outside of the United States without obtaining regulatory approval from comparable
foreign regulatory authorities. Before obtaining regulatory approvals for the commercial sale of our product candidates,
including our lead product candidate milademetan, we must demonstrate through lengthy, complex and expensive preclinical
studies and clinical trials that our product candidates are both safe and effective for each targeted indication. Securing
regulatory approval also requires the submission of information about the drug manufacturing process to, and inspection of
manufacturing facilities by, the relevant regulatory authority. Further, our product candidates may not be effective, may be only
moderately effective or may prove to have undesirable or unintended side effects, toxicities or other characteristics that may
preclude our obtaining marketing approval. The FDA and comparable foreign regulatory authorities have substantial discretion
in the approval process and may refuse to accept any application or may decide that our data are insufficient for approval and
require additional preclinical, clinical or other data. Our product candidates could be delayed in receiving, or fail to receive,
regulatory approval for many reasons, including: the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may disagree with the
design or implementation of our clinical trials; we may be unable to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the FDA or comparable
foreign regulatory authorities that a product candidate is safe and effective for its proposed indication; the results of clinical
trials may not meet the level of statistical significance required by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities for
approval; serious and unexpected drug-related side effects may be experienced by participants in our clinical trials or by
individuals using drugs similar to our product candidates; we may be unable to demonstrate that a product candidate’s clinical
and other benefits outweigh its safety risks; the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may disagree with our
interpretation of data from preclinical studies or clinical trials; the data collected from clinical trials of our product candidates
may not be acceptable or sufficient to support the submission of an NDA or other submission or to obtain regulatory approval
in the United States or elsewhere, and we may be required to conduct additional clinical trials; the FDA or the
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applicable foreign regulatory authority may disagree regarding the formulation, labeling and/or the specifications of our product
candidates; the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may fail to approve the manufacturing processes or facilities
of third-party manufacturers with which we contract for clinical and commercial supplies; and the approval policies or
regulations of the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may significantly change in a manner rendering our clinical
data insufficient for approval. Thus, the approval requirements for our product candidates are likely to vary by jurisdiction such
that success in one jurisdiction is not necessarily predicative of success elsewhere.

Of the large number of drugs in development, only a small percentage successfully complete the FDA or foreign
regulatory approval processes and are commercialized. The lengthy approval process as well as the unpredictability of future
clinical trial results may result in our failing to obtain regulatory approval to market our product candidates, which would
significantly harm our business, results of operations and prospects.

If we were to obtain approval, regulatory authorities may approve any of our product candidates for fewer or more
limited indications than we request, including failing to approve the most commercially promising indications, may grant
approval contingent on the performance of costly post-marketing clinical trials, or may approve a product candidate with a
label that does not include the labeling claims necessary or desirable for the successful commercialization of that product
candidate. If we are not able to obtain, or if there are delays in obtaining, required regulatory approvals for our product
candidates, we will not be able to commercialize, or will be delayed in commercializing, our product candidates and our ability
to generate revenue will be materially impaired.

If we are required by the FDA to obtain approval of a companion diagnostic test in connection with approval of any
of our product candidates and we fail to obtain or face delays in obtaining FDA approval of a diagnostic device, we
could be delayed or may not be able to commercialize such product candidate and our ability to generate revenue
will be materially impaired.

If safe and effective use of any of our product candidates depends on an in vitro diagnostic that is not otherwise
commercially available, then the FDA generally will require approval or clearance of that diagnostic, known as a companion
diagnostic, at the same time that the FDA approves our product candidates, if at all. Companion diagnostics are developed in
conjunction with clinical programs for the associated product and are subject to regulation as medical devices by the FDA and
comparable regulatory authorities, and, to date, the FDA has required premarket approval of all companion diagnostics for
cancer therapies, such as those we are developing. The approval of a companion diagnostic as part of the therapeutic
product’s labeling limits the use of the therapeutic product to only those patients who express the specific genetic alteration
that the companion diagnostic was developed to detect.

According to FDA guidance, if the FDA determines that a companion diagnostic device is essential to the safe and
effective use of a novel therapeutic product or indication, the FDA generally will not approve the therapeutic product or new
therapeutic product indication if the companion diagnostic is not also approved or cleared for that indication. If a satisfactory
companion diagnostic is not commercially available, we may be required to develop or obtain one that would be subject to
regulatory approval requirements. The process of obtaining or creating such diagnostics is time-consuming and costly. If the
FDA or a comparable foreign regulatory authority requires approval of a companion diagnostic for any of our product
candidates, whether before or after it obtains marketing approval, we, and/or future collaborators, may encounter difficulties in
developing and obtaining approval for such product candidate. Any delay or failure by us or third-party collaborators to develop
or obtain regulatory approval of a companion diagnostic could delay or prevent approval or continued marketing of such
product candidate. We may also experience delays in developing a sustainable, reproducible and scalable manufacturing
process for the companion diagnostic or in transferring that process to commercial partners or negotiating insurance
reimbursement plans, all of which may prevent us from completing our clinical trials or commercializing our product
candidates, if approved, on a timely or profitable basis, if at all.
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We may seek orphan drug designation for our product candidates, but we may be unable to obtain such designation
or to obtain or maintain the benefits associated with orphan drug designation, including market exclusivity, which
may cause our product revenue, if any, to be reduced.

We have obtained orphan drug designation in the United States for milademetan for the treatment of LPS and we may
seek additional orphan drug designations for milademetan or our other product candidates; however, we may never receive
such designations. See the section titled “Business—Government Regulation—Review and Approval of Drugs in the United
States—Orphan Drug Designation” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Exclusive marketing rights in the United States may be unavailable if we or our collaborators seek approval for an
indication broader than the orphan designated indication and may be lost if the FDA later determines that the request for
designation was materially defective. Even if we obtain orphan drug designation, we may not be the first to obtain marketing
approval for any particular orphan indication due to the uncertainties associated with developing pharmaceutical products.
Further, even if we obtain orphan drug exclusivity for a product candidate, that exclusivity may not effectively protect the
product from competition because different drugs can be approved for the same condition. Even after an orphan drug is
approved, the FDA can subsequently approve the same drug for the same condition if the FDA concludes that the later drug
is clinically superior in that it is safer, is more effective, or makes a major contribution to patient care. Orphan drug designation
neither shortens the development time or regulatory review time of a drug nor gives the drug any advantage in the regulatory
review or approval process.

Even if we receive regulatory approval of our product candidates, we will be subject to extensive ongoing regulatory
obligations and continued regulatory review, which may result in significant additional expense and we may be
subject to penalties if we fail to comply with regulatory requirements or experience unanticipated problems with our
product candidates.

Any regulatory approvals that we may receive for our product candidates will require the submission of reports to
regulatory authorities and surveillance to monitor the safety and efficacy of the product candidate, may contain significant
limitations related to use restrictions for specified age groups, warnings, precautions or contraindications, and may include
burdensome post-approval study or risk management requirements. For example, the FDA may require a REMS in order to
approve our product candidates, which could entail requirements for a medication guide, physician training and
communication plans or additional elements to ensure safe use, such as restricted distribution methods, patient registries and
other risk minimization tools. In addition, if the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities approve our product
candidates, our product candidates and the activities associated with their development and commercialization, including their
design, testing, manufacture, safety, efficacy, recordkeeping, labeling, storage, approval, advertising, promotion, sale,
distribution, import and export will be subject to comprehensive regulation by the FDA and other regulatory agencies in the
United States and by comparable foreign regulatory authorities. These requirements include submissions of safety and other
post-marketing information and reports, registration, as well as on-going compliance with current good manufacturing practices
(cGMPs) and GCPs for any clinical trials that we conduct following approval. In addition, manufacturers of drug products and
their facilities are subject to continual review and periodic, unannounced inspections by the FDA and other regulatory
authorities for compliance with cGMPs.

If we or a regulatory authority discover previously unknown problems with a product, such as adverse events of
unanticipated severity or frequency, or problems with the facilities where the product is manufactured, a regulatory authority
may impose restrictions on that product, the manufacturing facility or us, including requiring recall or withdrawal of the product
from the market or suspension of manufacturing. restrictions on our ability to conduct clinical trials, including full or partial
clinical holds on ongoing or planned trials, restrictions on the manufacturing process, warning or untitled letters, civil and
criminal penalties, injunctions, product seizures, detentions or import bans, voluntary or mandatory publicity requirements and
imposition of restrictions on operations, including costly new manufacturing requirements. The occurrence of any event or
penalty described above may inhibit our ability to commercialize our product candidates and
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generate revenue and could require us to expend significant time and resources in response and could generate negative
publicity.

Even if we are able to commercialize any product candidates, due to unfavorable pricing regulations and/or third-
party coverage and reimbursement policies, we may not be able to offer such products at competitive prices which
would seriously harm our business.

Our ability to successfully commercialize any products that we may develop also will depend in part on the extent to
which reimbursement for these products and related treatments will be available from government health administration
authorities, private health insurers and other organizations. Government authorities and other third-party payors, such as
private health insurers and health maintenance organizations, decide which medications they will pay for and establish
reimbursement levels. Government authorities and other third-party payors have attempted to control costs by limiting
coverage and the amount of reimbursement for particular medications. See the sections titled “Business—Government
Regulation—Review and Approval of Drug Products in the European Union” “Business—Government Regulation—Review
and Approval of Drug Products in the United States” and “Business—Government Regulation—U.S. Healthcare Reform” in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The FDA and other regulatory agencies actively enforce the laws and regulations prohibiting the promotion of off-
label uses and any infraction could subject us to liability.

If any of our product candidates are approved and we are found to have improperly promoted off-label uses of those
products, we may become subject to significant liability. See the section titled “Business—Government Regulation—Review
and Approval of Drugs in the United States—Post-approval Requirements” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. If we do not
appropriately manage the promotion of our product candidates, if approved, we could become subject to significant liability,
which would materially adversely affect our business and financial condition.

Our employees, independent contractors, consultants, commercial collaborators, principal investigators, CROs,
suppliers and vendors may engage in misconduct or other improper activities, including noncompliance with
regulatory standards and requirements.

We are exposed to the risk that our employees, independent contractors, consultants, commercial collaborators,
principal investigators, CROs, suppliers and vendors acting for or on our behalf may engage in misconduct or other improper
activities. We have adopted a code of conduct, but it is not always possible to identify and deter misconduct by these parties
and the precautions we take to detect and prevent this activity may not be effective in controlling unknown or unmanaged risks
or losses or in protecting us from governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure to comply
with these laws or regulations.

Our business operations and current and future arrangements with investigators, healthcare professionals,
consultants, third-party payors, patient organizations and customers will be subject to applicable healthcare
regulatory laws, which could expose us to penalties.

Our business operations and current and future arrangements with investigators, healthcare professionals,
consultants, third-party payors, patient organizations and customers may expose us to broadly applicable fraud and abuse and
other healthcare laws and regulations. These laws may constrain the business or financial arrangements and relationships
through which we conduct our operations, including how we research, market, sell and distribute our product candidates, if
approved. See the section titled “Business—Government Regulation—Healthcare Laws and Regulations” in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K for a more detailed description of the laws that may affect our ability to operate.

Ensuring that our internal operations and future business arrangements with third parties comply with applicable
healthcare laws and regulations will involve substantial costs. If our operations, including certain
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arrangements we have with physicians who are compensated in the form of stock or stock options for services provided to us,
are found to be in violation of any of these laws or any other governmental laws and regulations that may apply to us, we may
be subject to significant penalties, including civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, fines, exclusion from
government-funded healthcare programs, integrity oversight and reporting obligations to resolve allegations of non-
compliance, disgorgement, individual imprisonment, contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and the
curtailment or restructuring of our operations. Further, defending against any such actions can be costly and time-consuming
and may require significant personnel resources. Therefore, even if we are successful in defending against any such actions
that may be brought against us, our business may be impaired.

If we fail to comply with environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, we could become subject to fines or
penalties or incur costs that could have a material adverse effect on the success of our business.

We are subject to numerous environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, including those governing
laboratory procedures and the handling, use, storage, treatment and disposal of hazardous materials and wastes. Our
operations may involve the use of hazardous and flammable materials, including chemicals and biological and radioactive
materials. In addition, we may incur substantial costs in order to comply with current or future environmental, health and safety
laws and regulations. These current or future laws and regulations may impair our research, development or
commercialization efforts. Failure to comply with these laws and regulations also may result in substantial fines, penalties or
other sanctions.

Current and future legislation may increase the difficulty and cost for us, and any collaborators, to obtain marketing
approval of and commercialize our drug candidates and affect the prices we, or they, may obtain.

Heightened governmental scrutiny over the manner in which manufacturers set prices for their marketed products has
resulted in several recent Congressional inquiries and proposed and enacted federal and state legislation designed to, among
other things, bring more transparency to product pricing, review the relationship between pricing and manufacturer patient
programs, and reform government program reimbursement methodologies for products. We expect that additional state and
federal healthcare reform measures will be adopted in the future, particularly in light of the new presidential administration, any
of which could limit the amounts that federal and state governments will pay for healthcare therapies, which could result in
reduced demand for our product candidates or additional pricing pressures. Most recently, on August 16, 2022, President
Biden signed into law the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 (IRA), which, among other provisions, included several measures
intended to lower the cost of prescription drugs and related healthcare reforms. We cannot be sure whether additional
legislation or rulemaking related to the IRA will be issued or enacted, or what impact, if any, such changes will have on the
profitability of any of our drug candidates, if approved for commercial use, in the future.

Risks Related to Employee Matters, Managing Our Growth and Other Risks Related to Our Business

We are highly dependent on our key personnel and anticipate hiring new key personnel. If we are not successful in
attracting and retaining highly qualified personnel, we may not be able to successfully implement our business
strategy.

Our ability to compete in the highly competitive biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries depends upon our ability
to attract and retain highly qualified managerial, scientific and medical personnel. We are highly dependent on our managerial,
scientific and medical personnel, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Scientific Officer. If we do not succeed in
attracting and retaining qualified personnel, it could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations. We could in the future have difficulty attracting and retaining experienced personnel and may be required to
expend significant financial resources in our employee recruitment and retention efforts.
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In order to successfully implement our plans and strategies, we will need to grow the size of our organization and
we may experience difficulties in managing this growth.

We expect to experience significant growth in the number of our employees and the scope of our operations,
particularly in the areas of drug development, clinical operations, regulatory affairs and, potentially, sales and marketing. To
manage our anticipated future growth, we must continue to implement and improve our managerial, operational and financial
systems, expand our facilities and continue to recruit and train additional qualified personnel. We are dependent on our limited
financial resources and the experience of our management team in managing a company with such anticipated growth, and
we may not be able to effectively manage the expansion of our operations or recruit and train additional qualified personnel.

Our internal computer systems, or those of any of our CROs, manufacturers, other contractors or consultants or
potential future collaborators, may fail or suffer security or data privacy breaches or other unauthorized or improper
access to, use of, or destruction of our proprietary or confidential data, employee data or personal data, which could
result in additional costs, loss of revenue, significant liabilities, harm to our brand and material disruption of our
operations.

Despite the implementation of security measures in an effort to protect systems that store our information, given their
size and complexity and the increasing amounts of information maintained on our internal information technology systems and
those of our third-party CROSs, other contractors (including sites performing our clinical trials) and consultants, these systems
are potentially vulnerable to breakdown or other damage or interruption from service interruptions, system malfunction, natural
disasters, terrorism, war and telecommunication and electrical failures, as well as security breaches from inadvertent or
intentional actions by our employees, contractors, consultants, business partners and/or other third parties, or from cyber-
attacks by malicious third parties, which may compromise our system infrastructure or lead to the loss, destruction, alteration
or dissemination of, or damage to, our data. To the extent that any disruption or security breach were to result in a loss,
destruction, unavailability, alteration or dissemination of, or damage to, our data or applications, or for it to be believed or
reported that any of these occurred, we could incur liability and reputational damage and the development and
commercialization of our product candidates could be delayed. Further, our insurance policies may not be adequate to
compensate us for the potential losses arising from any such disruption in, or failure or security breach of, our systems or third-
party systems where information important to our business operations or commercial development is stored.

Risks Related to Reliance on Third Parties

We currently rely, and plan to rely in the future, on third parties to conduct and support our preclinical studies and
clinical trials. If these third parties do not properly and successfully carry out their contractual duties or meet
expected deadlines, we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval of or commercialize our product candidates.

We have utilized and plan to continue to utilize and depend upon independent investigators and collaborators, such as
medical institutions, CROs, CMOs and strategic partners, to conduct and support our preclinical studies and clinical trials
under agreements with us. We will rely heavily on these third parties over the course of our preclinical studies and clinical
trials, and we control only certain aspects of their activities. As a result, we will have less direct control over the conduct,
timing and completion of these preclinical studies and clinical trials and the management of data developed through preclinical
studies and clinical trials than would be the case if we were relying entirely upon our own staff. Nevertheless, we are
responsible for ensuring that each of our studies and trials is conducted in accordance with the applicable protocol, legal,
regulatory and scientific standards, and our reliance on these third parties does not relieve us of our regulatory responsibilities.
We and our third-party contractors and CROs are required to comply with GCP regulations, which are regulations and
guidelines enforced by the FDA and comparable foreign regulatory authorities for all of our products candidates in clinical
development. If we or any of these third parties fail to comply with applicable GCP regulations, the clinical data generated in
our clinical trials may be deemed
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unreliable and the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may require us to perform additional clinical trials before
approving our marketing applications. We cannot assure you that upon inspection by a given regulatory authority, such
regulatory authority will determine that any of our clinical trials comply with GCP regulations. In addition, our clinical trials must
be conducted with product produced under cGMP regulations. Our failure to comply with these regulations may require us to
repeat clinical trials, which would delay the regulatory approval process. Moreover, our business may be implicated if any of
these third parties violates federal or state fraud and abuse or false claims laws and regulations or healthcare privacy and
security laws.

Any third parties conducting our clinical trials will not be our employees and, except for remedies available to us under
our agreements with such third parties, we cannot control whether they devote sufficient time and resources to our product
candidates. These third parties may also have relationships with other commercial entities, including our competitors, for
whom they may also be conducting clinical trials or other product development activities, which could affect their performance
on our behalf. If these third parties do not successfully carry out their contractual duties or obligations or meet expected
deadlines, if they need to be replaced or if the quality or accuracy of the clinical data they obtain is compromised due to the
failure to adhere to our clinical protocols or regulatory requirements or for other reasons, our clinical trials may be extended,
delayed or terminated and we may not be able to complete development of, obtain regulatory approval of or successfully
commercialize our product candidates.

We currently rely and expect to rely in the future on the use of manufacturing suites in third-party facilities or on third
parties to manufacture our product candidates, and we may rely on third parties to produce and process our
products, if approved. Our business could be adversely affected if we are unable to use third-party manufacturing
suites or if the third-party manufacturers fail to provide us with sufficient quantities of our product candidates or fail
to do so at acceptable quality levels or prices.

We do not currently own any facility that may be used as our clinical-scale manufacturing and processing facility and
must currently rely on CMOs to manufacture our product candidates. We have not yet caused our product candidates to be
manufactured on a commercial scale and may not be able to do so for any of our product candidates, if approved. We received
a batch of our product candidate that we believe is representative of our anticipated early commercial batch requirements.
However, as a clinical-stage company with no prior history of product sales or commercialization of products, representative
batches of our product candidate received to date may not represent what will be required to meet our future commercial
requirements or be manufactured at scale. We may not control the manufacturing process of, and may be completely
dependent on, our contract manufacturing partners for compliance with cGMP requirements and any other regulatory
requirements of the FDA or other regulatory authorities for the manufacture of our product candidates. Beyond periodic audits,
we have no control over the ability of our CMOs to maintain adequate quality control, quality assurance and qualified
personnel. If the FDA or a comparable foreign regulatory authority does not approve these facilities for the manufacture of our
product candidates or if it withdraws any approval in the future, we may need to find alternative manufacturing facilities, which
would require the incurrence of significant additional costs and materially adversely affect our ability to develop, obtain
regulatory approval for or market our product candidates, if approved. Similarly, our failure, or the failure of our CMOs, to
comply with applicable regulations could result in sanctions being imposed on us, including fines, injunctions, civil penalties,
delays, suspension or withdrawal of approvals, license revocation, seizures or recalls of product candidates or drugs,
operating restrictions and criminal prosecutions, any of which could significantly and adversely affect supplies of our product
candidates or drugs and harm our business and results of operations.

Moreover, if any CMOs on which we will rely fail to manufacture quantities of our product candidates at quality levels
necessary to meet regulatory requirements and at a scale sufficient to meet anticipated demand at a cost that allows us to
achieve profitability, our business, financial condition and prospects could be materially and adversely affected. Our business
could be materially adversely affected by business disruptions to our third-party providers that could materially adversely affect
our potential future revenue and
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financial condition and increase our costs and expenses. Each of these risks could delay or prevent the completion of our
clinical trials or the approval of any of our product candidates by the FDA, result in higher costs or adversely impact
commercialization of our product candidates.

We may, in the future, form or seek collaborations or strategic alliances or enter into licensing arrangements, and we
may not realize the benefits of such collaborations, alliances or licensing arrangements.

We may, in the future, form or seek strategic alliances, create joint ventures or collaborations, or enter into licensing
arrangements with third parties that we believe will complement or augment our development and commercialization efforts
with respect to our product candidates and any future product candidates that we may develop. Any of these relationships may
require us to increase our near and long-term expenditures, issue securities that dilute our existing stockholders or disrupt our
management and business.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

Our ability to protect our patents and other proprietary rights is uncertain, exposing us to the possible loss of
competitive advantage.

We rely upon a combination of patents, trademarks, trade secret protection and confidentiality agreements to protect
the intellectual property related to our products and technologies and to prevent third parties from copying and surpassing our
achievements, thus eroding our competitive position in our market. Our success depends in large part on our ability to obtain
and maintain patent protection for our platform technologies, product candidates and their uses, as well as our ability to
operate without infringing on or violating the proprietary rights of others. We own and have licensed rights to pending patent
applications and expect to continue to file patent applications in the United States and abroad related to our novel discoveries
and technologies that are important to our business. However, we may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights
throughout the world and the legal systems in certain countries may not favor enforcement or protection of patents, trade
secrets and other intellectual property. Filing, prosecuting and defending patents on product candidates worldwide would be
prohibitively expensive and our intellectual property rights in some foreign jurisdictions can be less extensive than those in the
United States. As such, we do not have patents in all countries or all major markets and may not be able to obtain patents in
all jurisdictions even if we apply for them. Our competitors may operate in countries where we do not have patent protection
and can freely use our technologies and discoveries in such countries to the extent such technologies and discoveries are
publicly known or disclosed in countries where we do have patent protection or pending patent applications. Our pending and
future patent applications may not result in patents being issued. Any issued patents may not afford sufficient protection of our
product candidates or their intended uses against competitors, nor can there be any assurance that the patents issued will not
be infringed, designed around, invalidated by third parties, or effectively prevent others from commercializing competitive
technologies, products or product candidates. Further, even if these patents are granted, they may be difficult to enforce.
Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depends on compliance with various procedural, document submission, fee
payment and other requirements imposed by governmental patent agencies, and our patent protection could be reduced or
eliminated if we fail to comply with these requirements. Further, any issued patents that we may license or own covering our
product candidates could be narrowed or found invalid or unenforceable if challenged in court or before administrative bodies
in the United States or abroad, including the United States Patent and Trademark Office (USPTO). Also, patent terms,
including any extensions or adjustments that may or may not be available to us, may be inadequate to protect our competitive
position on our product candidates for an adequate amount of time, and we may be subject to claims challenging the
inventorship, validity, enforceability of our patents and/or other intellectual property. Finally, changes in U.S. patent law, or
laws in other countries, could diminish the value of patents in general, thereby impairing our ability to protect our product
candidates. Further, if we encounter delays in our clinical trials or delays in obtaining regulatory approval, the period of time
during which we could market our product candidates under patent protection
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would be reduced. Thus, the patents that we own, and license may not afford us any meaningful competitive advantage.

Moreover, we or our licensors may be subject to a third-party preissuance submission of prior art to the USPTO or
become involved in opposition, derivation, revocation, reexamination, inter partes review, post-grant review or interference
proceedings challenging our patent rights or the patent rights of others. An adverse determination in any such submission,
proceeding or litigation could reduce the scope of, or invalidate, our patent rights, allow third parties to commercialize our
technology or product candidates and compete directly with us, without payment to us, or result in our inability to manufacture
or commercialize drugs without infringing third-party patent rights. If the breadth or strength of protection provided by our
patents and patent applications is threatened, regardless of the outcome, it could dissuade companies from collaborating with
us to license, develop or commercialize current or future product candidates. In addition to seeking patents for some of our
technology and product candidates, we may also rely on trade secrets, including unpatented know-how, technology and other
proprietary information, to maintain our competitive position. Any disclosure, either intentional or unintentional, by our
employees, the employees of third parties with whom we share our facilities or third-party consultants and vendors that we
engage to perform research, clinical trials or manufacturing activities, or misappropriation by third parties (such as through a
cybersecurity breach) of our trade secrets or proprietary information could enable competitors to duplicate or surpass our
technological achievements, thus eroding our competitive position in our market. In order to protect our proprietary technology
and processes, we rely in part on confidentiality agreements with our collaborators, employees, consultants, outside scientific
collaborators and sponsored researchers and other advisors. These agreements may not effectively prevent disclosure of
confidential information and may not provide an adequate remedy in the event of unauthorized disclosure of confidential
information. We may need to share our proprietary information, including trade secrets, with future business partners,
collaborators, contractors and others located in countries at heightened risk of theft of trade secrets, including through direct
intrusion by private parties or foreign actors and those affiliated with or controlled by state actors. In addition, while we
undertake efforts to protect our trade secrets and other confidential information from disclosure, others may independently
discover trade secrets and proprietary information, and in such cases, we may not be able to assert any trade secret rights
against such party. Costly and time-consuming litigation could be necessary to enforce and determine the scope of our
proprietary rights and failure to obtain or maintain trade secret protection could adversely affect our competitive business
position.

As is common in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries, we employ individuals and engage the services of
consultants who previously worked for other biotechnology or pharmaceutical companies, including our competitors or
potential competitors. Although no claims against us are currently pending, we may be subject to claims that these employees
or we have inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed trade secrets or other proprietary information of their former
employers, or that our consultants have used or disclosed trade secrets or other proprietary information of their former or
current clients. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. If we fail in defending any such claims, in addition
to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights or personnel. Even if we are successful in
defending against such claims, litigation or other legal proceedings relating to intellectual property claims may cause us to incur
significant expenses, and could distract our technical and management personnel from their normal responsibilities. In
addition, there could be public announcements of the results of hearings, motions or other interim proceedings or
developments, and, if securities analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative, it could have a substantial adverse
effect on the price of our common stock. This type of litigation or proceeding could substantially increase our operating losses
and reduce our resources available for development activities. We may not have sufficient financial or other resources to
adequately conduct such litigation or proceedings. Some of our competitors may be able to sustain the costs of such litigation
or proceedings more effectively than we can because of their substantially greater financial resources. Uncertainties resulting
from the initiation and continuation of patent litigation or other intellectual property related proceedings could adversely affect
our ability to compete in the marketplace.

Lastly, if our trademarks and trade names are not registered or adequately protected, then we may not be able to build
name recognition in our markets of interest and our business may be adversely affected.
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Patent terms may be inadequate to protect our competitive position on our product candidates for an adequate
amount of time.

Patents have a limited lifespan. In the United States, if all maintenance fees are timely paid, the natural expiration of a
patent is generally 20 years from its earliest U.S. non-provisional filing date. Various extensions may be available, but the life
of a patent, and the protection it affords, is limited. Even if patents covering our product candidates are obtained, once the
patent life has expired, we may be open to competition from competitive products, including generics or biosimilars. Given the
amount of time required for the development, testing and regulatory review of new product candidates, patents protecting such
candidates might expire before or shortly after such candidates are commercialized. As a result, our owned and licensed
patent portfolio may not provide us with sufficient rights to exclude others from commercializing products similar or identical to
ours.

If we do not obtain patent term extension in the United States under the Hatch-Waxman Act and in foreign countries
under similar legislation, thereby potentially extending the term of our marketing exclusivity for any product
candidates we may develop, our business may be materially harmed.

In the United States, the patent term of a patent that covers an FDA-approved drug may be eligible for limited patent
term extension, which permits patent term restoration as compensation for the patent term lost during the FDA regulatory
review process. The Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984, also known as the Hatch-Waxman Act,
permits a patent term extension of up to five years beyond the expiration of the patent. The length of the patent term extension
is related to the length of time the drug is under regulatory review. Patent extension cannot extend the remaining term of a
patent beyond a total of 14 years from the date of product approval, and only one patent applicable to an approved drug may
be extended and only those claims covering the approved drug, a method for using it, or a method for manufacturing it may be
extended. Similar provisions are available in Europe and certain other non-United States jurisdictions to extend the term of a
patent that covers an approved drug. While, in the future, if and when our product candidates receive FDA approval, we
expect to apply for patent term extensions on patents covering those product candidates, there is no guarantee that the
applicable authorities will agree with our assessment of whether such extensions should be granted, and even if granted, the
length of such extensions. We may not be granted patent term extension either in the United States or in any foreign country
because of, for example, failing to exercise due diligence during the testing phase or regulatory review process, failing to apply
within applicable deadlines, failing to apply prior to expiration of relevant patents or otherwise failing to satisfy applicable
requirements. Moreover, the term of extension, as well as the scope of patent protection during any such extension, afforded
by the governmental authority could be less than we request. If we are unable to obtain any patent term extension or the term
of any such extension is less than we request, our competitors may obtain approval of competing products following the
expiration of our patent rights, and our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects could be materially
harmed.

It is possible that we will not obtain patent term extension under the Hatch-Waxman Act for a U.S. patent covering
any of our product candidates that we may identify even where that patent is eligible for patent term extension, or if we obtain
such an extension, it may be for a shorter period than we had sought. Further, for our licensed patents, we may not have the
right to control prosecution, including filing with the USPTO, a petition for patent term extension under the Hatch-Waxman Act.
Thus, if one of our licensed patents is eligible for patent term extension under the Hatch-Waxman Act, we may not be able to
control whether a petition to obtain a patent term extension is filed, or obtained, from the USPTO.

Also, there are detailed rules and requirements regarding the patents that may be submitted to the FDA for listing in
the Approved Drug Products with Therapeutic Equivalence Evaluations (the Orange Book). We may be unable to obtain
patents covering our product candidates that contain one or more claims that satisfy the requirements for listing in the Orange
Book. Even if we submit a patent for listing in the Orange Book, the FDA may decline to list the patent, or a manufacturer of
generic drugs may challenge the listing. If one of our product candidates is approved and a patent covering that product
candidate is not listed in the Orange Book, a manufacturer of generic drugs would not have to provide advance notice to us of
any
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abbreviated new drug application filed with the FDA to obtain permission to sell a generic version of such product candidate.

Changes to patent laws in the United States and other jurisdictions could diminish the value of patents in general,
thereby impairing our ability to protect our products.

Changes in either the patent laws or interpretation of patent laws in the United States, including patent reform
legislation such as the Leahy-Smith America Invents Act (the Leahy-Smith Act) could increase the uncertainties and costs
surrounding the prosecution of our owned and in-licensed patent applications and the maintenance, enforcement or defense
of our owned and in-licensed issued patents. The Leahy-Smith Act includes a number of significant changes to United States
patent law. These changes include provisions that affect the way patent applications are prosecuted, redefine prior art, provide
more efficient and cost-effective avenues for competitors to challenge the validity of patents, and enable third-party
submission of prior art to the USPTO during patent prosecution and additional procedures to attack the validity of a patent at
USPTO-administered post-grant proceedings, including post-grant review, inter partes review, and derivation proceedings.
Assuming that other requirements for patentability are met, prior to March 2013, in the United States, the first to invent the
claimed invention was entitled to the patent, while outside the United States, the first to file a patent application was entitled to
the patent. After March 2013, under the Leahy-Smith Act, the United States transitioned to a first-to-file system in which,
assuming that the other statutory requirements for patentability are met, the first inventor to file a patent application will be
entitled to the patent on an invention regardless of whether a third party was the first to invent the claimed invention. As such,
the Leahy-Smith Act and its implementation could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our
patent applications and the enforcement or defense of our issued patents, all of which could have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

In addition, the patent positions of companies in the development and commercialization of biologics and
pharmaceuticals are particularly uncertain. Recent U.S. Supreme Court rulings have narrowed the scope of patent protection
available in certain circumstances and weakened the rights of patent owners in certain situations. This combination of events
has created uncertainty with respect to the validity and enforceability of patents once obtained. Depending on future actions by
the U.S. Congress, the federal courts and the USPTO, the laws and regulations governing patents could change in
unpredictable ways that could have a material adverse effect on our patent rights and our ability to protect, defend and enforce
our patent rights in the future.

We may not identify relevant third-party patents or may incorrectly interpret the relevance, scope or expiration of a
third-party patent, which might adversely affect our ability to develop and market our products.

We cannot guarantee that any of our patent searches or analyses, including the identification of relevant patents, the
scope of patent claims or the expiration of relevant patents, are complete or thorough, nor can we be certain that we have
identified each and every third-party patent and pending application in the United States and abroad that is relevant to or
necessary for the commercialization of our product candidates in any jurisdiction. The scope of a patent claim is determined
by an interpretation of the law, the written disclosure in a patent and the patent’s prosecution history. Our interpretation of the
relevance or the scope of a patent or a pending application may be incorrect. For example, we may incorrectly determine that
our products are not covered by a third-party patent or may incorrectly predict whether a third-party’s pending application will
issue with claims of relevant scope. Our determination of the expiration date of any patent in the United States or abroad that
we consider relevant may be incorrect. Our failure to identify and correctly interpret relevant patents may negatively impact our
ability to develop and market our products.

In addition, because some patent applications in the United States may be maintained in secrecy until the patents are
issued, patent applications in the United States and many foreign jurisdictions are typically not published until 18 months after
filing, and publications in the scientific literature often lag behind actual discoveries, we cannot be certain that others have not
filed patent applications for technology covered by our
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issued patents or our pending applications, or that we were the first to invent the technology. Our competitors may have filed,
and may in the future file, patent applications covering our products or technology similar to ours. Any such patent application
may have priority over our patent applications or patents, which could require us to obtain rights to issued patents covering
such technologies.

We may be subject to claims challenging the inventorship of our patents and other intellectual property.

We may be subject to claims that former employees, collaborators or other third parties have an interest in our patents
or other intellectual property as an inventor or co-inventor. The failure to name the proper inventors on a patent application
can result in the patents issuing thereon being unenforceable. Inventorship disputes may arise from conflicting views regarding
the contributions of different individuals named as inventors, the effects of foreign laws where foreign nationals are involved in
the development of the subject matter of the patent, conflicting obligations of third parties involved in developing our product
candidates or as a result of questions regarding co-ownership of potential joint inventions. Litigation may be necessary to
resolve these and other claims challenging inventorship and/or ownership. Alternatively, or additionally, we may enter into
agreements to clarify the scope of our rights in such intellectual property. If we fail in defending any such claims, in addition to
paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights, such as exclusive ownership of, or right to use,
valuable intellectual property. Such an outcome could have a material adverse effect on our business. Even if we are
successful in defending against such claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to management and
other employees.

We may be subject to patent infringement claims or may need to file claims to protect our intellectual property, which
could result in substantial costs and liability and prevent us from commercializing our potential products.

Because the intellectual property landscape in the biotechnology industry is rapidly evolving and interdisciplinary, it is
difficult to conclusively assess our freedom to operate without infringing on or violating third party rights. However, if certain of
our product candidates are ultimately granted regulatory approval, we are currently aware of certain patent rights held by third
parties that, if found to be valid and enforceable, could be alleged to render one or more of our product candidates infringing. If
a third party successfully brings a claim against us, we may be required to pay substantial damages, be forced to abandon any
affected product and/or seek a license from the patent holder. In addition, any intellectual property claims (e.g., patent
infringement or trade secret theft) brought against us, whether or not successful, may cause us to incur significant legal
expenses and divert the attention of our management and key personnel from other business concerns. We cannot be certain
that patents owned or licensed by us will not be challenged by others in the course of litigation. Some of our competitors may
be able to sustain the costs of complex intellectual property litigation more effectively than we can because they have
substantially greater resources. In addition, any uncertainties resulting from the initiation and continuation of any litigation
could have a material adverse effect on our ability to raise funds and on the market price of our common stock.

Competitors may infringe or otherwise violate our patents, trademarks, copyrights or other intellectual property. To
counter infringement or other violations, we may be required to file claims, which can be expensive and time-consuming. Any
such claims could provoke these parties to assert counterclaims against us, including claims alleging that we infringe their
patents or other intellectual property rights. In addition, in a patent infringement proceeding, a court or administrative body may
decide that one or more of the patents we assert is invalid or unenforceable, in whole or in part, construe the patent’s claims
narrowly or refuse to prevent the other party from using the technology at issue on the grounds that our patents do not cover
the technology. Similarly, if we assert trademark infringement claims, a court or administrative body may determine that the
marks we have asserted are invalid or unenforceable or that the party against whom we have asserted trademark infringement
has superior rights to the marks in question. In such a case, we could ultimately be forced to cease use of such marks. In any
intellectual property litigation, even if we are successful, any award of monetary damages or other remedy we receive may not
be commercially valuable.
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Further, we may be required to protect our patents through procedures created to attack the validity of a patent at the
USPTO. An adverse determination in any such submission or proceeding could reduce the scope or enforceability of, or
invalidate, our patent rights, which could adversely affect our competitive position. Because of a lower evidentiary standard in
USPTO proceedings compared to the evidentiary standard in United States federal courts necessary to invalidate a patent
claim, a third party could potentially provide evidence in a USPTO proceeding sufficient for the USPTO to hold a claim invalid
even though the same evidence would be insufficient to invalidate the claim if first presented in a district court action.

In addition, if our product candidates are found to infringe the intellectual property rights of third parties, these third
parties may assert infringement claims against our future licensees and other parties with whom we have business
relationships and we may be required to indemnify those parties for any damages they suffer as a result of these claims, which
may require us to initiate or defend protracted and costly litigation on behalf of licensees and other parties regardless of the
merits of such claims. If any of these claims succeed, we may be forced to pay damages on behalf of those parties or may be
required to obtain licenses for the products they use.

Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation
or other legal proceedings relating to our intellectual property rights, there is a risk that some of our confidential information
could be compromised by disclosure during this type of litigation or other proceedings.

We license patent rights from third-party owners, and we rely on such owners to obtain, maintain and enforce the
patents underlying such licenses.

We are a party to certain licenses, including with our licensor Daiichi Sankyo, that provide us rights to intellectual
property that are necessary or useful for our product candidate, milademetan, and its components, formulations, methods of
manufacturing and methods of treatment. The license agreement requires us to satisfy certain obligations and, if these
agreements are terminated (e.g., as a result of our failure to satisfy such obligations), our technology and our business could
be adversely affected. We also expect to enter into additional licenses to third-party intellectual property in the future; however,
we may not be able to obtain such licenses on economically feasible terms or other reasonable terms and conditions, or at all.

Our licensors may not successfully prosecute the patent applications that we are licensed. Even if patents are issued
in respect of these patent applications, our licensors may fail to maintain these patents, may determine not to pursue litigation
against other companies that are infringing these patents, or may pursue such litigation less aggressively than we would.
Without protection for the intellectual property we license, other companies might be able to offer substantially identical
products for sale, which could adversely affect our competitive business position and harm our business prospects.

Additionally, we may sometimes collaborate with academic institutions to accelerate our preclinical research or
development under written agreements with these institutions. These institutions may provide us with an option to negotiate a
license to any of the institution’s rights in technology resulting from the collaboration. Regardless of such option, we may be
unable to negotiate a license within the specified timeframe or under terms that are acceptable to us. If we are unable to do so,
the institution may offer the intellectual property rights to others, potentially blocking our ability to pursue our program.

We have limited, if any, control over the amount or timing of resources that our licensors devote on our behalf or the
priority they place on maintaining these patent rights and prosecuting these patent applications to our advantage. For example,
should Daiichi Sankyo decide it no longer wants to maintain any of the patents licensed to us, Daiichi Sankyo is required to
afford us the opportunity to do so at our expense. However, we cannot be sure that Daiichi Sankyo will perform as required. If
Daiichi Sankyo does not perform, and if we do not assume the maintenance of the licensed patents in sufficient time to make
required payments or filings with the appropriate governmental agencies, we risk losing the benefit of all or some of those
patent rights. In the event our licensors fail to adequately pursue and maintain patent protection for
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patents and applications they control, and to timely cede control of such prosecution to us, our competitors might be able to
enter the market, which would have a material adverse effect on our business.

Our technology licensed from various third parties may be subject to retained rights.

Our licensors often retain certain rights under their agreements with us, including the right to use the underlying
technology for noncommercial academic and research use, to publish general scientific findings from research related to the
technology, and to make customary scientific and scholarly disclosures of information relating to the technology. It is difficult to
monitor whether our licensors limit their use of the technology to these uses, and we could incur substantial expenses to
enforce our rights to our licensed technology in the event of misuse. Further, the U.S. government may retain certain rights
under the Bayh-Dole Act for research funded by the Federal Government.

We may not be able to effectively secure first-tier technologies when competing against other companies or investors.

Our future success may require that we acquire patent rights and know-how to new or complimentary technologies.
However, we compete with a substantial number of other companies that may also compete for technologies we desire. In
addition, many venture capital firms and other institutional investors, as well as other biotechnology companies, invest in
companies seeking to commercialize various types of emerging technologies. Many of these companies have greater financial,
scientific and commercial resources than us. Therefore, we may not be able to secure the technologies we desire.
Furthermore, should any commercial undertaking by us prove to be successful, there can be no assurance competitors with
greater financial resources will not offer competitive products and/or technologies.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock
The price of our stock may be volatile, and you could lose all or part of your investment.

The trading price of our common stock is likely to be highly volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations in
response to various factors, some of which are beyond our control, including the factors discussed in this “Risk Factors”
section and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The realization of any of these factors could have a dramatic and
adverse impact on the market price of our common stock.

In addition, the stock market in general, and the market for biotechnology companies in particular, have experienced
extreme price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of
these companies. In particular, the trading prices for biotechnology companies have been highly volatile. In addition, broad
market and industry factors may negatively affect the market price of our common stock, regardless of our actual operating
performance. In the past, securities class action litigation has often been instituted against companies following periods of
volatility in the market price of a company’s securities. This type of litigation, if instituted, could result in substantial costs and a
diversion of management’s attention and resources, which would materially adversely affect our business, financial condition
and results of operation.

Our principal stockholders and management own a significant percentage of our stock and will be able to exert
significant influence over matters subject to stockholder approval.

As of December 31, 2022, our executive officers, directors, holders of 5% or more of our capital stock and their
respective affiliates beneficially owned a significant portion of our outstanding voting common stock. These stockholders,
acting together, may be able to impact matters requiring stockholder approval. For example, they may be able to impact
elections of directors, amendments of our organizational documents or approval of any merger, sale of assets or other major
corporate transaction. This may prevent or discourage unsolicited acquisition proposals or offers for our common stock that
you may feel are in your best interest as one of our stockholders. The interests of this group of stockholders may not always
coincide with your
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interests or the interests of other stockholders and they may act in a manner that advances their best interests and not
necessarily those of other stockholders, including seeking a premium value for their common stock, and might affect the
prevailing market price for our common stock.

A sale of a substantial number of shares of our common stock may cause the price of our common stock to decline.

We cannot predict what effect, if any, sales of our shares in the public market or the availability of shares for sale will
have on the market price of our common stock. However, future sales of substantial amounts of our common stock in the
public market, including shares sold through our ATM Facility or shares issued upon exercise of outstanding options, or the
perception that such sales may occur, could adversely affect the market price of our common stock. We also expect that
significant additional capital may be needed in the future to continue our planned operations. To raise capital, we may sell
common stock, convertible securities, or other equity securities in one or more transactions at prices and in a manner we
determine from time to time. These sales, or the perception in the market that the holders of a large number of shares intend
to sell shares, could reduce the market price of our common stock.

General Risk Factors

Our business could be adversely affected by economic downturns, inflation, increases in interest rates, natural
disasters, public health crises such as the COVID-19 pandemic, political crises, geopolitical events, such as the
crisis in Ukraine, or other macroeconomic conditions, which could have a material and adverse effect on our results
of operations and financial condition.

The global economy, including credit and financial markets, has experienced extreme volatility and disruptions,
including, among other things, diminished liquidity and credit availability, declines in consumer confidence, declines in
economic growth, supply chain shortages, increases in inflation rates, higher interest rates, and uncertainty about economic
stability. For example, the COVID-19 pandemic resulted in widespread unemployment, economic slowdown and extreme
volatility in the capital markets. The Federal Reserve has raised interest rates multiple times in response to concerns about
inflation and it may raise them again. Higher interest rates, coupled with reduced government spending and volatility in
financial markets, may increase economic uncertainty and affect consumer spending. Similarly, the ongoing military conflict
between Russia and Ukraine has created extreme volatility in the global capital markets and may have further global economic
consequences, including disruptions of the global supply chain. Any such volatility and disruptions may adversely affect our
business or the third parties on whom we rely. If the equity and credit markets deteriorate, including as a result of political
unrest or war, it may make any necessary debt or equity financing more costly, more dilutive, or more difficult to obtain in a
timely manner or on favorable terms, if at all. Increased inflation rates can adversely affect us by increasing our costs,
including labor and employee benefit costs.

We have experienced and may in the future experience disruptions as a result of such macroeconomic conditions,
including delays or difficulties in initiating or expanding clinical trials and manufacturing sufficient quantities of materials. Any
one or a combination of these events could have a material and adverse effect on our results of operations and financial
condition.

Provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws and Delaware
law might discourage, delay or prevent a change in control of our company or changes in our management and,
therefore, depress the market price of our common stock.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that could
delay or prevent a change of control of our company or changes in our board of directors that our stockholders might consider
favorable. In addition, Section 203 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (DGCL) prohibits a publicly held
Delaware corporation from engaging in a business combination with an interested stockholder for a period of three years after
the date of the
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transaction in which the person became an interested stockholder, unless the business combination is approved in a
prescribed manner. Any provision of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, amended and restated bylaws or
Delaware law that has the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control could limit the opportunity for our stockholders
to receive a premium for their shares of our capital stock and could also affect the price that some investors are willing to pay
for our common stock.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware
and the federal district courts of the United States will be the exclusive forums for substantially all disputes between
us and our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware
(or, if the Court of Chancery does not have jurisdiction, another State court in Delaware or the federal district court for the
District of Delaware) is the exclusive forum for certain actions, in all cases subject to the court’s having jurisdiction over
indispensable parties named as defendants. In addition, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that
the federal district courts of the United States will be the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause of
action arising under the Securities Act but that the forum selection provision will not apply to claims brought to enforce a duty
or liability created by the Exchange Act. These exclusive forum provisions may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a
judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes, which may discourage lawsuits. There is uncertainty as to whether a court
would enforce such provisions. If a court were to find these types of provisions to be inapplicable or unenforceable, and if a
court were to find the exclusive forum provision in our amended and restated bylaws to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an
action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving the dispute in other jurisdictions, which could materially
adversely affect our business.

The dual class structure of our common stock may limit your ability to influence corporate matters and may limit
your visibility with respect to certain transactions.

The dual class structure of our common stock may limit your ability to influence corporate matters. Holders of our
common stock are entitled to one vote per share, while holders of our non-voting common stock are not entitled to any votes.
Nonetheless, each share of our non-voting common stock may be converted at any time into one share of our common stock
at the option of its holder by providing written notice to us, subject to the limitations provided for in our amended and restated
certificate of incorporation. Consequently, if holders of our non-voting common stock exercise their option to make this
conversion, this will have the effect of increasing the relative voting power of those prior holders of our non-voting common
stock, and correspondingly decreasing the voting power of the holders of our common stock, which may limit your ability to
influence corporate matters. Additionally, stockholders who hold, in the aggregate, more than 10% of our common stock and
non-voting common stock, but 10% or less of our common stock, and are not otherwise an insider, may not be required to
report changes in their ownership due to transactions in our non-voting common stock pursuant to Section 16(a) of the
Exchange Act, and may not be subject to the short-swing profit provisions of Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act.

Item 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS.

None.
Item 2. PROPERTIES.

Our corporate headquarters are located in Newark, California where we occupy approximately 3,900 square feet of
office space under a lease that expires on September 30, 2024. In October 2022, we amended the lease agreement to expand
the leased premises by approximately 3,880 square feet. We use this facility for administrative purposes. We believe that our

facility is sufficient to meet our current needs. We also believe we will be able to obtain additional space, as needed, on
commercially reasonable terms.
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Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

We are currently not a party to any material legal proceedings. From time to time, we may become involved in legal
proceedings arising in the ordinary course of our business. Regardless of outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on
us due to defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources, negative publicity, reputational harm and other
factors, and there can be no assurances that favorable outcomes will be obtained.

Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES.

Not applicable.
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PART Il

Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES.

Market Information
Our common stock is traded on The Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol “RAIN.”
Holders

As of February 28, 2023, we had 27 holders of record of our common stock. Since many of our shares of common
stock are held by brokers and other institutions on behalf of stockholders, we are unable to estimate the total number of
stockholders represented by these record holders.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain any future earnings and
do not anticipate paying dividends in the foreseeable future. Any future determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion
of our Board of Directors and will be dependent on a number of factors, including our financial condition, results of operations,
capital requirements, contractual restrictions, general business conditions, and any other factors that our board may deem
relevant.

Use of Proceeds from our Initial Public Offering

On April 27, 2021, we completed our IPO, in which we issued and sold 7,352,941 shares of our common stock, $0.001
par value per share, at the public offering price of $17.00 per share. On May 7, 2021, the underwriters exercised their option to
purchase 492,070 additional shares of our common stock at the public offering price (the Overallotment) and the
Overallotment closed on May 11, 2021.

The offer and sale of all of the shares of our common stock in the IPO were registered under the Securities Act
pursuant to our Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-254998), which was declared effective on
April 22, 2021. Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC, Citigroup, Global Markets, Inc., Piper, Sandler & Co., and Guggenheim Securities
LLC acted as joint book-running managers for the IPO.

We received net proceeds from our IPO of approximately $121.5 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and
commissions, and other offering fees, inclusive of the Overallotment. None of the underwriting discounts and commissions or
other offering expenses were incurred or paid, directly or indirectly, to any of our directors or officers or their associates or to
persons owning 10% or more of our common stock or to any of our affiliates.

The net proceeds from the IPO (including the Overallotment) have been used and will be used, to fund a pivotal
Phase 3 trial in LPS, a Phase 2 tumor-agnostic basket trial in certain solid tumors and Phase 1/2 basket trial in patients with
loss of CDKN2A and wildtype p53 advanced solid tumors, in each case, for our lead product candidate, milademetan, to fund
the purchase of raw materials and drug substance and drug product manufacturing for our milademetan program and to fund
various clinical pharmacology, biomarker and translational studies for our milademetan program, and for working capital,
including continuing to advance our pipeline through preclinical studies and clinical trials, and general corporate purposes.
This use of proceeds represents a change from our intended use of proceeds from our IPO as described in the prospectus
filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b)(4) on April 23, 2021, as we are now focusing on our development efforts on our
Phase 3 registrational trial for the treatment of DD LPS, our Phase 2 trial for the treatment of MDM2-amplified advanced solid
tumors and our Phase 1/2 basket trial in patients with loss of CDKN2A and wildtype p53 advanced solid tumors.
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Item 6. Reserved.
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Item 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with
our audited consolidated financial statements and the related notes and other financial information included elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. This discussion and analysis contain forward-looking statements based upon our current plans
and expectations that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions, such as statements regarding our plans, objectives,
expectations, intentions and beliefs. Our actual results and the timing of events could differ materially from those anticipated in
these forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including those set forth under the section titled “Risk Factors”
and included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. You should carefully read the sections titled “Note Regarding
Forward-Looking Statements” and “Risk Factors” to gain an understanding of the important factors that could cause actual
results to differ materially from the results described below.

Overview

We are a late-stage precision oncology company developing therapies that target oncogenic drivers to genetically
select patients we believe will most likely benefit. This approach includes using a tumor-agnostic strategy to select patients
based on their tumors’ underlying genetics rather than histology. We have in-licensed product candidates, each with a
differentiated profile relative to available therapies, and we intend to continue strengthening our pipeline through focused
business development and internal research efforts.

Our lead product candidate, milademetan (also known as RAIN-32) is an oral, small molecule inhibitor of the mouse
double minute 2 (MDM2-p53) complex that reactivates p53. We in-licensed milademetan from Daiichi Sankyo Company,
Limited (Daiichi Sankyo) in September 2020 based on the results of a Phase 1 clinical trial, which demonstrated meaningful
antitumor activity in an MDM2-amplified subtype of liposarcoma (LPS) and other solid tumors. Data from de-differentiated
liposarcoma (DDLPS) patients in the Phase 1 clinical trial of milademetan demonstrated median progression-free survival
(mPFS) of approximately seven to eight months. Importantly, this result was accomplished with a rationally designed dosing
schedule designed to mitigate safety concerns and widen the therapeutic window of MDM2 inhibition unlocking the potential
for milademetan in a broad range of MDM2-dependent cancers. Based on these data, we commenced a pivotal Phase 3 trial
in LPS (MANTRA) in July 2021. We expect to report topline data from our MANTRA trial in the second quarter of 2023. We
also commenced a Phase 2 tumor-agnostic basket trial in certain solid tumors (MANTRA-2) in November 2021. We anticipate
commencing a Phase 1/2 basket trial to evaluate the safety, tolerability and efficacy of milademetan in combination with
atezolizumab in patients with loss of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 2A (CDKN2A) and wildtype p53 advanced solid tumors
(MANTRA-4) in mid-2023.

Since our inception in 2017, we have incurred significant operating losses and have utilized substantially all of our
resources to date in-licensing and developing our product candidates, organizing and staffing our company and providing other
general and administrative support for our operations. As of December 31, 2022, we had an accumulated deficit of $165.7
million and we incurred net losses of approximately $75.7 million and $51.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2022
and 2021, respectively. Our operations to date have been funded primarily through the issuance of convertible promissory
notes, the issuance of convertible preferred stock, as well as issuance and sale of common stock through our initial public
offering (IPO) and our November 2022 Offering. From our inception through December 31, 2022, we have raised aggregate
gross proceeds of $9.9 million from the issuance of convertible promissory notes and $81.9 million from the issuance of
convertible preferred stock. On April 27, 2021, we completed our IPO in which we issued and sold 7,352,941 shares of
common stock at a public offering price of $17.00 per share. On May 11, 2021, we issued an additional 492,070 shares of
common stock in connection with the exercise of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares at the public offering
price. Our net proceeds from the sale of shares in the IPO, including the sale of shares pursuant to the exercise of the
underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares, was $121.5 million, net of underwriting discounts and commissions, and
other
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offering fees. In November 2022, we completed a registered direct offering of an aggregate of 8,576,330 shares of common
stock and non-voting common stock at $5.83 per share. In addition, we issued an additional 1,140,068 shares of common
stock in connection with the exercise of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares at the offering price. We
received net proceeds from our November 2022 Offering of approximately $52.9 million, after deducting underwriting discounts
and commissions, and other offering fees. As of December 31, 2022, we had cash, cash equivalents and short-term
investments of $130.5 million. Although we believe, based on our current business plans, that our existing cash, cash
equivalents and short-term investments, together with proceeds available under our ATM Facility, will be sufficient to meet our
obligations for at least the next twelve months, we anticipate that we will require additional capital in the future in order to
continue the research and development of our drug candidates. Our ability to generate product revenue sufficient to achieve
profitability will depend heavily on the successful development and eventual commercialization of one or more of our product
candidates. We expect to continue to incur significant expenses and increasing operating losses for at least the next

several years as we continue our development of, and seek regulatory approvals for, our product candidates and begin to
commercialize any approved products, seek to expand our product pipeline, invest in our organization, as well as incur
expenses associated with operating as a public company.

We do not expect to generate any revenue from product sales unless and until we successfully complete development
and obtain regulatory approval for one or more product candidates, which will not be for many years, if ever. Accordingly, until
such time as we can generate significant revenue from sales of our product candidates, if ever, we expect to finance our cash
needs through public or private equity offerings, debt financings or other capital sources which may include strategic
collaborations, licensing arrangements or other arrangements with third parties. We may be unable to raise additional funds or
enter into such other agreements or arrangements when needed on favorable terms or at all. If we raise funds through
strategic collaborations or other similar arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our
platform technology, future revenue streams, research programs or product candidates or we may have to grant licenses on
terms that may not be favorable to us and/or may reduce the value of our common stock. If we are unable to raise additional
funds through equity or debt financings when needed, we may be required to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product
development or future commercialization efforts. Our ability to raise additional funds may be adversely impacted by potential
worsening global macroeconomic conditions and the disruptions to and volatility in the credit and financial markets in the
United States and worldwide. Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with our product development, we
cannot predict the timing or amount of increased expenses and cannot assure you that we will ever be profitable or generate
positive cash flow from operating activities. Based upon our current operating plan, we estimate that our cash, cash
equivalents and short-term investments as of December 31, 2022 will be sufficient to fund our current and planned clinical
trials for our milademetan program.

We do not own or operate, and currently have no plans to establish, any manufacturing facilities. We currently rely and
expect to continue to rely for the foreseeable future, on third parties for the manufacture of our drug candidates for preclinical
and clinical testing, as well as for commercial manufacture of any drugs that we may commercialize. We expect to continue to
develop drug candidates that can be produced cost-effectively at contract manufacturing facilities. For
the milademetan program, we have transferred Daiichi Sankyo Company, Limited (Daiichi Sankyo) processes to suitable third-
party contract manufacturing organizations to supply active pharmaceutical ingredients and clinical drug product for our
clinical trials and in preparation for submission of marketing applications and potential future commercial supplies.

Collaboration and License Agreements
We are party to a number of license agreements for the in-license of our product candidates and development

programs. See Note 7 to our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-
K.
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Components of Our Results of Operations
Revenue

To date, we have not generated any revenue from product sales, licenses or collaborations and do not expect to
generate any revenue from the sale of products in the foreseeable future. If our development efforts for our product candidates
are successful and result in regulatory approval, we may generate revenue from future product sales. If we enter into license
or collaboration agreements for any of our product candidates or intellectual property, we may generate revenue in the future
from payments as a result of such license or collaboration agreements. We cannot predict if, when, or to what extent we will
generate revenue from the commercialization and sale of our product candidates or from license or collaboration agreements.
We may never succeed in obtaining regulatory approval for any of our product candidates.

Operating Expenses

Our operating expenses since inception have consisted solely of research and development costs, including
acquisition of in-process research and development, and general and administrative costs.

Research and Development Expenses

To date, our research and development expenses have related to the discovery and clinical development of our
product candidates, including acquisition of in-process research and development. Research and development expenses are
recognized as incurred and payments made prior to the receipt of goods or services to be used in research and development
are capitalized until the goods or services are received.

Research and development expenses include:

e salaries, payroll taxes, employee benefits and stock-based compensation charges for those individuals involved in
research and development efforts;

e expenses incurred in connection with research, laboratory consumables and preclinical studies;

e external research and development expenses incurred under agreements with CROs and consultants to conduct
and support our planned clinical trials of our product candidates;

e the cost of consultants engaged in research and development-related services and the cost to manufacture drug
product for use in our preclinical studies and clinical trials;

e costs related to regulatory compliance;

e the cost of annual license fees and the cost of acquiring in-process research and development, including upfront
license payments; and

e any development milestone payments that we may make under our license agreements.
We track external development costs by product candidate or development program, but we do not allocate personnel
costs or other internal costs to specific development programs or product candidates as our personnel works across multiple

development programs and product candidates. These costs are included in unallocated research and development expenses
in the table below.
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The following table summarizes our research and development expenses by product candidate or development
program:
Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021
(in thousands)
Milademetan $ 35,174 $ 23,261
Other research and clinical candidates 680 1,761
Unallocated internal research and development costs 25,546 15,751
Total research and development expenses $ 61,400 $ 40,773

We plan to substantially increase our research and development expenses for the foreseeable future as we continue
to expand the development of our product candidates. We cannot predict with certainty the timing for initiation or completion
of, the duration of, or the costs of current or future clinical trials and nonclinical studies of any of our product candidates due to
the inherently unpredictable nature of clinical and preclinical development. The clinical development timeline, probability of
success of clinical trials and development costs can differ materially from expectations. In addition, we cannot forecast which
product candidates may be subject to future collaborations, when such arrangements will be secured, if at all, and to what
degree such arrangements would affect our development plans and capital requirements.

Our future clinical development costs may vary significantly. See the section titled “Risk Factors—Risks Related to
Product Development— Preclinical and clinical development involves a lengthy and expensive process with uncertain
outcomes, and results of earlier studies and trials may not be predictive of future clinical trial results. If our preclinical studies
and clinical trials are not sufficient to support regulatory approval of any of our product candidates, we may incur additional
costs or experience delays in completing, or ultimately be unable to complete, the development of such product candidates.”

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist of salaries and employee-related costs, including stock-based
compensation, for personnel in executive, finance and other administrative functions, legal fees relating to intellectual property
and corporate matters, professional fees for accounting and consulting services and facility-related costs. We anticipate that
our general and administrative expenses will continue to increase in the future to support our continued research and
development activities, pre-commercial preparation activities for our product candidates and, if any product candidate receives
marketing approval, commercialization activities. We also anticipate increased expenses related to audit, legal, regulatory and
tax-related services associated with maintaining compliance with exchange listing and SEC requirements, director and officer
insurance premiums and investor relations costs associated with operating as a public company.

Interest Income

Interest income consists of interest on our available-for-sale (AFS) securities.
Income Taxes

We are subject to corporate U.S. federal and state income taxation. As of December 31, 2022, we had federal and
state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $85.1 million and $127.8 million respectively. $0.2 million of the $85.1
million of federal net operating loss carryforwards will begin expiring in 2037 and the remaining $84.9 million can be carried
forward indefinitely. The yearly utilization of such federal net operating loss carryforwards is limited to 80 percent of taxable

income. The state tax loss carryforwards will begin expiring in 2031, if not utilized. As of December 31, 2022, we had federal
and state research and development tax credits of approximately $10.7 million and $1.7 million, respectively. If not utilized, the
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federal research tax credit will begin to expire in 2039. The California research tax credit can be carried forward indefinitely.

Utilization of the net operating loss carryforwards and other tax attributes may be subject to a substantial annual
limitation due to the ownership change limitations provided by Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the Code), and similar state provisions. Specifically, under Sections 382 and 383 of the Code, if a corporation
undergoes an “ownership change” (generally defined as a greater than 50% change (by value) in its equity ownership by 5%
stockholders over a three-year period), our ability to use such pre-change net operating loss carryforwards and other pre-
change tax attributes to offset its post-change taxable income may be limited. As a result of our most recent private
placements and other transactions that have occurred over the past three years, we may have experienced, and, upon the
closing of this offering, may experience, an “ownership change.” We may also experience ownership changes in the future as
a result of subsequent shifts in our stock ownership.

We estimate our income tax provision, including deferred tax assets and liabilities, based on management’s judgment.
We record a valuation allowance to reduce our deferred tax assets to the amounts that are more likely than not to be realized.
We consider future taxable income, ongoing tax planning strategies and our historical financial performance in assessing the
need for a valuation allowance. If we expect to realize deferred tax assets for which we have previously recorded a valuation
allowance, we will reduce the valuation allowance in the period in which such determination is first made.

We record liabilities related to uncertain tax positions in accordance with the guidance that clarifies the accounting for
uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements by prescribing a minimum recognition threshold
and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be
taken in a tax return.

Results of Operations
Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021

The following table summarizes our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, together
with the changes in those items in dollars:

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 Change
(in thousands)

Operating expenses:

Research and development $ 61,400 $ 40,773 $ 20,627

General and administrative 15,736 10,739 4,997
Total operating expenses 77,136 51,512 25,624
Loss from operations (77,136) (51,512) (25,624)
Other income:

Interest and other income 1,415 120 1,295
Total other income 1,415 120 1,295
Net loss before income tax expense $ (75,721) $ (51,392) $ 24,329

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development (R&D) expenses were $61.4 million and $40.8 million for the years ended December 31,
2022 and 2021, respectively. The increase in R&D expenses was primarily related to clinical trial costs for milademetan,
higher payroll-related costs for our R&D personnel, and various other R&D costs for milademetan. Non-cash stock-based
compensation expenses, included as part of personnel costs, were $3.8 million and $2.5 million for the years ended
December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. We expect our
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R&D costs to continue to increase in 2023 as we continue our Phase 3 trial in LPS and our Phase 2 tumor-agnostic basket trial
for milademetan.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative (G&A) expenses were $15.7 million and $10.7 million for the years ended December 31,
2022 and 2021, respectively. The increase in G&A expenses was primarily due to payroll-related costs of $2.0 million,
professional services costs of $1.3 million, legal costs of $0.3 million, and various third-party G&A costs of $1.0 million. Non-
cash stock-based compensation expense included in G&A expenses was approximately $1.1 million and $0.6 million for
the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. We expect our general and administrative expenses to continue
to increase in 2023 as we continue to build out systems and infrastructure to support our operations.

Other Income

Other income for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 represents interest income from money market or
short-term investments.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since our inception, we have incurred significant operating losses. We expect to continue to incur significant expenses
and operating losses for the foreseeable future as we advance the preclinical and clinical development of our research
programs and product candidates. We expect that our research and development and general and administrative costs will
increase in connection with conducting additional preclinical studies and clinical trials, expanding our intellectual property
portfolio and providing general and administrative support for our operations. As a result, we will need additional capital to fund
our operations, which we may obtain from additional equity or debt financings, collaborations, licensing arrangements or other
sources.

We do not currently have any approved products and have not generated any revenue from product sales since
inception. To date, we have financed our operations through the issuance of convertible promissory notes and the issuance of
convertible preferred stock and common stock. From our inception through December 31, 2022, we have raised aggregate
gross proceeds of $9.9 million from the issuance of convertible promissory notes and $81.9 million from the issuance of
convertible preferred stock.

On April 27, 2021, we completed our IPO in which we issued and sold 7,352,941 shares of common stock at a public
offering price of $17.00 per share. On May 11, 2021, we issued an additional 492,070 shares of common stock in connection
with the exercise of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares at the public offering price. Our net proceeds from
the sale of shares in the IPO, including the sale of shares pursuant to the exercise of the underwriters’ option to purchase
additional shares, was $121.5 million, net of underwriting discounts and commissions, and other offering fees.

In May 2022, we entered into a sales agreement (the “Sales Agreement”) with Oppenheimer & Co. Inc. (the “Sales
Agent”) pursuant to which we may offer and sell up to $50.0 million of shares of our common stock, from time to time, in “at-
the-market” offerings (the “ATM Facility”). The Sales Agent is entitled to compensation at a commission equal to 3.0% of the
aggregate gross sales price per share sold under the Sales Agreement. As of December 31, 2022, we have not sold shares
pursuant to the ATM Facility.

In November 2022, we completed a registered direct offering of an aggregate of 8,576,330 shares of common stock
and non-voting common stock at $5.83 per share. In addition, we issued an additional 1,140,068 shares of common stock in
connection with the exercise of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares at the public offering price. We received
net proceeds from our November 2022 Offering of approximately $52.9 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and
commissions, and other offering fees.
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As of December 31, 2022, we had cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments of $130.5 million. Although we
believe, based on our current business plans, that our existing cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments, including
proceeds available from our ATM Facility, will be sufficient to meet our obligations for at least the next twelve months, we
anticipate that we will require additional capital in the future in order to continue the research and development of our drug
candidates. We have based this estimate on assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and we could utilize our available
capital resources sooner than we expect.

Future Funding Requirements

We expect our expenses to increase substantially in connection with our ongoing development activities related to
milademetan and other product candidates and programs, which are still in the early stages of development. In addition, we
expect to continue to incur additional costs associated with operating as a public company. We expect that our expenses will
increase substantially if and as we:

continue our on-going clinical trials and initiate new clinical trials for our milademetan program;

initiate and continue research and preclinical and clinical development of our product candidates;

seek to identify and develop additional product candidates;

seek marketing approvals for any of our product candidates that successfully complete clinical trials, if any;

establish a sales, marketing, manufacturing and distribution infrastructure to commercialize any products for
which we may obtain marketing approval;

require the manufacture of larger quantities of our product candidates for clinical development and potentially
commercialization;

maintain, expand, protect and enforce our intellectual property portfolio;

acquire or in-license other drugs and technologies;

defend against any claims of infringement, misappropriation or other violation of third-party intellectual property;
hire and retain additional clinical, quality control and scientific personnel;

build out new facilities or expand existing facilities to support our ongoing development activity;

add operational, financial and management information systems and personnel, including personnel to support
our drug development, any future commercialization efforts and our transition to a public company;

potentially experience the effects of the recent disruptions to and volatility in the credit and financial markets in the
United States and worldwide from ongoing macroeconomic conditions and the geopolitical environment; and

operate as a public company.

Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with the development of milademetan and other product
candidates and programs and because the extent to which we may enter into
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collaborations with third parties for development of our product candidates is unknown, we are unable to estimate the timing
and amounts of increased capital outlays and operating expenses associated with completing the research and development
of our product candidates and programs. Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including:

e the scope, progress, results and costs of our current and future clinical trials of milademetan for our current
targeted indications;

e the scope, progress, results and costs of drug discovery, preclinical research and clinical trials for other product
candidates;

e the number of future product candidates that we pursue and their development requirements;
e the costs, timing and outcome of regulatory review of our product candidates;

e the extent to which we acquire or invest in businesses, products and technologies, including entering into or
maintaining licensing or collaboration arrangements for product candidates on favorable terms, although we
currently have no commitments or agreements to complete any such transactions;

e the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications, maintaining, protecting and enforcing our
intellectual property rights and defending intellectual property-related claims;

e our headcount growth and associated costs as we expand our business operations and our research and
development activities;

e our ability to successfully acquire or in-license other drugs and technologies;

e the costs and timing of future commercialization activities, including drug sales, marketing, manufacturing and
distribution, for any of our product candidates for which we receive marketing approval, to the extent that such
sales, marketing, manufacturing and distribution are not the responsibility of any collaborator that we may have at
such time;

e the amount of revenue, if any, received from commercial sales of our product candidates, should any of our
product candidates receive marketing approval; and

e the costs of operating as a public company.

Developing drug products, including conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials, is a time-consuming, expensive
and uncertain process that takes years to complete, and we may never generate the necessary data or results required to
obtain marketing approval for any product candidates or generate revenue from the sale of any products for which we may
obtain marketing approval. In addition, our product candidates, if approved, may not achieve commercial success. Our
commercial revenues, if any, will be derived from sales of drugs that we do not expect to be commercially available for
many years, if at all. Accordingly, we will need to obtain substantial additional funds to achieve our business objectives.

Until such time, if ever, as we can generate product revenues to support our cost structure, we expect to finance our
cash needs through public or private equity offerings, including our ATM Facility, debt financings or other capital sources
which may include strategic collaborations, licensing arrangements or other arrangements with third parties. To the extent that
we raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, the ownership interest of our stockholders
could be diluted, and the terms of these securities may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect the rights
of our stockholders. Debt financing and equity financing, if available, may involve agreements that include
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covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capital
expenditures or declaring dividends. If we raise funds through strategic collaborations or other similar arrangements with third
parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our technology, future revenue streams, research programs or product
candidates or may have to grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us and/or may reduce the value of our
common stock. If we are unable to raise additional funds through equity or debt financings when needed, we may be required
to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product development or future commercialization efforts. Our ability to raise additional
funds may be adversely impacted by potential worsening global macroeconomic conditions and the disruptions to and volatility
in the credit and financial markets in the United States and worldwide. Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties
associated with product development, we cannot predict the timing or amount of increased expenses and cannot assure you
that we will ever be profitable or generate positive cash flow from operating activities.

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our sources and uses of cash and cash equivalents for the years ended
December 31, 2022 and 2021:

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021
(in thousands)

Net cash provided by (used in):

Operating activities $ (63,199) $ (37,463)
Investing activities 47,194 (118,235)
Financing activities 53,180 121,615
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $ 37,175 $ (34,083
Operating Activities

We have incurred losses since inception. Net cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2022
was $63.2 million, consisting primarily of net loss of $75.7 million, resulting from expenses associated with research and
development activities for our lead product candidate and general and administrative expenses, partially offset by changes in
operating assets and liabilities of $8.9 million and non-cash adjustments of $3.6 million.

Net cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2021 was $37.5 million, consisting primarily of
net loss of $51.4 million, resulting from expenses associated with research and development activities for our lead product
candidate and general and administrative expenses, partially offset by changes in operating assets and liabilities of $5.2
million and non-cash adjustments of $8.7 million.

Investing Activities

Net cash provided by investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $47.2 million, which related to
$123.4 million of proceeds received from available for sale securities maturities, offset by purchases of available for sale
securities of $76.2 million.

Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2021 was $118.2 million, which was primarily

related to purchases of available for sale securities of $163.6 million, and payment of $2.5 million to Daiichi Sankyo for in-
process research and development expense, partially offset by maturities of available for sale securities of $48.0 million.
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Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $53.2 million, which primarily
related to the net proceeds from the November 2022 Offering, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions, and
other offering fees.

Net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2021 was $121.6 million, which primarily
relates to the net proceeds from IPO, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions, and other offering fees.

Obligations and other Commitments

As discussed in Note 7 to the audited consolidated financial statements appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K, we are party to agreements to license intellectual property. The license agreements may require us to pay future
milestones if certain developmental, regulatory and commercial milestones are achieved, as well as to pay royalties on net
sales of products applicable to the license agreements. We cannot estimate if milestone and/or royalty payments will occur in
future periods and the agreements are cancelable by us at any time upon prior written notice to the licensor.

In the normal course of business, we enter into contracts with CROs and other vendors for preclinical studies and
clinical trials, research and development supplies and other testing and manufacturing services. These contracts generally do
not contain minimum purchase commitments and are cancelable by either party at any time upon prior written notice.

Our incurred and accrued research and development obligations as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 were $8.2 million
and $4.3 million, respectively.

We pay the office operating lease obligation at the beginning of each month. Under our office operating leases as
noted in Note 8 to the audited consolidated financial statements appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our
obligation as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 were $0.3 million and $0.4 million, respectively.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our financial statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (GAAP). The
preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our
estimates and base our estimates on historical experience and various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions and could
have a material impact on our reported results. While our significant accounting policies are more fully described in the notes
to our financial statements included elsewhere in this Report, we believe the following accounting policies to be the most
critical in understanding the judgments and estimates we use in preparing our financial statements.

Accrued Research and Development

We are required to estimate our expenses resulting from our obligations under contracts with vendors, consultants,
CROs and clinical site agreements in connection with conducting preclinical activities and clinical trials. The financial terms of
these contracts are subject to negotiations which vary from contract to contract and may result in payment flows that do not
match the periods over which materials or services are provided under such contracts. There may be instances in which
payments made to our vendors will exceed the level of services provided and result in a prepayment of the expense. However,
some payments
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are made in arrears and expenditures are accrued for the time periods which services are performed on a pre-determined
schedule or when contractual milestones are met. Payments under some of these contracts depend on factors such as the
successful enrollment of patients and the completion of clinical trial milestones.

This process involves reviewing open contracts and purchase orders, communicating with our applicable personnel to
identify services that have been performed on our behalf and estimating the level of service performed and the associated cost
incurred when we have not yet been invoiced or otherwise notified of actual costs. During the course of a preclinical study or
clinical trial, we adjust our prepaid and expense recognition if actual results differ from our estimates. To date, we have not
experienced any material differences between accrued costs and actual costs incurred. The accrued research and
development balances were $8.2 million and $4.3 million as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation

We follow the provision of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification
(ASC) Topic 718, “Compensation — Stock Compensation” (ASC 718), which requires the measurement and recognition of
compensation expense for all stock-based payment awards.

We estimate the fair value of our stock options using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, which requires us to
develop subjective estimates to be used in calculating the fair value of stock options. The use of the model requires us to
make estimates of subjective assumptions, such as expected stock price volatility and the estimated expected term of each
award. The fair value of restricted stock units (RSUs) granted is based on our closing stock price on the date of grant.

Stock-based compensation expense based on the fair value estimated is recognized over the requisite service period
of the awards (generally the vesting period) on a straight-line basis. Prior to the IPO, the estimated fair value of the underlying
common stock was determined on the date of grant by our board of directors. For the years ended December 31, 2022 and
2021, stock-based compensation expense was $4.9 million and $3.1 million, respectively. The following table summarizes
unvested equity compensation costs not yet recognized as of the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.

As of
December 31,
2022 2021
Unvested equity compensation costs not yet recognized (in millions) $ 108 $ 9.8
Weighted average period over which the unvested awards are expected to be recognized (in years) 25 31

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

A description of recent accounting pronouncements that may potentially impact our financial position, results of
operations or cash flows is disclosed in Note 2 to our audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2022, included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

We are a smaller reporting company, as defined by Rule 12b-2 under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 and in
Item 10(f)(1) of Regulation S-K, and are not required to provide the information under this item.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Rain Oncology Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Rain Oncology Inc. (the Company) as of
December 31, 2022 and 2021, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, convertible
preferred stock and stockholders’ equity (deficit) and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes (collectively
referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the results of its operations and
its cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement,
whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal
control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company'’s internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on
a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
We have served as the Company'’s auditor since 2019.

San Diego, California
March 9, 2023
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Rain Oncology Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Prepaid and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Operating lease right-of-use asset
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued research and development
Other accrued liabilities
Operating lease liability, current portion
Total current liabilities
Operating lease liability, net of current portion
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $ 0.001 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued
and outstanding
Common stock, $ 0.001 par value; 250,000,000 shares authorized as of December
31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively; 36,290,292 shares (comprised of
25,947,572 shares of common stock and 10,342,720 shares of non-voting common
stock) and 26,475,812 shares (comprised of 18,748,342 shares of common stock and
7,727,470 shares of non-voting common stock) issued and outstanding as of
December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

As of December 31,

2022 2021

$ 61,955 $ 24,780
68,499 115,438

3,174 5,928

133,628 146,146

93 165

258 386

1,201 443

$ 135,180 $ 147,140
$ 7,146 $ 6,112
8,232 4,349

6,424 5,694

164 160

21,966 16,315

113 252

65 69

22,144 16,636

37 27

278,853 220,530
(166) (89)
(165688) _ (89.964)

113,036 130,504

$ 135,180 $ 147,140

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements .
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Rain Oncology Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Operating expenses:
Research and development
General and administrative

Total operating expenses

Loss from operations

Other income:

Interest and other income

Total other income

Net loss before income tax expense

Income tax expense
Net loss

Net loss per share, basic and diluted
Weighted-average shares used to compute net loss per share, basic

and diluted

Net loss
Other comprehensive loss:

Unrealized loss on short-term investments

Comprehensive loss

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements .
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Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021
$ 61,400 $ 40,773
15,736 10,739

77,136 51,512

(77,136) (51,512)

1,415 120

1,415 120

(75,721) (51,392)

(3) (2)

$ (75,724) $ (51,394)
$ (271) $ (2.65)
27,985,446 19,405,833

$ (75,724) $ (51,394)
(77) (89)

$ (75,801) $ (51,483)
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Balance as of December 31,
2020

Conversion of convertible
preferred stock to common
stock

Issuance of common stock
upon IPO, net of issuance cost
Exercise of stock options
Stock-based compensation
expense

Unrealized loss on investments
Net loss

Balance as of December 31,
2021

Exercise of stock options

Issuance of common stock
from employee stock purchase
plan

Issuance of common stock in
connection with the November
2022 Offering, net of issuance
cost

Stock-based compensation
expense

Unrealized loss on investments

Net loss

Balance as of December 31,
2022

Rain Oncology Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)

(In thousands, except share amounts)

Series A Series B Accumulated
Convertible Preferred Convertible Preferred Additional Other Total
Stock Stock Common Stock Paid-in Accumulated Comprehensive Stockholders’
Shares  Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Deficit Loss Equity (Deficit,
3,731,208 $ 20,147 12,542,198 $ 74,550 3,530,975 $ 4% 1,149% (38,570)% —$ (37,417
(3,731,208) (20,147 )(12,542,198) (74,550) 15,069,330 15 94,682 — — 94,697
— — — — 7,845,011 8 121,486 — — 121,494
— — — — 30,496 — 121 — — 121
— — — — — — 3,092 — — 3,092
— — — — — — — — (89) (89
_ _ _ — = - = (51,394) = (51,394
—3$ — —$ — 26,475,812 $ 27$ 220,530 $ (89,964)$% (89)% 130,504
_ - _ - 40,220 169 - - 169
- - - - 57,862 440 - - 440
- - - - 9,716,398 10 52,859 - - 52,869
- - - - - - 4,855 - - 4,855
(
_ _ _ - _ - _ - 77 7
)
(
- - - - - - 75,724 - 75,72¢
)
—$ = —$ = 36,290,292 $ 37% 278,853 $ (165,688)$ (166)$ 113,036

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements .
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Rain Oncology Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands)

Operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash used in operating activities:
In-process research and development expense (reduction)
Depreciation and amortization expense
Stock-based compensation expense
Amortization of premium and accretion of discounts on short-term
investments, net
Fair value loss on investments
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Prepaid and other current assets
Operating lease right-of-use asset and liability, net
Other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued research and development
Other accrued liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities

Investing activities

Purchases of short-term investments

Purchases of property and equipment

Payment of in-process research and development expense
Maturities of short-term investments

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

Financing Activities

Proceeds from initial public offering

Proceeds from the issuance of common stock under the Company’s equity
incentive plans and employee stock purchase plan

Proceeds from issuance of common stock in connection with the November
2022 Offering

Payments of issuance costs related to the IPO

Payments of issuance costs related to the November 2022 Offering
Payments of issuance costs related to the ATM Facility

Net cash provided by financing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Conversion of convertible preferred stock to common stock

Non-cash in-process research and development accrual (reduction)
Non-cash additions to property and equipment

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements .

80

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021
$ (75,724) % (51,394 )
(1,000) 5,500

80 71

4,855 3,092

(331) 81

(9) (1)

2,754 (5,266)

(7) 19

(460) 181

1,034 5,288

3,883 2,822

1,726 2,144

(63,199) (37,463)

(76,198) (163,557)

(8) (128)

= (2,500)

123,400 47,950

47,194 (118,235

— 133,366

609 121

56,647 —

- (11,872)

(3,778) —

(298) =

53,180 121,615

37,175 (34,083)

24,780 58,863

$ 61,955 $ 24,780
$ — 3 94,697
$ (1,000) % 3,000
$ — $ 9
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Rain Oncology Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1 — Organization and Nature of Operations
Description of Business

Rain Oncology Inc. (“Rain” or the “Company”), formerly known as Rain Therapeutics Inc., was incorporated in the
state of Delaware in April 2017. Rain is a late-stage precision oncology company developing therapies that target oncogenic
drivers for which the Company is able to genetically select patients the Company believes will most likely benefit. This
approach includes using a tumor-agnostic strategy to select patients based on their tumors’ underlying genetics rather than
histology. Rain’s lead product candidate, milademetan, is a small molecule, oral inhibitor of the MDM2-p53 complex that
reactivates p53. The Company operates in one business segment and its principal operations are in the United States, with its
headquarters in Newark, California.

On June 22, 2022, the Company formed Rain Oncology Australia Pty Ltd (“Rain Oncology Australia”), a wholly owned
subsidiary incorporated under the laws of Australia. As of December 31, 2022, Rain Oncology Australia was not yet
operational.

On December 22, 2022, the Company filed a Certificate of Amendment to its Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware to effect a change of the Company’s hame from “Rain
Therapeutics Inc.” to “Rain Oncology Inc.” effective as of December 30, 2022.

Initial Public Offering

On April 27, 2021, the Company completed its initial public offering (“IPO”) in which the Company issued and sold
7,352,941 shares of common stock at a public offering price of $ 17.00 per share. On May 11, 2021, the Company issued an
additional 492,070 shares of common stock in connection with the exercise of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional
shares at the public offering price. The Company’s net proceeds from the sale of shares in the IPO, including the sale of
shares pursuant to the exercise of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares, was $ 121.5 million, net of
underwriting discounts and commissions, and other offering fees.

Immediately prior to the closing of the IPO, 8,344,905 shares of the Company’s convertible preferred stock were
exchanged for 7,727,470 shares of non-voting common stock. Upon the closing of the IPO, 7,928,501 shares of the
Company'’s convertible preferred stock were automatically converted into 7,341,860 shares of common stock. As of December
31, 2022 and 2021, there were no shares of convertible preferred stock outstanding.

November 2022 Offering

In November 2022, the Company entered into an underwriting agreement with Guggenheim Securities, LLC, as the
representative of the underwriters named therein (the “Underwriters”) relating to the offering, issuance and sale (the
“November 2022 Offering”) of an aggregate of 8,576,330 shares of common stock and non-voting common stock at an offering
price per share of $ 5.83 . On November 15, 2022, the Company issued an additional 1,140,068 shares of common stock in
connection with the exercise of the Underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares at the offering price. The Company’s
net proceeds from the sale of shares in the November 2022 Offering, including the sale of shares pursuant to the exercise of
the Underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares, was approximately $ 52.9 million, net of underwriting discounts and
commissions, and other offering fees.
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Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”). These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the
Company and Rain Oncology Australia . All significant inter-company transactions, balances and expenses have been
eliminated upon consolidation. Any reference in these notes to applicable guidance is meant to refer to GAAP as found in the
Accounting Standards Codification and Accounting Standards Updates (“ASU”) promulgated by the Financial Accounting
Standards Board (“FASB”).

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Company has devoted substantially all of its efforts to drug discovery and development, raising capital and
building operations. The Company has a limited operating history and has not generated any revenue since its inception, and
the sales and income potential of the Company’s business is unproven. The Company has incurred net losses and negative
cash flows from operating activities since its inception and expects to continue to incur net losses into the foreseeable future
as it continues the development of its product candidates. From inception through December 31, 2022, the Company has
funded its operations through net proceeds from its IPO in April 2021 and the November 2022 Offering, and the issuance of
convertible promissory notes and convertible preferred stock.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming the Company will continue as a
going concern. Management believes that the Company’s current cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments will
provide sufficient funds to enable the Company to meet its obligations for at least twelve months from the filing date of this
report.

Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Use of Estimates

The preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that impact the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and expenses and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities in the Company’s consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. The most
significant estimate in the Company’s consolidated financial statements relates to the clinical trial expense accruals.
Management evaluates its estimates on an ongoing basis. Although these estimates are based on the Company’s historical
experience, knowledge of current events and actions it may undertake in the future, actual results may ultimately materially
differ from these estimates and assumptions.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less at the date of
purchase to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents include commercial paper and money market funds.

Available-for-Sale Investments

The Company holds investment grade securities consisting of commercial paper, corporate debt securities, U.S.
government securities and U.S. agency bonds, classified as available-for-sale (AFS) securities at the time of purchase, since it
is the Company’s intent that these investments be available for current operations. The Company has classified all of its AFS
securities as current assets on the consolidated balance sheets even though the stated maturity date may be one year or
more beyond the current consolidated balance sheet date, which reflects management’s intention to use the proceeds from
sales of these securities to fund its operations, as necessary.
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The Company carries these securities at fair value and reports unrealized gains and losses, if any, as a separate
component of accumulated other comprehensive loss. The cost of debt securities is adjusted for amortization of purchase
premiums and accretion of discounts to maturity. Such amortization and accretion are included in interest income (expense) in
the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. Realized gains and losses on sales of securities are
determined using the specific identification method and recorded in other income (expense), net in the consolidated statement
of operations and comprehensive loss.

Investments are considered to be impaired when a decline in fair value is judged to be other-than-temporary. The
Company consults with its investment managers and considers available quantitative and qualitative evidence in evaluating
potential impairment of its investments on a quarterly basis. If the cost of an individual investment exceeds its fair value, the
Company evaluates among other factors, general market conditions, the duration and extent to which the fair value is less
than cost, and the Company’s intent and ability to hold the investment. Once an impairment is determined to be other-than-
temporary, an impairment charge is recorded and a new cost basis in the investment is established. Declines in the value of
AFS securities determined to be other than temporary are included in other income (expense), net.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of all cash equivalents, prepaid expenses and other assets, accounts payable and accrued and
other current liabilities are reasonable estimates of their fair value because of the short-term nature of these items.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Company to significant concentration of credit risk, consist
primarily of cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments. The Company maintains cash and money market deposits in a
federally insured major financial institution in excess of federally insured limits. The Company has not experienced any losses
in such accounts and management believes that the Company is not exposed to significant credit risk due to the financial
position of the depository institution in which those deposits are held.

Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs primarily consist of costs associated with the Company’s research and
development activities, including its drug discovery efforts, and the preclinical and clinical development of its product
candidates. Research and development costs are expensed as incurred.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, net consists of computer equipment, furniture and equipment and leasehold improvements.
Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the estimated useful life or the remainder of the lease term.
Computer equipment and furniture and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the assets (generally two to three years ). Repairs and maintenance costs are charged to expense as
incurred.

Long-Lived Assets

The Company regularly reviews the carrying value and estimated lives of all of its long-lived assets, including property
and equipment, to determine whether indicators of impairment may exist which warrant adjustments to carrying values or
estimated useful lives. Should an impairment exist, the impairment loss would be measured based on the excess over the
carrying amount of the asset’s fair value. The Company has no t recognized any impairment losses from inception through
December 31, 2022.
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Commitments

The Company recognizes a liability with regard to loss contingencies when it believes it is probable that a liability has
occurred, and the amount can be reasonably estimated. If some amount within a range of loss appears at the time to be a
better estimate than any other amount within the range, the Company accrues that amount. When no amount within the range
is a better estimate than any other amount, the Company accrues the minimum amount in the range. The Company has not
recorded any such liabilities as of December 31, 2022.

Leases

At the inception of a contractual arrangement, the Company determines whether the contract contains a lease by
assessing whether there is an identified asset and whether the contract conveys the right to control the use of the identified
asset in exchange for consideration over a period of time. If both criteria are met, the Company records the associated lease
liability and corresponding right-of-use asset upon commencement of the lease using the implicit rate or a discount rate based
on a credit- adjusted secured borrowing rate commensurate with the term of the lease. The Company additionally evaluates
leases at their inception to determine if they are to be accounted for as an operating lease or a finance lease. Operating lease
assets represent a right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and operating lease liabilities represent an obligation to
make lease payments arising from the lease. Operating lease liabilities with a term greater than one year and their
corresponding right-of-use assets are recognized on the consolidated balance sheet at the commencement date of the lease
based on the present value of lease payments over the expected lease term. Certain adjustments to the right-of-use asset
may be required for items such as initial direct costs paid or incentives received. As the Company’s leases do not typically
provide an implicit rate, the Company utilizes the appropriate incremental borrowing rate, determined as the rate of interest
that the Company would have to pay to borrow on a collateralized basis over a similar term and in a similar economic
environment. Lease cost is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term and variable lease payments are
recognized as operating expenses in the period in which the obligation for those payments is incurred. Variable lease
payments primarily include common area maintenance, utilities, real estate taxes, insurance and other operating costs that are
passed on from the lessor in proportion to the space leased by the Company. The Company has elected the practical
expedient to not separate lease and non-lease components.

Preclinical Studies and Clinical Trial Accruals

The Company is required to estimate its expenses resulting from its obligations under contracts with vendors,
consultants, clinical research organizations and clinical site agreements in connection with conducting preclinical activities and
clinical trials. The financial terms of these contracts are subject to negotiations which vary from contract to contract and may
result in payment flows that do not match the periods over which materials or services are provided under such contracts. The
Company reflects preclinical study and clinical trial expenses in its consolidated financial statements by matching those
expenses with the period in which services and efforts are expended. The Company accounts for these expenses according to
the progress of the preclinical study or clinical trial as measured by the timing of various aspects of the preclinical study,
clinical trial or related activities. The Company determines accrual and prepaid estimates through review of the underlying
contracts along with preparation of financial models taking into account correspondence with clinical and other key personnel
and third- party service providers as to the progress of preclinical studies, clinical trials or other services being conducted.
During the course of a preclinical study or clinical trial, the Company adjusts its expense recognition if actual results differ from
its estimates. To date, the Company has not experienced any material differences between accrued costs and actual costs
incurred.

In-Process Research and Development
The Company evaluates whether acquired intangible assets are a business under applicable accounting standards.

Additionally, the Company evaluates whether the acquired assets have a future
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alternative use. Intangible assets that do not have future alternative use, such as the license the Company acquired from
Daiichi Sankyo Company, Limited, (Daiichi Sankyo), are considered acquired in-process research and development. When the
acquired in-process research and development assets are not part of a business combination, the value of the consideration
paid is expensed on the acquisition date. Future costs to develop these assets are recorded to research and development
expenses as they are incurred.

Patent Costs

Costs related to filing and pursuing patent applications are recorded as general and administrative expense and
expensed as incurred since recoverability of such expenditures is uncertain.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist of salaries, stock-based compensation, facilities and third-party
expenses. General and administrative expenses are associated with the activities of the executive, finance, accounting,
information technology, legal and human resource functions.

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense represents the grant date fair value of equity awards recognized over the
requisite service period of the awards (generally the vesting period) on a straight-line basis. The Company recognizes
forfeitures as they occur. The Company estimates the fair value of stock option grants using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model. The fair value of restricted stock units (“‘RSUs") granted is based on the Company’s closing stock price on the date of
grant. Prior to the IPO, the exercise price for all stock options granted was at the estimated fair value of the underlying
common stock as determined on the date of grant by the Board of Directors.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of
deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the
consolidated financial statements. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined on the basis of the
differences between the financial statements and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for
the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and
liabilities is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.

The Company recognizes deferred tax assets to the extent that the Company believes these assets are more likely
than not to be realized. In making such a determination, management considers all available positive and negative evidence,
including future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, projected future taxable income, tax-planning strategies
and results of recent operations. If management determines that the Company would be able to realize its deferred tax assets
in the future in excess of their recorded amount, management would make an adjustment to the deferred tax asset valuation
allowance, which would reduce the provision for income taxes.

The Company records uncertain tax positions on the basis of a two-step process whereby (1) management
determines whether it is more likely than not that the tax positions will be sustained on the basis of the technical merits of the
position and (2) for those tax positions that meet the more likely than not recognition threshold, management recognizes the
largest amount of tax benefit that is more than 50 percent likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement with the related tax
authority. The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits within income tax expense. Any
accrued interest and penalties are included within the related tax liability.

85




Table of Contents

Effective January 1, 2022, we adopted ASU 2019-12 - Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes. The adoption of
this standard did not impact the Company’s consolidated financial statements or related disclosures.

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss is defined as a change in equity during a period from transactions and other events and
circumstances from non-owner sources. The Company’s comprehensive loss includes unrealized gains and losses from
short-term investments.

Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per share is calculated by dividing the net loss attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-
average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the period, without consideration of potential dilutive securities.
Diluted net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss attributable to common stockholders by the sum of the
weighted-average number of shares of common stock plus the potential dilutive effects of potential dilutive securities
outstanding during the period. Potential dilutive securities are excluded from diluted earnings or loss per share if the effect of
such inclusion is antidilutive. The Company’s potentially dilutive securities, which include shares from the 2021 Employee
Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”) and outstanding stock options and RSUs under the Company’s equity incentive plan, have
been excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share as they would be anti-dilutive to the net loss per share. For
the periods presented, there is no difference in the number of shares used to calculate basic and diluted shares outstanding
due to the Company’s net loss position.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

There were no significant updates to the recently issued accounting standards for the year ended December 31,
2022. Although there are several other new accounting pronouncements issued or proposed by the FASB, based on the
Company'’s preliminary assessment, the Company does not believe any of those accounting pronouncements have had or will
have a material impact on its financial position or operating results.

Note 3 - Fair Value Measurements

The accounting guidance defines fair value, establishes a consistent framework for measuring fair value and expands
disclosure for each major asset and liability category measured at fair value on either a recurring or non-recurring basis. Fair
value is defined as an exit price, representing the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants. As such, fair value is a market-based measurement that should be
determined based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. As a basis for considering
such assumptions, the accounting guidance establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in
measuring fair value as follows:

Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical,
unrestricted assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, quoted prices in markets that are not active,
or inputs which are observable, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the asset or
liability.

Level 3: Prices or valuation techniques that require inputs that are both significant to the fair value measurement and
unobservable (i.e., supported by little or no market activity).
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Financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis consist of the Company’s cash equivalents and AFS
securities. The Company obtains pricing information from its investment manager and generally determines the fair value of
investment securities using standard observable inputs, including reported trades, broker/dealer quotes, and bids and/or
offers.

Investments are classified as Level 1 within the fair value hierarchy if their quoted prices are available in active
markets for identical securities. Investments in money market funds and U.S. government securities were classified as Level 1
instruments.

Investments in commercial paper, corporate debt securities and U.S. agency bonds are valued using Level 2 inputs.
The Company classifies investments within Level 2 if the investments are valued using model driven valuations using
observable inputs such as quoted market prices, benchmark yields, reported trades, broker/dealer quotes or alternative pricing
sources with reasonable levels of price transparency. Investments are held by custodians who obtain investment prices from a
third-party pricing provider that incorporates standard inputs in various asset pricing models.

The carrying amounts of cash, prepaid expenses and other current assets, other assets, accounts payable, accrued
research and development, other current liabilities and other long-term liabilities are reasonable estimates of their fair value
due to the short-term nature of these accounts.

The Company’s money market funds under cash and cash equivalents are classified using Level 1 inputs within the
fair value hierarchy because they are valued using quoted market prices, broker or dealer quotations, or alternative pricing
sources with reasonable levels of price transparency. There were no transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy
during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.

The following table summarizes financial assets that the Company measured at fair value on a recurring basis,
classified in accordance with the fair value hierarchy (in thousands):

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
As of December 31, 2022
Money market funds $ 8,528 $ — % — % 8,528
Commercial paper — 83,423 — 83,423
U.S. government securities 10,837 — — 10,837
U.S. agency bonds — 22,143 — 22,143
Corporate debt securities — 997 — 997
Total cash equivalents and short-term $ 10365 $ 106563 $ _ 5 125.928
investments
Reported as:
Cash and cash equivalents (includes cash of $ $ 61,955
4,526)
Short-term investments 68,499
Total cash, cash equivalents and short-term $ 130,454
investments
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As of December 31, 2021
Money market funds
Commercial paper
U.S. government securities
U.S. agency bonds
Corporate debt securities
Total cash equivalents and short-term investments
Reported as:

Cash and cash equivalents (includes cash of $ 397 )

Short-term investments

Total cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$ 10,585 $ — % —  $ 10,585
— 84,616 — 84,616
27,824 — — 27,824
— 8,531 — 8,531
— 8,265 — 8,265
$ 38409 $ 101412 $ — 3 139,821
$ 24,780
115,438
$ 140,218

There were no liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2022 and 2021.

Note 4 - Investments

We invest in available-for-sale securities consisting of money market funds, commercial paper, U.S. government
securities, U.S. agency bonds and corporate debt securities. Available-for-sale securities are classified as either cash and cash
equivalents or short-term investments on the consolidated balance sheets.

The following table summarizes, by major types of cash equivalents, and investments that are measured at fair value

on a recurring basis (in thousands):

As of December 31, 2022

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Money market funds $ 8,528 $ —$ -9 8,528
Commercial paper 83,479 11 (67) 83,423
U.S. government securities 10,910 — (73) 10,837
U.S. agency bonds 22,175 4 (36) 22,143
Corporate debt securities 1,002 — (5) 997
(
Cash equivalents and short-term investments $ 126,094 $ 15 $ l81$ 125,928
)
As of December 31, 2021
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Money market funds $ 10,585 $ —$ —$ 10,585
Commercial paper 84,642 2 (28) 84,616
U.S. government securities 27.870 — (46) 27,824
U.S. agency bonds 8,546 — (15) 8,531
Corporate debt securities 8,267 — (2) 8,265
Cash equivalents and short-term investments $ 139,910 $ 2$ (91)$ 139,821
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The contractual maturities of the Company’s AFS securities were as follows (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2022 2021
Due within one year $ 63595 $ 105,173
Due within one to two years 4,904 10,265
Total $ 68,499 $ 115,438

The available-for-sale investments are classified as current assets, even though the stated maturity date may be
one year or more beyond the current consolidated balance sheet date, which reflects management’s intention to use the
proceeds from sales of these securities to fund the Company’s operations, as necessary. There were no realized gains or
losses due to investment sales for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021. As of December 31, 2022, $ 85.9 million of
the Company’s marketable securities were in gross unrealized loss positions, of which none had been in such position for
greater than 12 months and $ 53.6 million will mature within three months of December 31, 2022.

At each reporting date, the Company performs an evaluation of its marketable securities to determine if any
unrealized losses are other-than-temporary. Factors considered in determining whether a loss is other-than-temporary include
(i) the financial strength of the issuing institution, (ii) the length of time and extent for which fair value has been less than the
cost basis and (iii) the Company'’s intent and ability to hold its investments in unrealized loss positions until their amortized
cost basis has been recovered. Based on the Company’s evaluation, it determined that its unrealized losses were not other-
than-temporary at December 31, 2022 and 2021. The Company does not intend to sell the investments before maturity, and it
is unlikely that the Company will be required to sell the investments before recovery of their amortized cost bases.

Note 5 - Consolidated Balance Sheet Details
Prepaid and Other Current Assets
Prepaid and other current assets consist of the following (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2022 2021

Prepaid research $ 1,103 $ 4,329
Prepaid insurance 913 827
FICA tax credit receivable 571 452
Other current assets 152 205
Prepaid other 416 96
Deposits 19 19

Prepaid and other current assets $ 3174  $ 5,928

Property and equipment, net, consist of the following (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2022 2021

Furniture and equipment $ 204 % 204
Leasehold improvements 67 67
Computer equipment 50 50
Construction in progress 8 —
$ 329 % 321

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization expense (236) (156)
Property and equipment, net $ 93 $ 165
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Depreciation and amortization expense for each of the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 was $ 0.1 million.
Other Non-Current Assets

Other non-current assets consist of the following (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2022 2021
Deposits $ 781 $ 75
FICA tax credit receivable 52 298
Other 368 70
Other non-current assets $ 1,201 $ 443

Other Accrued Liabilities

Other accrued liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2022 2021
Accrued bonus $ 3379 % 1,933
Accrued payroll and related 229 39
ESPP liability 155 369
Other 2,661 3,353
Other accrued liabilities $ 6,424 $ 5,694

Note 6 — Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)

In 2020, the Company amended its Certificate of Incorporation to authorize the issuance of 24,000,000 shares of
common stock, par value $ 0.001 per share, and 16,273,406 shares of preferred stock, par value $ 0.001 per share, of which
3,731,208 shares were designated Series A convertible preferred stock and 12,542,198 shares were designated Series B
convertible preferred stock.

In April 2021, the Company filed a certificate of amendment to its certificate of incorporation, which authorized
260,000,000 shares of capital stock, consisting of 250,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $ 0.001 per share, and
10,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock, par value $ 0.001 per share that may be issued from time to time by the
Board of Directors in one or more series. Of the 250,000,000 shares of common stock, 200,000,000 shares were designated
as “Common Stock” and 50,000,000 shares were designated as “Non-Voting Common Stock.”

Rights, preferences, powers, privileges and restrictions, qualifications and limitations for holders of the Company’s
Common Stock and Non-Voting Common Stock are:

a) Voting Common Stock Voting Rights. Each holder of Voting Common Stock, as such, shall be entitled to one vote
for each share of Voting Common Stock held of record by such holder on all matters on which stockholders
generally are entitled to vote; provided, however, that, except as otherwise required by law, holders of Voting
Common Stock, as such, shall not be entitled to vote on any amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation,
including any certificate of designations relating to any series of Preferred Stock (each hereinafter referred to as a
“Preferred Stock Designation”), that relates solely to the terms of one or more outstanding series of Preferred
Stock if the holders of such affected series are entitled, either separately or together with the
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b)

©)

holders of one or more other such series, to vote thereon pursuant to the Certificate of Incorporation (including
any Preferred Stock Designation).

Non-Voting Common Stock Voting Rights. Non-Voting Common Stock (i) shall be non-voting except as may be
required by law and (ii) shall not entitle the holder thereof to vote on the election of directors at any time.

Non-Voting Common Stock Conversion. Each holder of shares of Non-Voting Common Stock shall have the right
to convert each share of Non-Voting Common Stock held by such holder into one share (subject to appropriate
adjustment in the event of any stock dividend, stock split, reverse stock split, combination or other similar
recapitalization with respect to the Voting Common Stock) of Voting Common Stock at such holder’s election by
providing written notice to the Company ; provided, however, that such shares of Non-Voting Common Stock may
only be converted into shares of Voting Common Stock during such time or times as immediately prior to or as a
result of such conversion would not result in the holder(s) thereof beneficially owning (for purposes of

Section 13(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended and the rules and regulations promulgated
thereunder (collectively, the “Exchange Act”)), when aggregated with affiliates with whom such holder is required
to aggregate beneficial ownership for purposes of Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act, in excess of the Beneficial
Ownership Limitation. The “Beneficial Ownership Limitation” means initially 9.99 % of the Voting Common Stock.
Any holder of Non-Voting Common Stock may increase the Beneficial Ownership Limitation with respect to such
holder, not to exceed 19.99 % of the Voting Common Stock, upon 61 days ’ prior written notice to the Company
and may decrease the Beneficial Ownership Limitation at any time upon providing written notice of such election
to the Company; provided, however, that no holder may make such an election to change the percentage with
respect to such holder unless all holders managed by the same investment advisor as such electing holder make
the same election. Before any holder of Non-Voting Common Stock shall be entitled to convert any shares of Non-
Voting Common Stock into shares of Voting Common Stock, such holder shall (A) surrender the certificate or
certificates therefor (if any), duly endorsed, at the principal corporate office of the Company or of any transfer
agent for the Non-Voting Common Stock, and (B) provide written notice to the Company, during regular business
hours at its principal corporate office, of such conversion election (in form satisfactory to the Company) and shall
state therein the name or names (i) in which the certificate or certificates representing the shares of Voting
Common Stock into which the shares of Non-Voting Common Stock are so converted are to be issued (if such
shares of Voting Common Stock are certificated) or (ii) in which such shares of Voting Common Stock are to be
registered in book-entry form (if such shares of Voting Common Stock are uncertificated). If the shares of Voting
Common Stock into which the shares of Non-Voting Common Stock are to be converted are to be issued in a
name or names other than the name of the holder of the shares of Non-Voting Common Stock being converted,
such notice shall be accompanied by a written instrument or instruments of transfer, in form satisfactory to the
Company, duly executed by the holder. The Company shall, as soon as practicable thereafter, issue and deliver at
such office to such holder, or to the nominee or nominees of such holder, a certificate or certificates representing
the number of shares of Voting Common Stock to which such holder shall be entitled upon such conversion (if
such shares of Voting Common Stock are certificated) or shall register such shares of Voting Common Stock in
book-entry form (if such shares of Voting Common Stock are uncertificated). Such conversion shall be deemed to
be effective immediately prior to the close of business on the date of such surrender of the shares of Non-Voting
Common Stock to be converted following or contemporaneously with the provision of written notice of such
conversion election as required by this section, the shares of Voting Common Stock issuable upon such
conversion shall be deemed to be outstanding as of such time, and the person or persons entitled to receive the
shares of Voting Common Stock issuable upon such conversion shall be deemed to be the record holder or
holders of such shares of Voting Common Stock as of such time. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary,
shares of Non-Voting Common Stock represented by a lost, stolen or destroyed stock certificate may be
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d)

e)

converted if the holder thereof notifies the Company or its transfer agent that such certificate has been lost, stolen
or destroyed and makes an affidavit of that fact acceptable to the Company and executes an agreement
acceptable to the Company to indemnify the Company from any loss incurred by it in connection with such
certificate. The effectiveness of any conversion of any shares of Non-Voting Common Stock into shares of Voting
Common Stock is subject to the expiration or early termination of any applicable premerger notification and
waiting period requirements of the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended, and the
rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

Dividends. Subject to the rights of the holders of any outstanding series of Preferred Stock, the holders of shares
of Common Stock shall be entitled to receive any dividends to the extent permitted by law when, as and if declared
by the Board of Directors.

Liquidation. Upon the dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Company, subject to the rights of the holders of
any outstanding series of Preferred Stock, the holders of shares of Common Stock shall be entitled to receive the
assets of the Company available for distribution to its stockholders ratably in proportion to the number of shares
held by them. The Non-Voting Common Stock shall rank on parity with the Voting Common Stock as to
distributions of assets upon dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Company, whether voluntary or
involuntary.

Convertible Preferred Stock

Series A Convertible Preferred Stock. In April 2018, the Company entered into a Series A convertible preferred stock
purchase agreement, pursuant to which the Company issued 2,098,269 shares of Series A convertible preferred stock for an
aggregate purchase price of $ 11.0 million, net of issuance costs. In December 2018, the Company issued an additional
1,390,788 shares of Series A convertible preferred stock for an aggregate purchase price of $ 7.3 million, net of issuance

costs.

Series B Convertible Preferred Stock. In September 2020, the Company entered into a Series B convertible preferred
stock purchase agreement, pursuant to which the Company issued 10,636,510 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock
for an aggregate purchase price of $ 63.2 million, net of issuance costs.

Rights, preferences, powers, privileges and restrictions, qualifications and limitations for holders of the Company’s
Series A convertible preferred stock and Series B convertible preferred stock were:

Dividends: Each holder of the Company’s Series A and Series B convertible preferred stock was entitled to
receive non-cumulative dividends, when and if declared by the Board of Directors. No dividends have been
declared to date.

Liquidation Preferences: In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, the holders of
the Series A and Series B convertible preferred stock were entitled to receive, prior and in preference to any
distribution of any of the assets of the Company to the holders of common stock, an amount per share equal to
the original issue price plus declared but unpaid dividends.

Conversion: Each share of Series A and Series B convertible preferred stock was convertible at the option of the
holder, at any time, into the number of shares of common stock determined by dividing the applicable purchase
price by the applicable conversion price at the time of conversion. Each share of Series A and Series B
convertible preferred stock will be automatically converted into common stock immediately upon (i) the closing of
a firm commitment underwritten IPO resulting in at least $ 50.0 million of gross proceeds to the Company or

(ii) the receipt by the Company of a written request for automatic conversion from the holders of a majority of the
outstanding shares of Series A and Series B convertible preferred stock.
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e Voting: The holders of the Series A and Series B convertible preferred stock were entitled to one vote for each
share of common stock into which such shares of Series A and Series B convertible preferred stock could then be
converted; and with respect to such vote, such holders shall have full voting rights and powers equal to the voting
rights and powers of the holders of the common stock.

e Redemption: The Series A and Series B convertible preferred stock were not explicitly redeemable at the option
of the holder at a specified date in the future or at the option of the Company.

Prior to the IPO, the Company’s Series A and Series B convertible preferred stock were classified as temporary equity
on the consolidated balance sheet instead of in stockholders’ equity (deficit), as events triggering redemption that were not
solely within the Company’s control because the preferred stockholders had the ability to effect a liquidation event. The
Company determined not to adjust the carrying values of the Series A and Series B convertible preferred stock to the
liguidation preferences of such shares because of the uncertainty of whether or when such liquidation events would occur.

On April 27, 2021, immediately prior to the closing of the IPO, 8,344,905 shares of the Company’s convertible
preferred stock were exchanged for 7,727,470 shares of Non-Voting Common Stock and 7,928,501 shares of the Company’s
convertible preferred stock converted into 7,341,860 shares of Common Stock. There were no outstanding shares of the
Company'’s convertible preferred stock as of December 31, 2022 and 2021.

Equity Incentive Plan

In August 2020, the Board of Directors amended the Amended and Restated 2018 Stock Option—Stock Issuance
Plan (the “2018 Plan”) to increase the maximum number of shares of common stock that may be issued over the term of the
plan. The 2018 Plan provided for the grant of stock options, non-statutory stock options, incentive stock options and stock
issuances to employees, nonemployees and consultants of the Company.

In April 2021, the Company’s 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2021 Plan”) was approved by the Board of Directors
and became effective on April 15, 2021. Upon the effectiveness of the 2021 Plan, no further grants may be made under the
2018 Plan.

The 2021 Plan allows the Company to grant equity-based awards to its officers, employees, directors and other key
persons (including consultants). The Company initially reserved up to 3,246,120 shares of common stock for issuance under
the 2021 Plan, plus (i) 1,722 shares that remained available for the issuance of awards under the 2018 Plan at the time the
2021 Plan became effective, and (ii) any shares subject to outstanding options or other share awards that were granted under
the 2018 Plan that terminate or expire prior to exercise or settlement; are forfeited because of the failure to vest; or are
reacquired or withheld (or not issued) to satisfy a tax withholding obligation or the purchase or exercise price. The 2021 Plan
provides that the number of shares reserved and available for issuance under the plan will automatically increase each
January 1, beginning on January 1, 2022 and each January 1 thereafter through January 31, 2032, by 4.0 % of the
outstanding number of shares of common stock on the immediately preceding December 31, or such lesser number of shares
as determined by the Board of Directors. As a result, the number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance under the
2021 Plan increased by 1,451,611 shares on January 1, 2023.
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Stock Options

A summary of the Company’s stock option activities during the year ended December 31, 2022 is as follows:

Weighted- Weighted-

Average Average Aggregate
Exercise Remaining Intrinsic
Price Per Contract Term Value
Total Options Share (in years) (in millions)
Outstanding as of December 31, 2021 1,734,696 $ 8.50 88 3% 7.6
Granted 1,197,328 $ 7.99
(
Exercised 40’220$ 4.20
)
(
Forfeited or cancelled 298,043$ 10.72
)
Outstanding as of December 31, 2022 2593761 $ 8.08 82% 5.3
Vested and expected to vest as of December 31, 2022 2,593,761 $ 8.08 829% 5.3
Vested and exercisable as of December 31, 2022 988,166 $ 6.86 71% 3.0

The weighted-average grant date fair values of option grants during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021
were $ 6.61 and $ 12.14 per share, respectively. The weighted-average grant date fair values of options forfeited during
the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 were $ 9.35 and $ 6.08 per share, respectively.

Restricted Stock Units

A summary of the Company’s RSU activities during the year ended December 31, 2022 is as follows:

Weighted- Aggregate
Total Average Intrinsic
Restricted Grant Date Value
Stock Units Fair Values (in millions)
Outstanding as of December 31, 2021 — % — 3% —
Granted 9,289 $ 6.25
Vested — 3 —
Forfeited or cancelled (344) % 6.25
Outstanding as of December 31, 2022 8945 $ 625 $ 0.1

There were no RSUs vested during the year ended December 31, 2022.
Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The ESPP was approved by the Board of Directors and became effective on April 15, 2021. The ESPP initially
reserved and authorized the issuance of up to 259,689 shares of common stock to participating employees. Under the ESPP,
eligible employees can contribute up to 15 % of their eligible compensation, as defined in the ESPP, towards the purchase of
the Company’s common stock at a price of 85 % of the lower of the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the
first trading day of the offering period or on the last trading day of the offering period. The ESPP provides for twenty-four-
month offering periods with four six-month purchase periods in each offering period. The ESPP provides that the number of
shares reserved and available for issuance will automatically increase each January 1, beginning on January 1, 2022 and
each January 1 thereafter through January 31, 2032, by 1.0 % of the total number of shares of common stock outstanding on
December 31 of the preceding calendar year. As a result, the number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance under
the ESPP increased by 362,902 shares on January 1, 2023. Under the ESPP, the Company issued 57,862 shares of common
stock for aggregate cash proceeds of $ 0.4 million during the year ended December 31, 2022.
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Stock-Based Compensation Expense
The Company recognized stock-based compensation expense as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021
Research and development $ 3,782 $ 2,486
General and administrative 1,073 606
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 4855 $ 3,092

The weighted-average assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of the
stock option grants were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021
Risk-free interest rate 1.6%-43% 08%-1.3%
Expected volatility 88.1% - 112.1 % 113.2% - 118.7 %
Expected term (in years) 53-6.1 5.0-6.1
Expected dividend yield 0% 0%

As of December 31, 2022, the total unrecognized compensation cost related to outstanding stock options and
restricted stock units was $ 10.7 million and is expected to be recognized as expense over approximately 2.6 years.

The weighted average assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value of
purchase rights granted under the ESPP were as follows:

Year Ended
December 31,
2022 2021
Risk-free interest rate 0.2 % 0.1 %
Expected volatility 139.6 % 127.8%
Expected term (in years) 2.2 14
Expected dividend yield 0% 0%

As of December 31, 2022, there was $ 0.1 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to the ESPP and is
expected to be recognized over approximately 0.5 years.

The determination of the fair value of share-based payment awards utilizing the Black-Scholes option-pricing model is
affected by the Company’s stock price and the following assumptions:

Risk-free interest rate. The risk-free interest rate assumption is based on the U.S. Treasury instruments, the terms of
which were consistent with the expected term of the Company’s stock-based awards.

Expected volatility. Due to the Company’s limited operating history and lack of company-specific historical or implied
volatility, the expected volatility assumption was determined by examining the historical volatilities of a group of industry peers
whose share prices are publicly available.

Expected term. The expected term represents the weighted-average period the stock-based awards are expected to

be outstanding. The Company uses the simplified method for estimating the expected term. The simplified method calculates
the expected term as the average of the time-to-vesting and the contractual life of the stock-based awards.
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Expected dividend yield. The expected dividend assumption is based on the Company’s history and expectation of
dividend payouts. The Company has not paid and does not intend to pay dividends.

Forfeitures. The Company reduces stock-based compensation expense for actual forfeitures during the period.
Common Stock Reserved for Future Issuance
Common stock reserved for future issuance consist of the following:

As of December 31,

2022 2021
Stock options 2.503,761 1,734,696
Restricted stock units 8,945 —
Reserved for future equity award grants 3,084,732 2,933,930
Reserved for future ESPP issuances 466,585 259,689
Common stock reserved for future issuance 6,154,023 4,928,315

Note 7 — License Agreements

The Company has entered into license agreements, accounted for as asset acquisitions, under which the Company is
required to use commercially reasonable efforts to meet certain specified development and regulatory milestones related to
the licensed technologies within specified time periods. In consideration of the rights granted to the Company under the
agreements, the Company is required to make cash milestone payments to the licensors upon the completion of certain
development, regulatory and commercial milestones. For the arrangements that the Company accounted for as asset
acquisitions, contingent consideration liabilities are recorded as an additional cost of the acquired assets when the
contingency is resolved, and the consideration is paid or becomes payable. Additionally, the Company has agreed to pay
royalties on net sales of products applicable to the license agreements. The Company may terminate the agreements upon
written notice to the licensors.

Daiichi Sankyo License Agreement

On September 2, 2020 , the Company licensed the rights to milademetan (DS-3032b) for all human prophylactic or
therapeutic uses in all countries and territories of the world from Daiichi Sankyo (the “Daiichi Sankyo License Agreement”).
Daiichi Sankyo conducted clinical studies of milademetan prior to the Company’s licensing the rights to this product. The
Company refers to this product candidate as milademetan.

In accordance with the terms of the Daiichi Sankyo License Agreement, the Company paid Daiichi Sankyo an initial
upfront payment of $ 5.0 million in September 2020.

Under the Daiichi Sankyo License Agreement, the Company obtained worldwide, sublicensable exclusive rights to
seven families of patents with respect to milademetan (the “Licensed Compound”). The Company is solely responsible under
the Daiichi Sankyo License Agreement for the research, development and registration of milademetan. Pursuant to the Daiichi
Sankyo License Agreement, Daiichi Sankyo had the right to continue to conduct three clinical trials and prepare final reports
with respect to these clinical trials, and such right expires upon all subjects completing the study treatment. The Company has
agreed to reimburse Daiichi Sankyo certain third-party expenses incurred while conducting such trials. On March 3, 2022, the
Company and Daiichi Sankyo entered into a Memorandum of Understanding, which provides that Daiichi Sankyo will
terminate its U105 study, and the Company will reimburse a total of $ 2.0 million to Daiichi Sankyo for expenses related to
such study in four installments of $ 0.5 million each until December 31, 2022 . As of December 31, 2022, the Company paid
total installments of $ 1.5 million and the remaining $ 0.5 million
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installment as of December 31, 2022 has been paid in full in the first quarter of 2023. Under the Daiichi Sankyo License
Agreement, the Company made other clinical trials payments of $ 0.1 million and $ 0.2 million for the years ended
December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

The Company is required to make aggregate future milestone payments of up to $ 223.5 million, contingent on the
attainment of certain development, regulatory and sales milestones. The $ 223.5 million aggregate future milestone payments
include a $ 2.0 million increase that was agreed upon in the Memorandum of Understanding with Daiichi Sankyo. On July 20,
2021, the Company announced that the first patient has been randomized in the multicenter, open-label, Phase 3
registrational trial (MANTRA) evaluating milademetan for the treatment of de-differentiated liposarcoma. Accordingly, pursuant
to the Daiichi Sankyo License Agreement, the Company recorded $ 5.5 million in milestone fees as research and
development expense in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss during the year ended December
31, 2021. Of the $ 5.5 million milestone fees, $ 2.5 million was paid in the third quarter of 2021 and $ 3.0 million was
accrued as part of accrued research and development in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2021. On June
29, 2022, the Company and Daiichi Sankyo entered into an amendment to the Daiichi Sankyo License Agreement. The
amendment reduced the $ 3.0 million milestone fee liability associated with the previously achieved milestone to $ 2.0 million
and accordingly reduced research and development expense on the consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive loss by $ 1.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. The amendment also extended the due date of
the milestone fee payment to June 30, 2023. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company incurred no milestone
research and development expense under the Daiichi Sankyo License Agreement.

Additionally, the Company is required to pay Daiichi Sankyo a high single digit royalty based on the annual net sales
of products containing milademetan as an active pharmaceutical ingredient (the Products), subject to reduction at an agreed
rate upon expiration of the licensed patent in the particular country where the Products are sold. To date, no royalty payments
have been made to Daiichi Sankyo under the Daiichi Sankyo License Agreement. The royalty obligation terminates on
a country-by-country and on a product-by-product basis on the later of: (i) loss of all market exclusivity for such Product in
such country, (ii) the last-to-expire patent that covers the Licensed Compound or the Product in such country and
(iii) twelve years from launch of the first Product sold by the Company in such country .

Unless sooner terminated or extended, the Daiichi Sankyo License Agreement will remain in full force and effect until
the Company, its affiliates and its sublicensees cease all development and commercial activity related to milademetan. Either
party may terminate the Daiichi Sankyo License Agreement for cause in the event of an uncured material breach (subject to a
90 -day cure period). However, the Company may only terminate the Daiichi Sankyo License Agreement with respect to the
countries affected by such uncured material breach. Daiichi Sankyo may also terminate the Daiichi Sankyo License
Agreement in the event of Rain’s bankruptcy or insolvency. Additionally, Daiichi Sankyo may terminate the Daiichi Sankyo
License Agreement immediately upon written notice if the Company, its affiliates or its sublicensors initiate or join any
challenge to the validity or enforceability of a licensed patent, subject to certain exclusions. Furthermore, the Company may
terminate the Daiichi Sankyo License Agreement in its entirety or on a country-by-country basis for bona fide material
concerns regarding the (i) lack of safety for human use arising from toxicity of the Licensed Compound or Product(s), (ii) lack
of efficacy of the Licensed Compound or Product(s) or (iii) adverse economic impact to the Company in connection with its
continued development of the Products, in each case, upon six months ’ prior written notice to Daiichi Sankyo. In addition, if
the Company is acquired by a third party that is developing and commercializing a competing compound and the acquiring
party decides not to discontinue the development or commercialization of such competing compound, such third party must
terminate the Daiichi Sankyo License Agreement within 30 days of such acquisition if it does not discontinue such
development or commercialization. Upon termination of the Daiichi Sankyo License Agreement by Daiichi Sankyo for the
Company'’s uncured material breach or by the Company for its bona fide material concerns regarding the safety, efficacy or
adverse economic impacts relating to the Licensed Compound or Products, or its development thereof, the Company is
required to, among other actions, if requested by Daiichi Sankyo (i) transfer to Daiichi Sankyo ongoing clinical trials, data,
reports, records and materials, (ii) grant to Daiichi Sankyo an exclusive, irrevocable, sublicensable, fully paid-up license under
any
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patents and know-how that are controlled and actually used by the Company at the time of termination in connection with the
Products to allow Daiichi Sankyo exploit the Licensed Compound or Products in countries that are affected by the termination,
(iii) grant to Daiichi Sankyo an exclusive, irrevocable, sublicensable, fully paid up license to use trademarks that are specific to
the Products and (iv) assign any applicable sublicenses.

Drexel License Agreement and Sponsored Research Agreement

On July 30, 2020, the Company entered into an intellectual property license agreement (the “Drexel License
Agreement”) with Drexel University (“Drexel”). Pursuant to the Drexel License Agreement, Drexel granted to the Company a
license to make and commercialize products related to RAD52 inhibitors for the treatment of cancer. The Company made
payments of $ 53,118 and $ 34,387 under the Drexel License Agreement for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021,
respectively.

In February 2023, the Company decided to discontinue further development of its preclinical program focused on
targeting RAD52 in the DNA damage repair pathway, and the Company notified Drexel of the termination of the Drexel
License Agreement pursuant to its terms to focus use of financial and personnel resources on the milademetan clinical
program.

Roche Clinical Supply Agreement

In December 2021, the Company entered into a clinical supply agreement with Roche for the supply of the anti-
Programmed Death Ligand-1 (PD-L1) monoclonal antibody, atezolizumab. Clinical trials are planned to evaluate milademetan,
in combination with atezolizumab for the treatment of patients in genetically selected populations. Under this agreement, Rain
is the sponsor of the anticipated clinical trials, and Roche will supply atezolizumab. The Company does not have any financial
commitments to Roche under this agreement.

Note 8 - Commitments and Contingencies
Leases

In September 2018, the Company entered into a noncancelable operating lease agreement for office space for its
corporate headquarters in Newark, California with an initial term of 5.25 years. The lease commenced in January 2019 and
ends March 2024 . Under the terms of the lease, the Company pays annual base rent, subject to an annual fixed percentage
increase of 2 % on March 1st of each year. The Company is obligated to pay for its share of direct expenses including
operating expense and taxes, which are considered variable lease costs and are expensed as incurred.

In March 2020, Governor Newsom issued State of California Executive Order No. N-33-20 instructing all individuals in
California to stay at home due to the COVID-19 pandemic. In connection with such order, the Company entered into an
amendment to the noncancelable operating lease agreement in June 2020. The amendment provided the Company rent relief
for three months in 2020. In consideration of the rent relief, the Company agreed to adjust the base rent annual
fixed percentage increase of 3 % on February 1st of each year and extend the lease until September 2024 . The amendment
was determined to be a lease modification that qualified as a change of accounting on the existing lease and not a separate
contract. Remeasurement of the right-of-use asset and operating lease liabilities at the date of modification did not result in a
material increase of the right-of-use asset and operating lease liabilities.

In October 2022, the Company entered into an amendment to its corporate headquarters lease agreement to expand
the leased premises by approximately 3,880 square feet. The lease commencement date for the expansion premises is
expected to be March 2023 and will expire in November 2024 concurrently with the existing lease. Total future lease payments
over the life of the lease are estimated to increase by approximately $ 0.3 million as a result of the amendment.
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The future minimum lease payments required under the operating lease are summarized as follows (in thousands):

As of December 31, 2022

2023 $ 171
2024 129
2025 —
Total minimum lease payments $ 300
Less: amount representing interest (23)
Present value of operating lease liabilities $ 277
Operating lease liabilities, current 164
Operating lease liabilities, non-current 113
Total operating lease liabilities $ 277
Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years) 1.7
Weighted-average incremental borrowing rate 10.0 %

In addition to what is included in the table above, the future minimum lease payments for the operating lease not yet
commenced are summarized as follows (in thousands):

As of December 31, 2022

2023 $ 144
2024 158
2025 —
Total minimum lease payments $ 302

The table below summarizes the Company'’s lease costs and cash payments in connection with operating lease
obligations (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Total operating lease expense $ 160 $ 160 $ 130
Operating cash flows used for operating lease $ 167 $ 162 $ 130

Contingencies

In the event the Company becomes subject to claims or suits arising in the ordinary course of business, the Company
would accrue a liability for such matters when it is probable that future expenditures will be made, and such expenditures can
be reasonably estimated.
Note 9 — Employee Benefits

The Company has a defined contribution 401(k) plan available to eligible employees. Under the terms of the plan,
employees may make voluntary contributions as a percent of compensation, limited to the maximum amount allowable under
federal tax regulations. The Company, at its discretion, may make certain contributions to the 401(k) plan. The Company
made matching contributions of $ 541,471 and $ 233,831 for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
Note 10 - Income Taxes

The Company recorded de minimis state income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021

primarily as a result of the Company maintaining a full valuation allowance against its loss

99




Table of Contents

from operations for tax purposes. The net losses for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 were generated solely in
the United States.

The provision for income taxes is comprised of the following (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021
Current:
State $ 3 $ 2
Provision for income taxes $ 3 $ 2

The provision for income taxes differs from the amount computed by applying the federal statutory income tax rate to
income before taxes as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021
Federal tax benefit at statutory rate $ (15901) $ (10,792)
State taxes (6,867) 604
Non-deductible expenses 539 490
R&D credits (4,807) (2,177)
Change in valuation allowance 31,449 11,870
Return-to-provision adjustment (4,341) —
Other (69) 7
Provision for income taxes $ 3 $ 2

The Company petitioned for a ruling with the California Franchise Tax Board to apply an alternate apportionment
method in California and the ruling was approved in November 2022. As a result of the ruling, the Company recorded a $ 3.4
million return-to-provision adjustment to true up the California net operating losses (NOL) deferred tax asset in the 2022
provision. The return to provision adjustment of the California NOL deferred tax asset is fully offset by a valuation allowance.

Deferred income taxes reflect the tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and

liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. The components of deferred income
tax assets and liabilities are as follows (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2022 2021
Deferred tax assets:
Accrued expenses and other $ 1,045 $ 407
Fixed assets 19 10
Intangibles 2,915 2,378
Net operating losses 29,151 16,993
R&D and Orphan Drug credits 8,384 2,615
Section 174 capitalization 11,509 —
Stock-based compensation 1,100 287
Lease liability 80 87
Other 18 2
Total deferred tax assets $ 54,221 $ 22,779
Valuation allowance (54,146) (22,698)
Total net deferred tax assets $ 7% 81
Deferred tax liabilities:
Right-of-use asset $ (75) (81)
Total deferred tax liabilities $ (75) $ (81)
Net deferred tax assets $ — $ —
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Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the Company’s ability to generate sufficient taxable income
within the carryforward period. In assessing the realizability of some portion or all of the deferred tax assets, the Company
evaluated both positive and negative evidence to determine if some or all of its deferred tax assets should be recognized.
Based on the available objective evidence, the Company has concluded it is not more likely than not that its deferred tax
assets will be realized.

Therefore, a valuation allowance in the amount of $ 54.1 million has been recorded for 2022 against the Company’s
deferred tax assets.

The net valuation allowance increased by $ 31.4 million and $ 11.9 million during the years ended December 31,
2022 and 2021, respectively.

The following table sets forth the Company’s federal and state net operating loss and R&D credits carryforwards as of
December 31, 2022 (in thousands):

Amount Expiration Years
Net operating losses, Federal—pre TCJA $ 159 2037
Net operating losses, Federal—post TCJA $ 84,927 N/A
Net operating losses, state $ 127,790 2031 - 2042
R&D and Orphan Drug credits, Federal $ 10,666 2039 - 2042
R&D credits, California $ 1,739 N/A

Utilization of the Company’s net operating loss and R&D credits may be subject to substantial limitations due to the
ownership changes limitations provided by the Internal Revenue Code and similar state provisions. Such annual limitation
could result in the expiration of the net operating loss before their utilization. Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue
Code (“IRC Sections 382 and 383") impose limitations on a corporation’s ability to utilize its net operating losses and credit
carryforwards if it experiences an “ownership change” as defined by IRC Sections 382 and 383. The Company has performed
an analysis under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code which subjects the amount of pre-change net operating losses
and certain other tax attributes that can be utilized to an annual limitation. Based on the analysis, ownership changes have
occurred in 2018 and 2021. There had been no additional ownership changes in 2022.

The Company is required to recognize in the financial statements the impact of a tax position, if that position is more
likely than not of being sustained on audit, based on the technical merits of the position.

The following table reflects changes in the gross unrecognized tax benefits (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021
Balance at beginning of year
1,442 402
$ $
Additions based on tax positions related to current year
2,167 1,040
Additions to tax position of prior years
432
Reductions to tax position of prior years (
19
) —
Balance at end of year
4,022 1,442
$ $

The Company recognizes interest and penalties as a component of income tax expense. There were no interest or
penalties recognized in the statements of operations and comprehensive loss. The total unrecognized tax benefits of $ 4.0
million and $ 1.4 million were recorded as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, which, if recognized currently, should
not impact the effective tax rate due to the Company maintaining a full valuation allowance. The Company expects the
unrecognized tax benefits will not change significantly within the next 12 months.

101




Table of Contents

The Company is subject to examination by the United States federal and state tax authorities for the tax years 2017
and later.

The Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 (“IRA") was signed into law on August 16, 2022. The bill was meant to address
the high inflation rate in the United States through various climate, energy, healthcare and other incentives. These incentives
are meant to be paid for by the tax provisions included in the IRA, such as a new 15 percent corporate minimum tax, a 1
percent new excise tax on stock buybacks, additional IRS funding to improve taxpayer compliance and other provisions. At this
time, none of the IRA tax provisions are expected to have a material impact to the Company’s tax provision. The Company will
continue to monitor updates to the Company’s business along with guidance issued with respect to the IRA to determine
whether any adjustments are needed to the Company’s tax provision in future periods.

Effective for tax years beginning on or after January 1, 2022, pursuant to the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017,
companies are required to capitalize and amortize Internal Revenue Code Section 174 research and experimental expenses
paid or incurred over 5 years for research and development performed in the United States and 15 years for research and
development performed outside of the United States. As a result of the Internal Revenue Code Section 174 research and
experimental expense capitalization, the Company recognized a deferred tax asset for the future tax benefit of the
amortization deductions with an offsetting increase in the valuation allowance on deferred tax assets.

Note 11 - Net Loss Per Share

The following tables summarize the computation of the basic and diluted net loss per share (in thousands, except
share and per share data):

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021
Numerator:
(
Net loss $ 75,724 $ (51,394)
)
Denominator:
Weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding, basic and
diluted 27,985,446 19,405,833
Weighted-average shares used to compute net loss per share, basic
and diluted 27,985,446 19,405,833
(
Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ 271 $ (2.65)
)

The following table sets forth the outstanding potentially dilutive securities that have been excluded in the calculation
of diluted net loss per share because their inclusion would be anti-dilutive:

As of December 31,

2022 2021
Stock options 2,593,761 1,734,696
8,945
Restricted stock units —
ESPP shares 43,757 85,031
Total 2,646,463 1,819,727
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Note 12 - Subsequent Events

In February 2023, a holder of non-voting common stock converted 500,000 shares of non-voting common stock into
an equal number of shares of common stock. As of February 28, 2023, there were 9,842,720 shares of non-voting common
stock outstanding.

In January and February 2023, the Company sold an aggregate of 32,000 shares of common stock in “at-the-market”
offerings pursuant to its sales agreement with Oppenheimer & Co. Inc. as sales agent, for net proceeds of $ 0.3 million, net of
commissions and offering expenses.

In February 2023, the Company decided to discontinue further development of its preclinical program focused on
targeting RAD52 in the DNA damage repair pathway, and the Company notified Drexel of the termination of the Drexel
License Agreement pursuant to its terms to focus use of financial and personnel resources on the milademetan clinical
program.
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Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE.

None.
Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.
Management’s Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of December 31, 2022, our management, with the participation and supervision of our principal executive officer
and our principal financial officer, evaluated our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-
15(e) under the Exchange Act). The term “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-

15(e) under the Exchange Act, means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms. Disclosure controls and
procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by
a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s
management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure. Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated,
can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily applies its judgment in
evaluating the cost benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Based on this evaluation, our principal executive
officer and our principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of

December 31, 2022 to provide reasonable assurance that information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or
submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in SEC
rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal
executive officer and our principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Rules 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act). Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed under the
supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and our principal financial
officer, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States.

As of December 31, 2022, our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting
using the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control-
Integrated Framework. Based on this assessment, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting
was effective as of December 31, 2022.

Attestation Report of the Registered Public Accounting Firm

As an emerging growth company, we are not required to provide an attestation report on our internal control over
financial reporting issued by the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f) under the Exchange Act) identified in management'’s evaluation pursuant to Rules 13a-15(d) or 15d-15(d) of the

Exchange Act that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2022, that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION.
None.
Item 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS.

Not applicable.
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PART Il
Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE.

The information required by this Item will be set forth in the Company’s definitive proxy statement to be filed with the
SEC in connection with the Company’s 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “2023 Proxy Statement”) within 120 days of
the end of the Company’s fiscal year ended December 31, 2022, including under the heading “Corporate Governance”, and is
incorporated herein by reference.

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all of our directors, officers and employees,
including our principal executive, principal financial and principal accounting officers, or persons performing similar functions.
Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is posted on our website located at www.rainoncology.com, under “Governance
Documents.” We intend to disclose on our website any amendments to, or waivers from, the code of business conduct and
ethics that are required to be disclosed pursuant to the disclosure requirements of Item 5.05 of Form 8-K within four
business days following the date of the amendment or waiver.

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

The information required by this ltem will be set forth in the Company’s 2023 Proxy Statement, including under the
headings “Executive Compensation” and “Corporate Governance”, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.

The information required by this Item will be set forth in the Company’s 2023 Proxy Statement, including under the
headings “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” and “Securities Authorized for Issuance Under
Equity Compensation Plans”, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE.

The information required by this Item will be set forth in the Company’s 2023 Proxy Statement, including under the
heading “Corporate Governance” and “Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions”, and is incorporated herein by
reference.

Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES.

The information required by this ltem will be set forth in the Company’s 2023 Proxy Statement, including under the
heading “Ratification of Independent Auditor Selection”, and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV
Item 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.
The following documents are filed as part of this report on Form 10-K:
(a) Financial Statements:

Reference is made to the Index to the registrant’s Financial Statements under Item 8 in Part Il of this
Form 10-K.

(b) Financial Statement Schedules:
Financial statement schedules have been omitted because the required information is not present or not
present in the amounts sufficient to require submission of the schedule or because the information is already
included in the financial statements or notes thereto.

(c) Exhibits:

The documents listed in the following Exhibit Index are incorporated by reference or are filed with this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.
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Exhibit
Number

Exhibit Index

Description of Exhibit

31

3.2

3.3

4.1

4.2

4.3

10.1+

10.2+

10.3+

10.4+

10.5+

10.6+

10.7+

10.8+

10.9+

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant (incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 27, 2021).

Certificate of Amendment of the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December
29, 2022).

Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.1 to the
Reqistrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 22, 2023).

Form of Common Stock Certificate of the Registrant (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.1 of the

Registrant’'s Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on April 9, 2021).

Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreement, dated September 2, 2020, by and among the Registrant

and certain of its stockholders (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.2 of the Reqistrant’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 filed on April 2, 2021).

Description of Securities (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.3 of the Registrant’'s Annual Report on Form

10-K for the Year Ended December 31, 2021).

Form of Indemnification Agreement for directors and executive officers (incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on April 2, 2021).

Amended and Restated 2018 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan and form of award agreement thereunder
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.2 of the Reqistrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on
April 2, 2021).

2021 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.3 of the Registrant’'s Amendment No. 2

to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on April 19, 2021).

2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.4 of the Registrant’s
Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on April 19, 2021).

Director Offer Letter, dated March 19, 2018, by and between the Registrant and Tran Nguyen (incorporated by
reference from Exhibit 10.5 of the Regqistrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on April 2, 2021).

Director Offer Letter, dated March 19, 2018, by and between the Reqistrant and Peter Radovich (incorporated
by reference from Exhibit 10.6 of the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on April 2, 2021).

Employment Agreement, dated September 10, 2020, by and between the Registrant and Avanish Vellanki
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.7 of the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on

April 2, 2021).

Employment Agreement, dated September 10, 2020, by and between the Registrant and Robert Doebele
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.8 of the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on
April 2, 2021).

Offer Letter, dated October 1, 2020, by and between the Registrant and Nelson Cabatuan (incorporated by
reference from Exhibit 10.9 of the Regqistrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on April 2, 2021).
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10.10+

10.11+

10.12+

10.13*+
10.14*+
10.15%+

10.16#

10.17

10.18

10.19*

10.20

10.21

21.1*
23.1*

31.1*

31.2*

32.1 (1)

101.INS*

101.SCH*

101.CAL*

Rain Therapeutics Inc. Executive Severance Plan and Form of Participation Agreement (incorporated by
reference from Exhibit 10.1 of the Regqistrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 17, 2021).

Form of Employee 2021 Equity Incentive Plan Grant Notice for Nonqualified Stock Options (incorporated by
reference from Exhibit 10.3 of the Regqistrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarterly Period ended
June 30, 2022).

Form of Director 2021 Equity Incentive Plan Grant Notice for Nonqualified Stock Options (incorporated by
reference from Exhibit 10.4 of the Regqistrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarterly Period ended
June 30, 2022).

First Amendment to Rain Oncology Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan.

First Amendment to Rain Oncology Inc. Amended and Restated 2018 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan.

First Amendment to Rain Oncology Inc. 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

License Agreement, dated September 2, 2020, between the Registrant and Daiichi Sankyo Company, Limited
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.10 of the Registrant’'s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on
April 2, 2021).

Amendment to License Agreement dated June 29, 2022, between the Registrant and Daiichi Sankyo Company
Limited (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.2 of the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the

Quarterly Period ended June 30, 2022).

Office Lease Agreement, dated September 25, 2018, between the Registrant and BSP Senita 8000 Jarvis
LLC, as amended (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.12 of the Registrant’s Reqistration Statement on
Form S-1 filed on April 2, 2021).

Second Amendment to Office Lease Agreement, dated October 4, 2022, between the Registrant and BSP
Senita 8000 Jarvis, LLC.

Exchange Agreement, dated April 17, 2021, by and among the Registrant and the stockholders listed therein
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.13 of the Registrant’'s Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement
on Form S-1 filed on April 19, 2021).

Sales Agreement, by and between the Registrant and Oppenheimer & Co. Inc., dated May 27, 2022
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 1.2 of the Registrant’'s Registration Statement on Form S-3 filed on
May 27, 2022).

List of subsidiaries.

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

Certification of the principal executive officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934.

Certification of the principal financial officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934.

Certification of the principal executive officer and principal financial officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
and Rule 13a-14(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Inline XBRL Instance Document — the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File
because XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001724979/000119312521248309/d214439dex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1724979/000155837022012194/rain-20220630xex10d3.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1724979/000155837022012194/rain-20220630xex10d4.htm
file:///tmp/T28580/e2e50609-86be-408c-b449-8164879276ee/rain-20221231xex10d13.htm
file:///tmp/T28580/e2e50609-86be-408c-b449-8164879276ee/rain-20221231xex10d14.htm
file:///tmp/T28580/e2e50609-86be-408c-b449-8164879276ee/rain-20221231xex10d15.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001724979/000119312521105078/d26404dex1010.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1724979/000155837022012194/rain-20220630xex10d2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001724979/000119312521105078/d26404dex1012.htm
file:///tmp/T28580/e2e50609-86be-408c-b449-8164879276ee/rain-20221231xex10d19.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001724979/000119312521120267/d26404dex1013.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1724979/000119312522162471/d262771dex12.htm
file:///tmp/T28580/e2e50609-86be-408c-b449-8164879276ee/rain-20221231xex21d1.htm
file:///tmp/T28580/e2e50609-86be-408c-b449-8164879276ee/rain-20221231xex23d1.htm
file:///tmp/T28580/e2e50609-86be-408c-b449-8164879276ee/rain-20221231xex31d1.htm
file:///tmp/T28580/e2e50609-86be-408c-b449-8164879276ee/rain-20221231xex31d2.htm
file:///tmp/T28580/e2e50609-86be-408c-b449-8164879276ee/rain-20221231xex32d1.htm
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101.DEF* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.

101.LAB* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

101.PRE* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document).

* Filed herewith.

+ Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.

# Portions of the exhibit have been omitted for confidentiality purposes.

(1) The certifications on Exhibit 32 hereto are deemed not “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act or
otherwise subject to the liability of that Section. Such certifications will not be deemed incorporated by reference into any
filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act.

Item 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY.

None.

110




Table of Contents

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the
Registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Company Name

Date: March 9, 2023 By: /s/ Avanish Vellanki

Avanish Vellanki
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)

Date: March 9, 2023 By: /s/ Nelson Cabatuan

Nelson Cabatuan
Senior Vice President of Finance and Operations
(principal financial and accounting officer)
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below hereby constitutes
and appoints Avanish Vellanki and Nelson Cabatuan, and each of them, the true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents of the
undersigned, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for and in the name, place and stead of the undersigned, to sign
in any and all capacities (including, without limitation, the capacities listed below), this Annual Report on Form 10-K, any and
all amendments thereto, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and all other documents in connection therewith, with
the Securities and Exchange Commission, and hereby grants to such attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full
power and authority to do and perform each and every act and anything necessary to be done to enable the registrant to
comply with the provisions of the Securities Exchange Act and all the requirements of the Securities and Exchange
Commission, as fully to all intents and purposes as the undersigned might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and
confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of them, or their or his or her substitute, or substitutes, may lawfully
do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Report has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name Title Date

/s! Avanish Vellanki Chief Executive Officer and Chairman March 9, 2023
Avanish Vellanki (orincipal executive officer)

/s/ Nelson Cabatuan Senior Vice President of Finance and Operations  March 9, 2023
Nelson Cabatuan (principal financial and accounting officer)

/sl Franklin M. Berger Director March 9, 2023

Franklin M. Berger

/s/ Aaron Davis Director March 9, 2023
Aaron Davis

/sl Gorjan Hrustanovic Director March 9, 2023
Gorjan Hrustanovic, Ph.D.

/sl Tran Nguyen Director March 9, 2023
Tran Nguyen

/s/ Peter Radovich Director March 9, 2023
Peter Radovich

/s/ Stefani Wolff Director March 9, 2023
Stefani Wolff
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Exhibit 10.13

FIRST AMENDMENT TO
RAIN THERAPEUTICS INC. 2021
EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

WHEREAS, Rain Oncology Inc. (f/k/a Rain Therapeutics Inc.), a Delaware corporation (the
“Company”) maintains the Rain Therapeutics Inc. 2021 Incentive Plan (the Plan”);

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 20 of the Planthe Board of Directors of the Company (the
“Board”) may amend the Plan;

WHEREAS, pursuant to a Certificate of Amendment to its Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation, the Company changed its name from “Rain Therapeutics Inc.” to “Rain
Oncology Inc.” effective December 30, 2022; and

WHEREAS, the Board desires to amend the Plan to incorporate the Company’s name
change.

NOW, THEREFORE, pursuant to its authority under Section 20 of the Plan, the Board
hereby amends the Plan as follows, effective as of December 30, 2022 (the “Amendment Effective
Date”):

1. The Plan shall hereby be referred to as the “Rain Oncology Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive
Plan.”

2. Section 2(l) of the Plan is hereby amended and restated in its entirety to read as
follows:

“(  “Company” means Rain Oncology Inc., a Delaware corporation,
and except as utilized in the definition of Change in Control, any successor
corporation.”

3. All references in the Plan and in any Award Agreements (as defined in the Plan) to “Rain
Therapeutics Inc.” shall instead refer to “Rain Oncology Inc.”

4. This First Amendment shall be interpreted and construed in accordance with the laws of the
State of Delaware and applicable federal law.

5. All capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning assigned
to them in the Plan. Except as expressly amended hereby, the Plan shall remain in full force
and effect in accordance with its terms.

[Signature Page Follows]




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this First Amendment to the Plan
as of the Amendment Effective Date.

RAIN ONCOLOGY INC.

By: /s/ Avanish Vellanki
Name: Avanish Vellanki
Title: Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 10.14

FIRST AMENDMENT TO
RAIN THERAPEUTICS INC. AMENDED AND RESTATED 2018
STOCK OPTION/ISTOCK ISSUANCE PLAN

WHEREAS, Rain Oncology Inc. (f/lk/a Rain Therapeutics Inc.), a Delaware corporation (the
“Company”) maintains the Rain Therapeutics Inc. Amended and Restated 2018 Stock Option/Stock
Issuance Plan (the “Plan”);

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section Il of Article Four of the Plan, the Board of Directors of the
Company (the “Board”) may amend the Plan;

WHEREAS, pursuant to a Certificate of Amendment to its Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation, the Company changed its name from “Rain Therapeutics Inc.” to “Rain
Oncology Inc.” effective December 30, 2022; and

WHEREAS, the Board desires to amend the Plan to incorporate the Company’s name
change.

NOW, THEREFORE, pursuant to its authority under Section Il of Article Four of the Plan,
the Board hereby amends the Plan as follows, effective as of December 30, 2022 (the
“Amendment Effective Date”):

1. The Plan shall hereby be referred to as the Rain Oncology Inc. Amended and Restated
2018 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan.”

2. Section F of the Appendix attached to the Plan is hereby amended and restated in its
entirety to read as follows:

“F. Corporation shall mean Rain Oncology Inc., a Delaware
corporation, and any successor corporation to all or substantially all of the
assets or voting stock of Rain Oncology Inc. which shall by appropriate action
adopt the Plan.”

3. All references in the Plan and in any award agreements issued thereunder to “Rain
Therapeutics Inc.” shall instead refer to “Rain Oncology Inc.”

4. This First Amendment shall be interpreted and construed in accordance with the laws of the
State of Delaware and applicable federal law.

5. All capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning assigned
to them in the Plan. Except as expressly amended hereby, the Plan shall remain in full force
and effect in accordance with its terms.

[Signature Page Follows]




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this First Amendment to the Plan
as of the Amendment Effective Date.

RAIN ONCOLOGY INC.

By: /s/ Avanish Vellanki
Name: Avanish Vellanki
Title: Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 10.15

FIRST AMENDMENT TO
RAIN THERAPEUTICS INC. 2021
EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN

WHEREAS, Rain Oncology Inc. (f/k/a Rain Therapeutics Inc.), a Delaware corporation (the
“Company”) maintains the Rain Therapeutics Inc. 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the
“Plan™);

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 19 of the Plan, the Board of Directors of the Company (the
“Board”) may amend the Plan;

WHEREAS, pursuant to a Certificate of Amendment to its Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation, the Company changed its name from “Rain Therapeutics Inc.” to “Rain
Oncology Inc.” effective December 30, 2022; and

WHEREAS, the Board desires to amend the Plan to incorporate the Company’s name
change.

NOW, THEREFORE, pursuant to its authority under Section 19 of the Plan, the Board
hereby amends the Plan as follows, effective as of December 30, 2022 (the “Amendment Effective
Date”):

1. The Plan shall hereby be referred to as the “Rain Oncology Inc. 2021 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan.”

2. Section 2(f) of the Plan is hereby amended and restated in its entirety to read as
follows:

“(fy “Company” means Rain Oncology Inc., a Delaware corporation,
and any successor corporation.”

3. All references in the Plan to “Rain Therapeutics Inc.” shall instead refer to “Rain Oncology
Inc.”
4. This First Amendment shall be interpreted and construed in accordance with the laws of the

State of Delaware and applicable federal law.

5. All capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning assigned
to them in the Plan. Except as expressly amended hereby, the Plan shall remain in full force
and effect in accordance with its terms.

[Signature Page Follows]




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this First Amendment to the Plan
as of the Amendment Effective Date.

RAIN ONCOLOGY INC.

By: /s/ Avanish Vellanki
Name: Avanish Vellanki
Title: Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 10.19

SECOND AMENDMENT TO OFFICE LEASE AGREEMENT

THIS SECOND AMENDMENT TO OFFICE LEASE AGREEMENT (this
“Amendment”) is made effective as of October 4, 2022 (the ‘Effective Date”), by and between
BSP SENITA 8000 JARVIS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (‘Landlord”), and RAIN
THERAPEUTICS INC., a Delaware corporation (‘“Tenant”).

RECITALS

A. Landlord (as successor-in-interest to 8000 Jarvis Avenue Equities LLC, a California
limited liability company) and Tenant are parties to that certain lease entitled “Office Lease
Agreement” dated September 25, 2018 (“Original Lease”), as amended by that certain First
Amendment to Office Lease Agreement dated as of June 3, 2020 (“First Amendment”, and,
together with the Original Lease, collectively and as amended, the “Lease”), pursuant to which
Tenant leases from Landlord the premises in the building located at 8000 Jarvis Avenue, Newark,
California (“Building”) consisting of approximately 3,857 rentable square feet located in the
Building and commonly referred to as Suite 204, as more particularly described in the Lease (the
“Original Premises”).

B. Landlord and Tenant desire to expand the Original Premises covered by the Lease to
include approximately 3,880 rentable square feet commonly known as Suite 200 in the Building
(the “Expansion Premises”), as more particularly described onExhibit A attached hereto.

C. Landlord and Tenant desire to amend the Lease to increase the area of the Original
Premises to include the Expansion Premises and to modify other provisions of the Lease, all as
more particularly set forth herein and subject to the terms hereof.

AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein, and for
other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby
acknowledged, Landlord and Tenant agree that the Lease is amended as follows:

1. Derinep Terms. Capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein shall have
the same meanings ascribed to them in the Lease. From and after the date hereof, unless the
context otherwise clearly requires, the use of the term “Lease” herein shall mean the Lease, as
amended by this Amendment.

2. Expansion oF THE ORIGINAL Premises. On the earlier of (i) January 1, 2023 and (ii) the
date the Expansion Premises are delivered to Tenant with the Tenant Improvements Substantially
Complete (as each such term is defined in the Work Letter attached hereto) (such earlier date, the
“Expansion Premises Commencement Date”), and continuing through September 30, 2024 (the
“Expiration Date”), Landlord shall lease to Tenant and Tenant shall lease from Landlord the
Expansion Premises on all of the terms and conditions of the Lease, as amended hereby. As of the
Expansion Premises Commencement Date all references in the Lease




or this Amendment to the “Premises” shall be deemed to include the Expansion Premises, and,
together with the Original Premises (collectively referred to herein as the “Premises”) shall consist
of a total of approximately 7,737 rentable square feet. The Expansion Premises Commencement
Date shall be confirmed in a notice (the “Notice of Terms”) which Notice of Terms shall be
prepared by Landlord and confirmed by Tenant within a reasonable time after the Expansion
Premises Commencement Date occurs. Notwithstanding anything set forth herein to the contrary,
this Amendment is entirely subject to and entirely contingent upon Nexient, LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company (“Nexient”) vacating, surrendering and releasing the Expansion Premises
to Landlord on September 30, 2022 (the expiration day as set forth in Nexient's lease). Any delay
due to Nexient's failure to deliver the Expansion Premises on or before September 30, 2022 shall
not subject Landlord to any liability nor shall the validity of this Amendment nor the obligations of
Tenant hereunder be affected, provided, however, the Expansion Premises Commencement Date
shall be delayed until such time as Nexient delivers the Expansion Premises as required
hereunder.

3. Term. The Term of the Lease for the Expansion Premises and the Expiration Date
shall be coterminous with that of the Original Premises.

4, Conbimion oF THE Expansion Premises Landlord shall have no obligation to construct
leasehold improvements for Tenant or to repair or refurbish any portion of the Original Premises or
the Expansion Premises, except (i) that the Expansion Premises shall be delivered to Tenant with
the roof, parking lots, HVAC, plumbing, electrical and related mechanical systems serving the
Expansion Premises in good working order and condition and (ii) as set forth in Section 7 below.
Neither Landlord nor its agents or representatives have made any representations or promises
with respect to the Property, the Building or the Premises, except as specifically set forth in the
Lease or this Amendment, and Tenant confirms that the Premises is suited for Tenant’s use and is
in good and satisfactory condition. Tenant confirms to Landlord that prior to executing this
Amendment it has made such investigations as it deems appropriate with respect to the suitability
of the Premises for its continued use and occupancy.

5. MoNTHLY PAYMENTS.

a. Monthly Base Rent. Prior to the Expansion Premises Commencement Date,
Tenant shall continue to pay Monthly Base Rent in accordance with Section 3 of the Original
Lease, as amended by Section 2 of the First Amendment. Effective as of the Expansion Premises
Commencement Date, in addition to all other charges payable pursuant to the Lease, Tenant shall
pay the following installments of Monthly Base Rent for the Premises, in accordance with the terms
of the Lease as follows:

Scheduled Dates Monthly Base Rent for Monthly Rental Rate
the Premises Per Square Foot
(rounded to 2 decimal
pts)

Expansion Premises Commencement

Date — January 31, 2023 $27,930.57 $3.61
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February 1, 2023 — September 30, 2024 $28,704.27 $3.71

b. Amortized Tenant Improvement Costs. Effective as of the Expansion
Premises Commencement Date, in addition to monthly Base Rent and all other charges payable
pursuant to the Lease, Tenant shall pay the following installments of the Amortized Tenant
Improvement Costs (as currently estimated to be) at the same time as monthly Base Rent, in
accordance with Section 3.3 of the Original Lease:

Scheduled Dates Monthly Amortized Tenant
Improvement Costs

Expansion Premises Commencement Date — January $7,126.31
31, 2023
February 1, 2023 — September 30, 2024 $7,126.31
6. AbppiTioNAL PROVISIONS.
a. Building: Due to a recent re-measurement in accordance with BOMA Office

Buildings Standard Methods of Measurement and Calculating Rentable Area (2010) — Method A,
the definition of Rentable Area of Building as set forth in the Basic Lease Information is hereby
deleted in its entirety and shall be replaced with the following:

“Rentable Area of the Building: Approximately 50,136 rentable square feet.”

b. Tenant's Share: As of the Expansion Premises Commencement Date, the
definition of Tenant's Share as set forth in the Basic Lease Information is hereby deleted in its
entirety and shall be replaced with the following:

“Tenant’s Share: 15.43% (7,737/50,136)"

C. Parking: Tenant shall continue to have the Parking Allocation of four (4)
unreserved parking spaces per 1,000 rentable square feet of Premises upon the Expansion
Premises Commencement Date at no cost during the Term of the Lease.

7. LANDLORD WOoRK; TENANT IMPROVEMENTS; AMORTIZED TENANT IMPROVEMENT CoSTs.

a. Landlord Work. Landlord, at Landlord’s sole cost, shall perform the following
in the Premises: (i) demolition of the two offices and conference room currently existing in the
Original Premises (noted in red on Exhibit A attached hereto, but only with respect to the Original
Premises), (i) associated repair of the grid, patching carpet, and other associated cleanup and (iii)
the balancing of the HVAC system serving the Original Premises and the Expansion Premises
(collectively, the “Landlord Work”).
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b. Tenant Improvements. Additionally, Landlord shall cause for the completion of
the Tenant Improvements to the Premises in accordance with the work letter attached hereto as
Exhibit B (the “Work Letter’). Tenant understands that the Landlord Work and the completion of
the Tenant Improvements will be performed during Tenant’s occupancy and use of the Original
Premises, and may result in inconvenience to Tenant (including noise, vibration and displacement
from portions of the Original Premises from time to time). Tenant will fully cooperate with
Landlord’s efforts to efficiently and expeditiously complete the Landlord Work and the Tenant
Improvements by, among other things, vacating portions of the Original Premises from time to time
to permit work to proceed and/or removing any personal property (such as computers, artwork and
other valuable or fragile personal property) from within the Original Premises that may be affected
by the completion of the Landlord Work and the Tenant Improvements. Landlord will make
reasonable efforts to minimize the inconvenience and disturbance caused by the Landlord Work
and the Tenant Improvements, but Landlord is not responsible for business interruption or damage
to Tenant's personal property which results from the completion of the Landlord Work and/or the
Tenant Improvements.

C. Amortized Tenant Improvement Costs. Landlord shall advance the amount of
the Amortized Tenant Improvement Costs (as defined in the Work Letter) for permitted
expenditures incurred in connection with Tenant Improvements. Tenant shall repay the Amortized
Tenant Improvement Costs until paid in full, in twenty-one (21) equal monthly installments over the
remaining Term of the Lease as set forth in Section 5(b) herein; provided, however, in the event (i)
the remaining Term following the Expansion Premises Commencement Date does not allow for the
repayment of the Amortized Tenant Improvement Costs in equal monthly payments as set forth in
Section 5(b), or (ii) the amount currently estimated to be the Amortized Tenant Improvement Costs
exceeds the amount of $149,652.44, the Notice of Terms shall set forth a modified monthly
Amortized Tenant Improvement Costs amount. Each payment shall be payable at the same time
and in the same manner that Base Rent is payable pursuant to the Lease. All payments received
shall be applied to principal reduction. The Amortized Tenant Improvement Costs may be prepaid
in full or in part at any time without premium or penalty. The repayment of the Amortized Tenant
Improvement Costs by Tenant to Landlord shall not constitute the payment of Rent but rather the
repayment of a loan; provided, however, that any default in the payment of any sums to be paid by
Tenant pursuant to this Section 7(c) shall, at the election of Landlord, constitute an Event of
Default under the Lease, and, in addition to giving rise to the right of acceleration set forth in the
next succeeding sentence, shall entitle Landlord to exercise any and all remedies available to
Landlord under the Lease, at law or in equity, for a monetary default under the Lease. The unpaid
principal balance of the Amortized Tenant Improvement Costs shall be immediately due and
payable at the option of Landlord upon any Event of Default under the Lease, or upon any default
in the payment of any installment of the Amortized Tenant Improvement Costs as and when due
hereunder. Any failure of Landlord to exercise such option to accelerate shall not constitute a
waiver of the right to exercise such option to accelerate at any future time.

8. TemporarRY Space. On and after the Effective Date Tenant shall be permitted to
occupy Suite 120 in the Building consisting of approximately 4,292 rentable square feet (the
“Temporary Space”), provided Tenant has provided certificates of insurance to Landlord

-4-




including the Temporary Space as required under Section 11.1 of the Original Lease. The
Temporary Space shall be made available to Tenant in its “AS IS” condition and Landlord shall
Section 7(c) have no obligation to construct leasehold improvements for Tenant or to repair or
refurbish the Temporary Space or perform any other work in the Temporary Space. Landlord
agrees that Tenant shall not be required to pay Base Rent for the Temporary Space, however
Tenant shall be obligated to pay Tenant's Share of Operating Costs and Taxes (estimated at $1.00
per month times the rentable square footage of the Temporary Space) for the Temporary Space
and any separately metered utilities. Provided, further, for any time periods following the expiration
of the Move-Out Period (as defined below), Tenant shall be additionally responsible to pay monthly
Base Rent for the Temporary Space, which rent shall be equal to $715.00 per day (the
“Temporary Space Rent”), for the period commencing upon the expiration of the Move-Out
Period and extending to the date Tenant vacates the Temporary Space in accordance with the
terms hereof. Excepting the payment of Base Rent for the Temporary Space (other than
Temporary Space Rent following the Move-Out Period, if applicable) all other terms and conditions
of this Lease shall apply to Tenant's use of the Temporary Space. Tenant shall surrender the
Temporary Space to Landlord in broom clean condition, free of all of Tenant’s personal property
and otherwise in substantially the same condition the Temporary Space was delivered to Tenant
no later than five (5) days after the date the Expansion Premises are Ready for Occupancy (such
5-day period, the “Move-Out Period”). Tenant's failure to surrender the Temporary Space
following the expiration of the Move-Out Period shall be an Event of Default under this Lease and
Landlord shall be entitled to all rights and remedies available at law or in equity with respect
thereto.

9. FurniTure. It is acknowledged that Nexient has agreed to leave the office furniture
and fixtures at the Premises listed on Exhibit C attached hereto (collectively, the ‘Furniture”).
Tenant acknowledges that Landlord makes no representations or warranty regarding the
ownership, existence or condition of any item of the Furniture and Tenant agrees to accept the
Furniture in its “AS IS” condition and, subject to the rights of any such unknown claimants, Tenant
shall be deemed to own the furniture as Tenant's personal property from and after the Effective
Date hereof. Upon the expiration or termination of the Lease, such Furniture (other than the
refrigerator and the dishwasher, which are fixtures) would be considered personal property and
subject to removal by Tenant in accordance with Section 19.1 of the Original Lease. During the
time the Tenant Improvements are being completed, the Furniture shall be stored in the
Conference Room of the Expansion Premises, where no Tenant Improvements are planned.

10.  Securmy Deposit. Landlord currently holds a Security Deposit in the amount of
$75,000.00 (the “Original Security Deposit’) pursuant to the terms of Section 4 of the Original
Lease. In connection with this Amendment Landlord requires that the Original Security Deposit be
increased to the amount of $109,939.79 (the “Security Deposit”). Upon the execution of this
Amendment Tenant shall pay to Landlord the amount of $34,939.79. Thereafter, the definition of
Security Deposit as set forth in the Basic Lease Information is hereby deleted in its entirety and
shall be replaced with the following:

“Security Deposit: $109,939.79”
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11. Brokers. Tenant represents and warrants to Landlord that it has not engaged any
broker, finder or other person who would be entitled to any commission or fees in respect of the
negotiation, execution or delivery of this Amendment, other than CBRE, and shall indemnify,
defend and hold harmless Landlord against any loss, cost, liability or expense incurred by Landlord
as a result of any claim asserted by any such broker, finder or other person on the basis of any
arrangements or agreements made or alleged to have been made by or on behalf of Tenant. The
provisions of this section shall not apply to brokers with whom Landlord has an express written
broker agreement.

12.  Seeciric RepresentaTions By Tenant. Tenant represents and warrants to Landlord
that, as of the date hereof: (i) Tenant is not in breach or default of any of its obligations under the
Lease, and no events have occurred which with the passage of time and/or the giving of notice
would constitute a breach or default by Tenant under the Lease; (ii) to Tenant's knowledge,
Landlord is not in breach or default of any of its obligations under the Lease, and no events have
occurred which with the passage of time and/or the giving of notice would constitute a breach or
default by Landlord under the Lease; (iii) the Lease is in full force and effect and constitutes the
only agreement between Landlord and Tenant regarding the leasing of the Premises; (iv) other
than as specifically set forth in this Amendment, Tenant is not entitled to any credits, offsets,
concessions or abatements under the Lease, or otherwise against the payment of rent or other
charges under the Lease; (v) Tenant is not a party to any bankruptcy or similar proceeding; and
(vi) Tenant holds the entire interest of the “Tenant” under the Lease, and has not assigned or
sublet any interest therein.

13.  AccessiBiLity. To Landlord’s actual knowledge, the property being leased or rented
pursuant to this Amendment has not undergone inspection by a Certified Access Specialist
(CASp). A CASp can inspect the Premises and determine whether the Premises comply with all of
the applicable construction-related accessibility standards under State law. Although State law
does not require a CASp inspection of the Premises, the Landlord may not prohibit Tenant from
obtaining a CASp inspection of the Premises for the occupancy or potential occupancy of Tenant,
if requested by Tenant. The parties shall mutually agree on the arrangements for the time and
manner of a CASp inspection requested by Tenant, the payment of the fee for such a Tenant
requested CASp inspection, and the cost of making any repairs necessary to correct violations of
construction-related accessibility standards within the Premises. This Section 13 is included in this
Lease solely for the purpose of complying with California Civil Code Section 1938 and shall not in
any manner affect Landlord’'s and Tenant's respective responsibilities for compliance with
construction-related accessibility standards as provided under the Lease.

14. Continuing EFrecTiveness.  The Lease, except as amended hereby, remains un-
amended, and, as amended hereby, remains in full force and effect.

15. Enmire Acreement. This Amendment embodies the entire understanding between
Landlord and Tenant with respect to its subject matter and can be changed only by an instrument
in writing signed by Landlord and Tenant.

16.  CorproraTE AND PARTNERSHIP AuTHoRITY. If Tenant is a corporation or partnership, or is
comprised of either or both of them, each individual executing this Amendment
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for the corporation or partnership represents that he or she is duly authorized to execute and
deliver this Amendment for the corporation or partnership and that this Amendment is binding upon
the corporation or partnership in accordance with its terms.

17.  ATtrorneys’ FEes. The provisions of the Lease respecting attorneys’ fees shall apply
to this Amendment or, if the Lease does not contain an attorney’s fees clause, then if legal action
shall be commenced to enforce or declare the effect of any provision of this Amendment or of the
Lease, the court as a part of its judgment shall award reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs to the
prevailing party.

18. Execution By BotH ParTmies. Submission of this instrument for examination or
signature by Tenant does not constitute a reservation of or option to lease, and it is not effective as
an amendment to lease or otherwise until execution by and delivery to both Landlord and Tenant,
and execution and delivery hereof.

19. ELectronic SieNATURES. This Amendment may be executed in counterparts, each of
which shall constitute an original, and all of which, together, shall constitute one document. Each
party hereto, and their respective successors and assigns shall be authorized to rely upon the
signatures of all of the parties hereto on this Amendment which are delivered by facsimile,
telecopier or electronic mail transmission (including pdf or any electronic signature complying with
the U.S. federal ESIGN Act of 2000, e.g., www.docusign.com) as constituting a duly authorized,
irrevocable, actual, current delivery of this Amendment with original ink signatures of each person
and entity.

(SIGNATURES ON NEXT PAGE)
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Amendment as of the date
first above written.

LANDLORD:

BSP SENITA 8000 JARVIS, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company

By: BSP Senita Realty Investors, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company the Sole Member

By: BSP Senita Manager, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company its Manager

By: /s/ Mark S. Oddo
Name: Mark S. Oddo
Title: Vice President

TENANT:

RAIN THERAPEUTICS INC.,
a Delaware corporation

By: [s/ Avanish Vellanki
Name:Avanish Vellanki
Title: CEO

Approved: /s/ Nelson Cabatuan
Nelson Cabatuan, SVP




Exhibit 21.1
Subsidiaries of Rain Oncology Inc.

1. Rain Oncology Australia Pty Ltd, an Australian Private Company




Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:
1) Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-265297) of Rain Oncology Inc.,

2) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-255548) pertaining to the Rain Oncology Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan, the
Rain Oncology Inc. 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, and the Rain Oncology Inc. Amended and Restated 2018 Stock
Option/Stock Issuance Plan of Rain Oncology Inc., and

3) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-264753) pertaining to the Rain Oncology Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan and
the Rain Oncology Inc. 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan of Rain Oncology Inc.;

of our report dated March 9, 2023, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Rain Oncology Inc. included in this
Annual Report (Form 10-K) of Rain Oncology Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2022.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

San Diego, California
March 9, 2023




Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Avanish Vellanki, certify that:

1.

2.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Rain Oncology Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 9, 2023 By: /s/ Avanish Vellanki

Avanish Vellanki
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Nelson Cabatuan, certify that:

1.

2.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Rain Oncology Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 9, 2023 By: /s/ Nelson Cabatuan

Nelson Cabatuan
Senior Vice President of Finance and Operations
(principal financial and accounting officer)




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Rain Oncology Inc. (the “Company”) for the year ended December
31, 2022 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), each of the undersigned officers
of the Company hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
that to the best of his knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act, and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

Date: March 9, 2023 By: /s/ Avanish Vellanki
Avanish Vellanki

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)

Date: March 9, 2023 By: /s/ Nelson Cabatuan
Nelson Cabatuan

Senior Vice President of Finance and Operations
(principal financial and accounting officer)

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely to accompany the Report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, and is not
being filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and is not to be incorporated by reference into any
filing of the Company, whether made before or after the date hereof, regardless of any general incorporation language in such
filing.

Note: A signed original of this written statement required by § 906 has been provided to Rain Oncology Inc. and will be
retained by Rain Oncology Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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